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          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: If I could ask

          3  the Honorable Ed Koch to come forward, and the

          4  Honorable Herman Badillo to also come forward? We

          5  are also going to be joined by Frank Macchiarola,

          6  the President of St. Francis College and former New

          7  York City Chancellor.

          8                 We will begin very, very shortly.

          9                 Good afternoon. My name, again, is

         10  Eva Moskowitz, and I'm the Chair of the Education

         11  Committee. I am joined by Council Member John Liu

         12  from Queens, and Helen Foster will be with us

         13  shortly and we're expecting obviously a number of

         14  other members. There are several Committee meetings

         15  going on simultaneously, so Council members,

         16  unfortunately, will be in and out.

         17                 This topic has, today we're here to

         18  consider the Chancellor's Proposed Policy on Social

         19  Promotion. This has engendered a very vigorous

         20  debate among New Yorkers and parents and advocates

         21  in particular. It's a complicated issue and I think

         22  we have a full array of witnesses here to testify

         23  and we will also have a public comment period. We

         24  specifically arranged this hearing in the afternoon,

         25  which I know may not be as good, quite as good for
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          2  the media, but it is important for parents to be

          3  able to weigh in. They have not had a full

          4  opportunity to do so, and we wanted to make sure to

          5  have an evening hearing so that they could do so.

          6                 As I indicated, this is a very

          7  complicated issue, and I think even among my

          8  colleagues we have divergent views. We have in fact

          9  two resolutions before the Committee, one authored

         10  by Margarita Lopez and one authored by myself. It's

         11  a topic that both engenders diversity of opinion

         12  when it comes to ideology as well as the specific

         13  implementation.

         14                 My own personal view is that I do not

         15  have a problem with the notion of having achievement

         16  oriented standards as a former teacher and a mother

         17  of a public school child, I want to know that my

         18  child, that there are standards that my child is

         19  being educated to meet. I think that's important.

         20                 We clearly have a problem in the City

         21  of New York, particularly in the later grades, where

         22  we have kids who are reading far, far below grade

         23  level. I can also tell you as a teacher that it is

         24  challenging, particularly with large class size, and

         25  I know we're going to hear from advocates today on

                                                            6

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  that issue, to teach kids with an incredible range

          3  of skill level, and that adds to the already

          4  challenging nature of the job.

          5                 But having said that, I think there

          6  are a variety of ways that one could deal with the

          7  problems that we face in the City of New York, and I

          8  have some real concerns about the way the

          9  Administration and the Chancellor have proposed to

         10  implement. And I think it's important that we

         11  emphasize the word propose, because the Panel of

         12  Educational Policy has not yet voted on this policy.

         13  It's my understanding that on March 15th there will

         14  be a vote and the school governance legislation, as

         15  I read it, requires the PEP to vote on this policy.

         16                 I'm very concerned about the timing

         17  of the enforcement. Right now it's third grade. Why

         18  should it be at the third grade level? Why not

         19  earlier? Where does Universal Pre-K fit into this

         20  whole discussion? Educators across this country have

         21  said, and as the mother of two young children, I

         22  certainly know firsthand the value of early

         23  childhood education, where is that?

         24                 I'm also a big proponent of a concept

         25  called Kindergarten Plus, which is where kids get an
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          2  extra year of kindergarten, before, in the

          3  pre-reading phase, if you will, because some kids,

          4  either because they have not received early

          5  childhood education, or because they are kids who,

          6  quote, don't learn to read naturally. The National

          7  Institute of Health has estimated that anywhere

          8  between 20 and 40 percent of our children fall into

          9  that category, and they may need additional

         10  assistance.

         11                 So, there are a whole range of

         12  questions. My hope is that at this hearing we will

         13  hear from a variety of people, from a variety of

         14  perspectives, and able to have a lively discussion

         15  about the merits of this particular proposed plan

         16  and other ways that potentially we could go about

         17  what I think most agree is a very real problem where

         18  we have kids not performing at grade level, how does

         19  the City of New York handle that.

         20                 I'm very honored and pleased that we

         21  have the former Mayor of the City of New York,

         22  honorable Ed Koch. I appreciate you making time in

         23  your busy schedule.

         24                 We also have Herman Badillo, not only

         25  a former US Congressman, but someone who has thought
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          2  long and hard about the issue of social promotion

          3  and has been constant and outspoken on the need of

          4  the City of New York to reform its ways on this

          5  particular issue, as well as Frank Macchiarola,

          6  President of St. Francis College, as well as the

          7  former Chancellor. We are incredibly appreciative. I

          8  know some of you cancelled and changed and

          9  reoriented your schedules to be here, but I think

         10  you have valuable insight to provide and we are most

         11  grateful.

         12                 I think that we were going to start

         13  with Mr. Herman Badillo, and then go to Mr. Mayor.

         14  Thank you very much.

         15                 And the light has to be off for the

         16  microphone to be on. It's a little

         17  counter-intuitive.

         18                 MR. BADILLO: Thank you, Chairwoman

         19  Moskowitz, for the opportunity to testify before

         20  you.

         21                 I don't have a formal statement, but

         22  I'd like to submit an op-ed piece that Mayor Koch

         23  and I published in the New York Sun on January 28th,

         24  which covers a number of the points that we're going

         25  to make today.
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          2                 As you have indicated, I have long

          3  been opposed to social promotion. When I came here

          4  from Puerto Rico, when I was about 12 years old, I

          5  came from a society where if you do your work, you

          6  pass, if you don't, you're left back. And we believe

          7  in standards and we believe in discipline, and I've

          8  always taken that point of view throughout my public

          9  career. When I became Deputy Mayor with Mayor Koch

         10  in 1978, I moved to abolish social promotion because

         11  I thought it was a great disservice to our children,

         12  and then together we brought in Chancellor Frank

         13  Macchiarola, who successfully implemented the

         14  educational Gates Program, and I am distressed that

         15  subsequently that program was abolished because I do

         16  not think that we help our young people if we don't

         17  have standards, and all you have to do is look at

         18  today's New York Post, where they point out, for

         19  example, that students promoted by grade, in grade 1

         20  95.4, grade two 92.4, grade three 94.1, grade four

         21  97.7, grade five 97.4, grade six 97.0, grade seven

         22  96.1, grade eight 95.3, and yet, below that they say

         23  students in grade three to eight passing the English

         24  exam 2001 39 percent, 2002 39.3, 2003 42 percent,

         25  and yet, 96, 97 percent of the children are
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          2  promoted. That is a great disservice. You then have

          3  to look at the article in the New York Times last

          4  Saturday, February 28th, which points out that

          5  nearly half of black men in the City of New York are

          6  jobless, and 65 percent of the Hispanic men are able

          7  to find a job, but 35 percent are not, and the

          8  result of promoting people who are not learning in

          9  English and math automatically is that they drop

         10  out.

         11                 You know, I support the decision in

         12  the Campaign for Fiscal Equity, which I know that

         13  you read, but it's not my words, it's the words of

         14  the judge used after a three-year trial. He pointed

         15  out that in New York City today over 40 percent of

         16  the young people, and they're overwhelmingly black

         17  and Latino, do not drop out of high school, and they

         18  drop out primarily in the ninth and tenth grade,

         19  because they are promoted automatically, even if

         20  they're not learning, when they get to the ninth or

         21  tenth grade, they're 17 years old, then they no

         22  longer have to stay in school and so they drop out.

         23                 You lose them, we lost generations of

         24  people in that way. That's 40 percent. The same

         25  decision points out that 48 percent get a useless
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          2  high school diploma, because the diploma that they

          3  get has no value. It doesn't mean at all that

          4  they're able to read and write English or do math or

          5  anything else.

          6                 Only 12 percent get a regents

          7  diploma, which is a real diploma, and therefore, for

          8  practical purposes, we lose 88 percent of our young

          9  people under this structure. And, you know, there's

         10  a fear, people are afraid of saying you've got to

         11  uphold standards, and you remember when I tried to

         12  eliminate open enrollment at the City University,

         13  which I did, there were many people who were afraid,

         14  and I was attacked and it was sad that 45 percent of

         15  the blocks and 50 percent of the Latinos would not

         16  be able to get into the City University. And this

         17  was supposedly substantiated by documentary

         18  information and data.

         19                 Baloney, it turned out, when the

         20  standards brought them out, that now we have more

         21  young blacks and Latinos going to the City

         22  University, and they are meeting the standards, so

         23  we need not be afraid that our students are not able

         24  to meet standards. We're able to meet standards in

         25  Puerto Rico, we're able to meet standards all over
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          2  Latin America, I don't think we get dumber when we

          3  take a plane or a boat to come to New York City. I

          4  am confident that we can meet standards here, and

          5  when I was Deputy Mayor, I met with parents and I

          6  talked to the parents and overwhelmingly they

          7  supported the program and I'm sure that the same

          8  thing is done now, they will be the same support,

          9  and that we will have the same success in the K to

         10  12 system that we are now having at the City

         11  University.

         12                 I'd like to end my testimony now, but

         13  I'll be available to answer any questions when my

         14  colleagues get through.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you, Mr.

         16  Badillo.

         17                 Mr. Mayor, thank you.

         18                 MAYOR KOCH: Thank you very much,

         19  Madam Chairman, for inviting us.

         20                 I'm not an expert on education, I

         21  don't pretend to be, but when I ran for office, when

         22  Herman ran at the same time, the two of us agreed

         23  just intuitively there's something wrong with

         24  advancing children who cannot read, who cannot

         25  write, who cannot do math, and who ultimately won't
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          2  get jobs.

          3                 In a society such as ours, a child

          4  has to be proficient in those basic skills. The

          5  numbers that are not are shocking. And what the

          6  Chancellor proposes to do is to deal not with all of

          7  them but with those at the very bottom, level one I

          8  guess it's called.

          9                 And I know that when Frank

         10  Macchiarola, the Chancellor in my first

         11  administration, went to work on the issue, and

         12  imposed the program referred to as the Gates Program

         13  in the fourth and seventh grades, my recollection is

         14  that everybody said it was terrific. Now people

         15  apparently say it failed. Tell me how it failed? I

         16  leave Frank to defend the programs, but I don't

         17  think you'll have a problem with respect to that. I

         18  don't think the programs failed.

         19                 Now, it is true that you have to deal

         20  with a feeling on the part of parents it's an attack

         21  on their child, that somehow or other there is some

         22  shame involved, and you have to deal with that, and

         23  you have to convince the parents and do the job that

         24  is required here. There's no shame involved.

         25                 We're going to take your child, and
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          2  we're going to teach your child to be at grade level

          3  in the basic skills so that your child can get a

          4  job.

          5                 Now, you can't make a phony promise

          6  that you're going to do that without providing the

          7  resources.

          8                 I looked at the testimony of the UFT.

          9  I spoke with Randi today, and while I know she's not

         10  here because she has another commitment, there will

         11  be a representative, and I asked her to send me the

         12  testimony, and she was very gracious, and she did.

         13                 I mean, it's terrific testimony. I

         14  think it talks about a way to help a child, and with

         15  all the things that you can do, there will be some

         16  at the end of that particular period, when we would

         17  call it "held back," that they can advance to the

         18  grade that they would normally be in, having

         19  accomplished the goals. Because as their testimony

         20  said, and I hope that they don't get angry that I

         21  referred to it in advance, I thought it's brilliant

         22  testimony, that a child may be deficient in one

         23  aspect, reading or in math, but not in all aspects

         24  of being at grade level. So, you try to bring that

         25  child up to grade level where they have failed and
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          2  if you're successful, then to advance them to the

          3  grade that they would normally be in requires extra

          4  resources. Nothing comes cheap these days.

          5                 But I believe that it's far more

          6  expensive to have that child advanced, either

          7  dropping out or being unable to get a job should

          8  they be socially promoted through the entire

          9  schedule of elementary and high school.

         10                 And, so, while I understand the

         11  fears, they should be dealt with, and where there is

         12  a legitimate fear, find the remedy.

         13                 Now, I'll close on this. (A) the

         14  Chancellor has to be supported. We have fought a

         15  battle here over the years. I'm open to say I failed

         16  to accomplish what Mayor Bloomberg did accomplish.

         17  Hats off to him as it relates to control of the

         18  educational system. But he can't, he having made

         19  that accomplishment, can't say to him now, we don't

         20  want you through your Chancellor. He doesn't pretend

         21  to be an educator, he's a very educated man. You

         22  can't say to him and his Chancellor, we don't want

         23  you to make these decisions, you've got to give them

         24  the opportunity.

         25                 Now, he says he's going to be judged.
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          2  I mean, this is a very brave man. I don't know if

          3  I'd want to be judged on this single program of

          4  education, as important as it is, but he has said

          5  that. Give him the chance, give him the opportunity

          6  to prove that he can do it.

          7                 Last thing and I'll cease. Because

          8  from my point of view, and I know Herman is not

          9  going to be upset, the most important guy at this

         10  table is Frank Macchiarola, because he did it. He

         11  did it. He ended the social promotion, and I believe

         12  it was a God-send to the City and it was an enormous

         13  setback when a subsequent Chancellor ended the

         14  program.

         15                 But I want to end on this note: It

         16  breaks your heart to read almost day-after-day of

         17  the acrimony in our school system, particularly

         18  between UFT and the Chancellor. It is dumb. Dumb,

         19  dumb, dumb not to have a situation where teachers

         20  and the Chancellor, outside of collective

         21  bargaining, leave that to another area and to

         22  others. But to sit down, I said, for example, to the

         23  Chancellor, why don't you ask the UFT to put up or

         24  shut up and to take over a Charter school, and show

         25  us what they can do.
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          2                 He said to me, that's a good idea.

          3  Okay, I called up, actually she called me. She

          4  called me today, I had written to Randi, and I had

          5  written saying why don't you take over some Charter

          6  schools, I proposed five, one in each borough. Show

          7  us what you can do. Maybe what you'll do is so good

          8  the school system will adopt it.

          9                 Well, she called me today and she

         10  said we want to, we only want to take one. That's

         11  all we think we can do at this particular moment.

         12  That's fine.

         13                 She said we proposed doing that, I,

         14  Randi, I asked for a Charter school and they didn't

         15  give it to me.

         16                 So, there's something, there's a

         17  disconnect here, and I'm proposing now that these

         18  two very gifted people, the Chancellor, Joel Klein,

         19  Randi, President of the UFT, with a third person,

         20  someone that they both trust, as a conciliator,

         21  mediator, not arbitrator, to sit down and try to

         22  bring them together, to come up with a program that

         23  they both can advance.

         24                 That's it.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I thank you
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          2  very, very much. And I know that my colleagues will

          3  have questions and responses.

          4                 MAYOR KOCH: Sure.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ:  Before

          6  Chancellor Macchiarola, or former Chancellor

          7  Macchiarola, you speak, let me just introduce

          8  colleagues that have joined us.

          9                 Council Member Robert Jackson, from

         10  Manhattan and Council Member Al Vann from Brooklyn,

         11  Council Member Helen Foster from the Bronx, Council

         12  Member Domenic Recchia, and I thought I saw

         13  Margarita. She stepped out. Okay, she is the author

         14  of the resolution, so after we hear testimony of the

         15  first panel, I want to make sure to give her an

         16  opportunity to speak briefly on her resolution.

         17                 Thank you, Frank Macchiarola, for

         18  joining us, and I should say that we reversed the

         19  traditional order. Usually we hear from the

         20  Department of Education first, but because of

         21  scheduling of our three witnesses here, this was the

         22  most, the best way to proceed.

         23                 So, thank you. I know you had to

         24  alter your schedule somewhat and we really

         25  appreciate you being here.
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          2                 The light has to be off for the mic

          3  to be on.

          4                 MR. MACCHIAROLA: Thank you very much,

          5  Council Member Moskowitz. It's an honor to be here

          6  and a pleasure to be, an honor and pleasure to be

          7  with my colleagues from the Koch Administration,

          8  both of whom I had real distinct pleasure and an

          9  honor to work with.

         10                 For more than 20 years the New York

         11  City school system, as a system, has operated

         12  without effectively dealing with the problem of

         13  failing students.

         14                 The last serious effort to deal with

         15  failure on a systemwide basis occurred during my

         16  administration as Chancellor under Mayor Koch.

         17                 With the help of educators both

         18  within and without the system, we decided to gather

         19  data on the extent of the problem of student

         20  failure, and to come up with successful programs

         21  that work.

         22                 The first systemwide analysis of high

         23  school dropouts confirmed the data in place at the

         24  time actually masked the problem of how endemic

         25  failure was and how it extended through the system.
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          2                 It confirmed the suspicion that I

          3  have long had, that school system data are

          4  unreliable. Perhaps as unreliable as the Books of

          5  Parmelat.

          6                 Our analysis also suggested that

          7  success was in large part determined by what

          8  happened in early grades, in school and even in

          9  preschool.

         10                 The first efforts then were made to

         11  address the problem of student failure by reforming

         12  early childhood programs.

         13                 There were limited funds available.

         14  We were in the last stages of the fiscal crisis, but

         15  Mayor Koch provided funding for pre-kindergarten

         16  classes, reduced class sizes in the primary grades,

         17  and special transitional classes with more

         18  individual attention and focus on the basics.

         19                 The districts chose where they wanted

         20  to put the allocation that was given to them, and we

         21  as a system tried to determine what worked best.

         22  There was a great deal of discussion among

         23  legislators about the merits of the different

         24  approaches, and this engagement allowed us to refine

         25  our thinking on how to attack the problem in a more
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          2  systemwide way.

          3                 We had the mandate from the Mayor, as

          4  Mayor Koch and Deputy Mayor Badillo indicated, we

          5  now needed to know how to do it. More than the

          6  mandate, how do you get this thing implemented?

          7                 At the time Ronald Edmund, a Harvard

          8  Educator, with district experience in Michigan, came

          9  to the Administration as our Chief Educational

         10  Officer. He undertook to determine what programmatic

         11  steps we should take in dealing with the issue of

         12  failure.

         13                 This built on the path-breaking work

         14  he did in identifying the five correlates of school

         15  effectiveness.  In effect, he built this program to

         16  overcome the failure on the foundation on the basis

         17  of what worked. It took more than two years of

         18  study, consultation, deliberations, to come up with

         19  what we felt would work. We knew from the outset

         20  that it had to be a serious effort and had to

         21  withstand the criticism of people not used to

         22  facing, let alone solving, the problem of failure.

         23                 The environment among the education

         24  elites at the time, did not favor testing,

         25  standards, concentration on basic skills or things
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          2  that we now consider necessary if we are going to

          3  solve the problems of failure.

          4                 The elements of our program were

          5  simple: Find out through testing who was in serious

          6  enough trouble to fail without intervention.

          7                 2. Find a program that had shown

          8  positive results for children like these.

          9                 3. Enforce the standards rigorously

         10  and across the board.

         11                 4. Support the teachers in programs

         12  who are in fact engaged in team effort by training

         13  and constant interface; and

         14                 5. Work on an individualized basis

         15  with students until basic skills were attained.

         16                 No one would be pushed ahead who

         17  could not do the work. Today the language is levels

         18  of mastery, more sophisticated language than we had.

         19                 It is easier to push students forward

         20  and to forget them, than it is to keep the students,

         21  their failures, their shortcomings, their

         22  difficulties, up front and center.

         23                 We did what was not politically

         24  expedient, and we took heat. The problem, indeed our

         25  whole Administration, however, had three basic
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          2  underlying principles:

          3                 Number one, all children can learn.

          4                 Number two, all children are equal;

          5  and

          6                 Number three, the job of the school

          7  system is to promote learning and equality.

          8                 In plain English, they are all our

          9  children, and we will not give up on any of them.

         10                 The fact that there were numbers who

         11  failed twice only meant that we knew who needed

         12  help. We did not bury the statistics. We did not

         13  bury the children. We called our approach, as the

         14  Mayor indicated, the Gates Program. But it was

         15  really about obtaining real achievements.

         16                 For some it happened simply because

         17  we laid out that standard. What is missed in the

         18  dialogue are the numbers of youngsters, who because

         19  there was a standard met it.

         20                 At my college we have a requirement,

         21  if you have an academic scholarship, you have to get

         22  a 3.0. If you don't get that, you lose your

         23  scholarship.

         24                 I can tell you, there are plenty of

         25  youngsters who are attaining excellence in their

                                                            24

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  education because they were told. I was one of

          3  those. I had that type scholarship, and when I

          4  discovered I needed a 3.0, I became a much more

          5  serious student.

          6                 Others have needed the help. Now,

          7  some critics have said it failed, but what killed

          8  the Gates Program was the weakness of the

          9  Chancellors who failed to follow the course, who

         10  refused to take heat for the students who were

         11  struggling. It was much easier to ignore the problem

         12  than to face it. It's easier to focus on attractive

         13  programs, rather than on failing students.

         14                 Ignore the problem, and hope that it

         15  goes away. And that's what was done. The loudest

         16  voices are not the voices representing the children

         17  who are being failed. The loudest voices are the

         18  voices of those who are inconvenienced because

         19  somehow they have to take an afternoon test. And let

         20  me tell you, the test may be less important for them

         21  than it is for those youngsters who need to achieve.

         22                 Now, the kids, I tell my student,

         23  look, I have a student body that is largely a

         24  minority student body. I tell those kids, the world

         25  is not waiting for you. Don't think it's waiting for
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          2  you. You got to storm the gate by achieving, by

          3  doing the job.

          4                 It was seen as a failure because

          5  Chancellors took the money and did not stay

          6  committed to it. They came to City Hall and they

          7  told the Mayor they had a Gates program. They didn't

          8  have a superintendent for the Gates program. They

          9  had a slush fund, and they took the money and spent

         10  it the way they wanted to. Did not target those kids

         11  most in need, they targeted kids with the squeaky

         12  wheels. That's what happened in this town, and

         13  that's what happened with Chancellors who -- you

         14  know, there's a reason, I'm going to be -- there is

         15  a reason I have a reputation that's lasted 25 years,

         16  and members of the City Council were here when I

         17  came to the City Council and told them what I was

         18  going to do, I lived up to every commitment that I

         19  told them I was going to do. There was no

         20  doubletalk, there was no fakery, and there was

         21  commitment, and we fought for those kids who are the

         22  least favored, whether they were in special ed or

         23  whether they were youngsters who were being

         24  discriminated against because of zoning rules. My

         25  house was picketed, I stood up for kids. I know the
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          2  cost that my family and I had to bear to do it. I

          3  know it's tough. That's what has to be done if

          4  you're in public life and you really care about the

          5  kids.

          6                 It died on the day I left. Now, we

          7  have since had many gimmicks, but no real progress

          8  in stemming student failure. The scandal of failure

          9  was ignored by the professionals, but not by the

         10  parents and the public. It was this failure and

         11  incompetence extending to the highest levels that

         12  led to one of the most important political issues in

         13  the last Mayoral campaign. It led to a stunning

         14  victory for Mayor Bloomberg, in freeing the school

         15  system from the lockjaw of special interests that

         16  characterized the old Board of Education.

         17                 Today Mayor Bloomberg and Chancellor

         18  Klein have made school system failure the major

         19  issue of this Administration as Mayor Koch just

         20  said. They have chosen to focus on many of the

         21  things that we tried two decades ago. There are

         22  differences around the edges between the Gates

         23  program and their effort, but the basic thrust of

         24  the program and the desire for student success is

         25  the same.
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          2                 These efforts deserve our support

          3  because they are the best hope for freeing the

          4  students of New York City from the cycle of failure

          5  that they are presently in.

          6                 I understand that programs to simply

          7  end social promotions have failed, but this is

          8  because in most school systems, they are little more

          9  than porridge warmed, that's the same porridge

         10  warmed over. Repeat the grade, sometimes go to

         11  summer school, and little else. As such, the dismal

         12  results are no surprise. The simple alternative,

         13  pass them on, is a tragedy, and it's a strategy for

         14  failure.

         15                 What is needed is a focus on

         16  curriculum, quality teaching, close feedback between

         17  assessment and instruction, engagement beyond the

         18  classroom and careful and continuous monitoring, and

         19  this translates into early identification, targeting

         20  of grades before three, pre-kindergarten, preschool

         21  and early childhood, intensive support during grade

         22  three, services beyond the typical school day, and a

         23  post-free program for those who do not meet the

         24  standard.

         25                 Of course, real achievement will
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          2  merit promotion, but not until the standards have

          3  been met.

          4                 These things require the support of

          5  all New Yorkers, if we are going to do more than

          6  complain about our schools. I hope that the public

          7  will support the investment of time and resources

          8  that will mark this program. I hope we will not fail

          9  the children, because the road is a difficult one.

         10  And I salute the efforts by the Mayor and the

         11  Chancellor, I salute the advocacy by our former

         12  Mayor and former Deputy Mayor, to give our children

         13  what they deserve, a chance at a successful future

         14  through a good education.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you

         17  very, very much. If we could ask you for a copy of

         18  your testimony, if we can make sure the

         19  Sergeant-At-Arms copies that so we can include that

         20  in the record, that would be helpful.

         21                 Before we go to questions and

         22  comments, and I just want to say we are on a very

         23  tight schedule, and I see that the Chancellor is

         24  here, we're going to actually run over somewhat,

         25  because I think people have real questions that we
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          2  would like to ask you, but we're going to have to

          3  move along at a tight clip. I wanted to make sure --

          4  first, we've been joined by Council Member Koppell,

          5  and Council Member Perkins.

          6                 Margarita, I think you were out of

          7  the room, but I wanted to make sure that you had a

          8  chance to speak, because you had been at the

          9  forefront of this issue, and in fact, proposed the

         10  resolution, and there are two resolutions on every

         11  Education Committee members' desk and Council

         12  members should have copies of it.

         13                 And I assume that you would want to

         14  say a few words, so welcome, and thank you for all

         15  your work on this topic.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Council Member

         17  Eva Moskowitz, I want to thank you for holding this

         18  hearing today, because I think it's the first real

         19  notification to the parents of the City of New York

         20  that this policy is imminent and it would be imposed

         21  on them when they didn't even know that this was

         22  happening.

         23                 I want to clarify that the resolution

         24  that I have put in place is against social

         25  promotion, because this resolution is about a
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          2  high-stakes exam impairing children from being able

          3  to be educated. It's not about social promotion

          4  being applauded.

          5                 Clarifying that, I thank you for

          6  having this meeting today, and this hearing to

          7  notify the parents that at this moment the Board of

          8  Education is getting ready to impose a policy that

          9  was never discussed, notified or publicized to the

         10  parents of the City of all New York.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you,

         12  Council Member Lopez.

         13                 I want to start with a few questions,

         14  and I'll direct more specifically to Mr. Frank

         15  Macchiarola, and then I have some others. You used

         16  the language, and I wanted to emphasize, you used

         17  the language a lot "student failure," and, you know,

         18  from a general perspective I suppose that's what it

         19  is when a child reaches only level one, but, of

         20  course, it's entirely possible that it is, the lack

         21  of achievement is attributable to the lack of

         22  preparation of the teacher, or lack of parental

         23  involvement, or any number of things, you know, lack

         24  of early childhood education, and I guess I wanted

         25  to understand your perspective on that. In other
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          2  words, if the child is left back and has the same

          3  ill-prepared teacher, and the same conditions of

          4  poverty where there were no books in the home, and

          5  all of the attendant problems, how is that going to

          6  affect the outcome?

          7                 I'm sorry, the light has to be off.

          8                 MR. MACCHIAROLA: You're raising a few

          9  questions and they're all intermingled.

         10                 I mean, there is a myth that says

         11  that certain kinds of parents pay less attention to

         12  their kids than others. It's the reason why we have

         13  a lunch program that's available to the poor and not

         14  available to the middle class, and presumed that

         15  poor kids aren't taken care of and middle class kids

         16  are. Any principal will tell you, there are a lot of

         17  middle class kids that come to school hungry without

         18  lunch because their parents didn't take care of

         19  them.

         20                 So, the assumption we make that the

         21  home is not -- that somehow the home itself depends

         22  on your social class or other things, I think that's

         23  not necessarily correct. But there are problems that

         24  affect kids, and those problems are problems that

         25  are in the home, problems that are in the classroom
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          2  in the school. There's nothing worse than a kid

          3  feeling when he or she doesn't come to school, that

          4  the teacher is happy that the student didn't show

          5  up, because the student has already been labeled as

          6  a trouble-maker. There are many reasons.

          7                 The point I would make is, that I

          8  don't blame children. All I'm saying is the

          9  condition that that student is in requires some kind

         10  of help.

         11                 The Gates program that I instituted

         12  was a program that had a focus on those youngsters -

         13  understood them, programs that were taught, the

         14  programs that we used were programs that worked. We

         15  went through every school district in the City to

         16  get their -- they told us what programs they thought

         17  worked with youngsters, what the reading programs

         18  were, what type of reading program was, the quality

         19  of the instruction, the focus of the instruction.

         20  So, more attention was given to those youngsters.

         21                 I used the word "failure," not

         22  because the student was to blame, I used the word

         23  "failure" to indicate that the achievement level of

         24  that student was not where it had to be if that

         25  child was going to succeed on in school. After all,
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          2  we're moving the kids through the school system.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Let me try to

          4  ask the question differently. Perhaps it was a

          5  question of nomenclature.

          6                 Is it important to understand why the

          7  child failed in order to remedy?

          8                 MR. MACCHIAROLA: Absolutely.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And what if

         10  part of the problem is the lack of teacher

         11  preparedness, where does that fit in in the

         12  anti-social promotion policy?

         13                 MR. MACCHIAROLA: Well, you know there

         14  is a problem with our ability to attract qualified

         15  teachers. You know the number of certified teachers

         16  we have in the system, and you also know sometimes

         17  there are teachers who are certified that aren't

         18  doing their job, capable of doing their job.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: But should

         20  there be a component of the new policy to address

         21  very specifically the facts that we have teachers

         22  who are not adequately prepared to teach children to

         23  read?

         24                 MR. MACCHIAROLA: I think you're

         25  mixing apples and oranges. I think that's a
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          2  distraction. The problem you have is kids are not

          3  making it. What are we going to do to take care of

          4  those kids?

          5                 In fact, in the Gates Program, the

          6  best teachers in the system, volunteers, we took

          7  volunteers to this program, and they ended up

          8  spending more time, more effort, more energy, and if

          9  you talked to people who knew these teachers in the

         10  Gates Program, they will tell you how committed they

         11  were. Teacher training, and we didn't pay session

         12  rates, we paid the training rate, and there was a

         13  big battle we had over that, but we won that battle.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Just to

         15  clarify, you don't have a problem with an

         16  anti-social promotion policy that is not dealing

         17  with the issue of teacher preparedness?

         18                 MR. MACCHIAROLA: No. I think the

         19  issue of teacher preparedness affects all of the

         20  children in the school system. You're now asking me

         21  what about children who are failing, or who are not

         22  meeting the standard, and I am telling you that

         23  strategy is directed to those kids.

         24                 If you think that the way to solve it

         25  is to ask the question of are all teachers prepared,
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          2  you'll never solve it.

          3                 You have a person who is sick, person

          4  is in the hospital, person is not well, you want to

          5  know how many doctors do we have in the City of New

          6  York who aren't licensed to practice medicine who

          7  are practicing medicine substandardly; what

          8  difference does that make, you've got a sick person

          9  here.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: As a parent it

         11  makes an awful lot of difference to me. If my child

         12  is going to be held back, and I'm not going to have

         13  someone who is more, better trained than the teacher

         14  I had the first time, it makes an awful lot of

         15  difference to me, and I don't see --

         16                 MR. MACCHIAROLA: Well, that's a

         17  different question.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: -- In this

         19  particular implementation of the social promotion

         20  policy an emphasis on teacher preparedness, I think

         21  it's very easy for us to fall into the trap that it

         22  is student failure when some portion of the problem

         23  is in fact nothing to do with the child, has to do

         24  with the level of the quality of the education they

         25  are receiving, and that concerns me. I'm not arguing
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          2  about moving the kid ahead or holding him back. I

          3  understand what you're saying and you all three I

          4  think make a persuasive argument.

          5                 MR. MACCHIAROLA: Well, if you think

          6  that the problem is that the teacher is not

          7  prepared, the real problem is the person that puts

          8  the unprepared teacher in that classroom. Teachers

          9  just don't show up for work. So, if someone is in

         10  charge of a program, and that program doesn't have

         11  properly prepared teachers, the last person to blame

         12  is the teacher.

         13                 I mean, unfortunately, that's what

         14  happens. We blame the person lower on. I mean, the

         15  kids get blamed, the teachers get blamed, the

         16  principals get blamed, the supervisors get blamed,

         17  all the way up the line.

         18                 If you're serious about the program,

         19  and you're running it, you'll put good teachers in

         20  there, you'll put permitted teachers in there. And

         21  if you don't, then you're not serious about the

         22  program.

         23                 MR. BADILLO: Excuse me. The problem

         24  of teacher preparedness is something that should be

         25  addressed. And I can tell you that I addressed that
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          2  at the City University, because when I became a

          3  chairman, I found we were graduating teachers who

          4  were not performing. In fact, I got rid of a college

          5  president because I asked her how do you justify

          6  giving degrees and education to teachers who cannot

          7  pass the teacher's exam in English? And she said,

          8  well, they're good teachers, but they're not good

          9  test takers. And I said that answer is unacceptable.

         10                 We have to prepare the teachers, and

         11  the City University prepares more teachers than any

         12  other institution for the New York City system. So,

         13  we are now addressing that problem at the City

         14  University, and I'm sure the Chancellor and the

         15  principals will make sure that the teachers are

         16  prepared, because you can't have standards if the

         17  teachers themselves are not up to standard.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Let me ask one

         19  other question and then I want to turn it over to my

         20  colleagues, because I know others have questions.

         21  And I don't know if, Mr. Badillo, or Mr. Mayor,

         22  you're comfortable answering this, but I'm curious,

         23  kind of flipping the question around from whether

         24  social promotion, leaving aside the question of

         25  social promotion at large, why stop at level one?
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          2  Why not, is level two adequate?

          3                 MAYOR KOCH: I think the answer is

          4  very simple. If you had the resources and you had

          5  the experience, you would cover everybody. But if

          6  you don't have the resources and you don't have

          7  sufficient experience, you do as much as you can do.

          8                 What good does it do to create a

          9  program that you cannot carry out in a way that will

         10  do the job, but you can say but we have everybody in

         11  it?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: But we are

         13  then accepting failure of level two students.

         14                 MAYOR KOCH: Sure. And maybe next

         15  year, when there is a dramatic change, hopefully

         16  that there would be, there will be a demand that we

         17  cover everybody and find the resources to do it. But

         18  you cannot, you cannot bite off more than you can

         19  chew, using an old aphorism.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Well, I

         21  appreciate your honesty, because in the

         22  Administration's announcement, I mean if that's the

         23  rationale, if it's not an educational rationale, it

         24  would be helpful to understand that it's not that

         25  people are accepting level two ad adequate, it's
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          2  simply a question of resources, and my colleague

          3  Robert Jackson has been fighting the resource

          4  question for more years than most of us, and we want

          5  to help the Chancellor and the Mayor, but it would

          6  be nice if we understood that that's the issue,

          7  rather than level two is acceptable and so forth, so

          8  that's helpful.

          9                 Let me turn to my colleagues, because

         10  I think we're on a short time frame. Council Member

         11  Liu and then Council Member Jackson.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Thank you, Madam

         13  Chair. I have a question for, or a couple of

         14  questions for a distinguished former Chancellor.

         15                 Actually, all three of you seem proud

         16  of the program that you enacted in the late

         17  seventies and early eighties. What was the criteria

         18  for determining whether a student was failing, and

         19  therefore not deserving a promotion to the next

         20  grade?

         21                 MR. MACCHIAROLA: The basic standard

         22  was a Citywide test that was administered under the

         23  supervision of an assistant superintendent in charge

         24  of the promotional Gates.

         25                 We took an assistant superintendent
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          2  who had been addressing the problem of social

          3  promotion successfully in his district, the

          4  superintendent of school district 13 in Brooklyn.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: So, it was one

          6  exam that was administered to everybody?

          7                 MR. MACCHIAROLA: It was a Citywide

          8  examination, and what it required was that if any

          9  student failing that exam, not performing adequately

         10  on the exam, was recommended for promotion on the

         11  basis of difficulty with the exam on some day, you

         12  know, you're testing tens of thousands of students,

         13  you're going to run up against situations which

         14  weren't contemplated, then an appeal process would

         15  occur and that superintendent would oversee either

         16  the administration of an alternative test, or decide

         17  that, no, the test was adequately done.

         18                 The issue was -- you know, the issue

         19  is not to punish and not to have youngsters fall off

         20  a cliff. The issue was to determine whether or not

         21  that youngster was capable of doing the work going

         22  forward.

         23                 And, so, there may be circumstances.

         24  My understanding is in the Chancellor's proposals,

         25  there will also be some kind of a mechanism. But I
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          2  think you're right, that the test cannot just be

          3  simply administered blindly without some

          4  understanding of the circumstances under which that

          5  test was given.

          6                 The other thing that occurred was

          7  that the students were also able to be retested, and

          8  that retesting could take place at the next grade.

          9  In other words, the third grade, the middle of the

         10  third grade, and if those students had performed

         11  satisfactory, there were a number of students, not

         12  many, but there were a number, a good number, but in

         13  terms of City numbers who were promoted.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: When you first

         15  implemented the policy, was there a huge percentage

         16  of students that was being held back?

         17                 MR. MACCHIAROLA: No, the policy in

         18  the City had been one of -- we have a strange

         19  policy, in those days we had things like SP, two

         20  year SP. Some of you may remember those. We went

         21  through that. So they rushed everybody ahead two

         22  years, they took a year off your education, and you

         23  all celebrated that, thought that was really great,

         24  that was nifty. Today parents who had their children

         25  born in December, the last thing they want their
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          2  child to do is to be promoted into the appropriate

          3  grade, they'd rather hold the child back because

          4  we've come to understand other things of our child

          5  development and the like.

          6                 So, these things tend to run in

          7  cycles.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: I don't mean to

          9  be rude, Madam Chair --

         10                 MR. MACCHIAROLA: Go ahead.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: -- Because I do

         12  have a few questions, and I don't want to take up

         13  too much time here, if I could ask for shorter

         14  answers, that would be helpful to me, to really

         15  understand that policy that we're discussing today.

         16                 MR. MACCHIAROLA: Okay.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: When your policy

         18  was first implemented, did we all of a sudden see

         19  ten percent of the kids being left back, was it 20

         20  percent or was it only five percent?

         21                 Roughly. It doesn't have to be exact.

         22                 MR. MACCHIAROLA: I can't tell you the

         23  numbers that were held back, I don't know those

         24  numbers, I can't tell you what those numbers are.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Because based on
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          2  the statistics that we've heard so far, we're

          3  looking at 95 percent of the students being

          4  promoted, while only 40 to 50 percent of them are

          5  meeting grade level. So, if we implement this policy

          6  immediately, does that mean that half of the kids

          7  are going to get left back next year? And so that's

          8  why I asked you, when you implemented the policy

          9  back in the late seventies, did we see close to 50

         10  percent of the students being left back that year?

         11  What's going to happen this coming year?

         12                 MR. MACCHIAROLA: No, you didn't see

         13  50 percent of the students being left back.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: So, was it five

         15  percent, ten percent?

         16                 MR. MACCHIAROLA: It was less than

         17  that. I can't remember the exact --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: About ten

         19  percent.

         20                 MR. MACCHIAROLA: Does anyone know the

         21  answer to that one?

         22                 Some number like that, ten percent.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: But it was a

         24  program that you said was extremely successful.

         25                 MR. MACCHIAROLA: Yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: So, how are you

          3  gauging that success?

          4                 MR. MACCHIAROLA: By the achievement

          5  levels those students had, by the fact that at that

          6  time, if you go back and look at the total success

          7  of students, the Citywide reading scores went above

          8  the national norm during the period of time when

          9  these Gates were in place.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Was it because

         11  you had a different group of students taking the

         12  exam?

         13                 MR. MACCHIAROLA: You have a few

         14  minutes to ask questions, you shouldn't ask

         15  questions that you know I can't answer or wouldn't

         16  answer unless I was being argumentative.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: No, I was simply

         18  --

         19                 MR. MACCHIAROLA: Of course there

         20  weren't different students, the fact of the matter

         21  is that when you're serious about what you're doing,

         22  people rise to the occasion. If testing matters,

         23  then people will pay attention to tests, and we

         24  created a situation in which testing mattered. We

         25  created a situation in which tests were presented to
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          2  parents for the first time. Most test results were

          3  held by educators. The test that we developed was a

          4  test that was diagnostic as well, and so each parent

          5  got a test, all grades. This is what your student is

          6  doing properly, this is what your student is doing

          7  properly, and this is the diagnosis that we

          8  recommend.

          9                 What the reading program should be,

         10  where there is difficulty, come and speak to us

         11  about it. The focus on testing, the seriousness

         12  about testing, created an environment in which

         13  people took it seriously.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Thank you, Madam

         15  Chair.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Council Member

         17  Jackson.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you,

         19  Madam Chair.

         20                 Good afternoon, and let me just say

         21  to all three of you that I am proud of all three of

         22  you for what you have done for our great City and

         23  I'm glad that you're here in order to hear testimony

         24  on this particular matter.

         25                 And when the policy first came out, I
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          2  heard on the news, I was saying I support that

          3  policy, we cannot continue to promote children that

          4  cannot read. Clearly we can't do that. We know the

          5  results of it. All you have to do is look at a lot

          6  of our teenagers and young adults that are

          7  incarcerated and a lot of other negative things and

          8  what have you, and education is clearly a key to

          9  success, in my opinion.

         10                 But then I listen to some teachers

         11  and other people testifying at a Citywide policy

         12  panel meeting in opposition to the proposed policy

         13  and I subsequently attended C. Virginia Fields'

         14  hearing that she held and I listened to parents and

         15  educators and academic people testifying. And I'm

         16  torn. While I truly believe that we cannot continue

         17  to promote children that cannot, you know, read, and

         18  thus will not, in my opinion, graduate from high

         19  school with the basics of reading, writing and being

         20  able to hold competitive employment, I do not

         21  believe this should be just based on one exam, and

         22  so I'm sort of -- and believe me, I'm not trying to

         23  play to any media or any parent group, this is where

         24  I'm coming from.

         25                 And I said this to the Chancellor
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          2  yesterday when we had a briefing in the Education

          3  Committee and some Council members, do you know of

          4  any other people in the academic arena that supports

          5  the position of supporting the program that the

          6  Chancellor is trying to move forward, and before you

          7  answer, I do understand that the Mayor has basically

          8  staked his reelection on how he's going to do with

          9  education, and as someone that wants to ensure, not

         10  necessarily his success, and if he succeeds, listen,

         11  I applaud the success in education, but I do know

         12  that if you argue and fight tooth and nail about

         13  every little thing, and if it fails in the long-run,

         14  the 1.1 million school children lose out, we're

         15  adults, we're already educated.

         16                 So, I just wanted to say that. I'm

         17  curious to know whether or not you know any other

         18  experts in the field that support the Mayor's policy

         19  that he's proposing?

         20                 MR. BADILLO: When social promotion

         21  has been eliminated in Chicago, for example, and Mr.

         22  Valles, who was the Chancellor of Chicago, and now

         23  is I believe in Philadelphia.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Philadelphia.

         25                 MR. BADILLO: Has information on that.
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          2  It's been abolished in a number of other cities and

          3  states, so it's not a new idea that we're talking

          4  about here, and you can get information from Mr.

          5  Valles and some other experts in different parts of

          6  the country.

          7                 MAYOR KOCH: Intuitively, as I'm not

          8  an expert, if a child can't read, do you advance him

          9  to the next level where the requirement is that he

         10  read even better, or have the comprehension

         11  increased? How can that happen?

         12                 I mean, if you can't do it at the

         13  lower level, how could he do it at the next level?

         14  And then you put that child in a classroom with

         15  children who can read at the level. The teacher must

         16  devote, I mean if he or she is doing their job and

         17  has a soul, and say I've got to devote even more

         18  attention to this child, depriving the children in

         19  the classroom who are at grade level of all of the

         20  efforts of that teacher.

         21                 She, he is now split in where they

         22  have to go, teaching at a lower level because of

         23  that child who can't understand. It's not the

         24  child's fault.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Yes, and I
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          2  hear you, Mayor Koch, but I'm just sort of like,

          3  based on one exam --

          4                 MR. BADILLO: Well, I don't want to

          5  take over Chancellor Klein's answer, but the fact

          6  is, it's not based on one exam. He has one appeal.

          7  He has an additional appeal under which if the child

          8  is going to be left back, the teacher and the

          9  principal can evaluate that child and then they can

         10  promote them even then. And the second step is, the

         11  child can take summer session and take a second exam

         12  at the end of August and then if he passes that,

         13  he'll be promoted.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: But the

         15  policy is based on one exam. There's an appeal

         16  process, and you and I know that the majority of

         17  people overall, when there's an appeal process, do

         18  not exercise their right for an appeal.

         19                 But all I'm saying is that I guess

         20  ideally, ideally, if it was just based on more than

         21  the one exam; so, for example, if a child performed

         22  at level 1 and the team, the team approach, the team

         23  met and said this child should not be promoted, then

         24  it's based on more than just the exam, it's based on

         25  an evaluation of that teacher and the Assistant
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          2  Principal or the people involved.

          3                 MR. BADILLO: That's what the appeal

          4  process is.

          5                 MAYOR KOCH: When you say an

          6  evaluation of that teacher --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Of the

          8  student. Not the student. Not an evaluation of the

          9  teacher. An evaluation by the teacher --

         10                 MAYOR KOCH: You meant of the student.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I'm sorry,

         12  yes.

         13                 But I'm curious as to any comment

         14  that you may have, Dr. Macchiarola, with respect to

         15  any other experts in the field?

         16                 MR. MACCHIAROLA: Well, there is

         17  enough, as Deputy Mayor has indicated, there are

         18  enough school systems that have been fed up with

         19  what's been going on in public education, enhanced

         20  standards, whether it's San Francisco that has also

         21  done it, whether it's Chicago, Philadelphia now. The

         22  issue, though, of one exam, I'm wondering whether

         23  when a student passes an exam and the student

         24  shouldn't have passed the exam, when the mistake was

         25  in the other direction, whether the student has
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          2  benefitted by being promoted. That's to say, we're

          3  taking the position that a student that's being held

          4  back or in a promotional Gates program, is somehow

          5  being punished rather than being helped.

          6                 If the student is now in a class of

          7  15 and if it becomes obvious that that student is

          8  capable of doing the work that that one exam didn't,

          9  then that will be addressed by sensitive, caring

         10  educators.

         11                 You see, I think we don't like

         12  certain things, but that's the reality. I have so

         13  many people that tell me, gee, I was lucky to help

         14  my son get into this law school, but he just doesn't

         15  test well, okay? Or he's not getting into the law

         16  school, he doesn't test well. And he's not getting

         17  into Bronxville High School of Science, and he's not

         18  getting into Tech and he's not getting into

         19  Stuyvesant if he doesn't test well or she doesn't

         20  test well. So, we do rely on tests. It's a very

         21  important part of our lives, and all of a sudden for

         22  the third grader, to raise the hellabaloo that this

         23  kid is now going to be so totally disadvantaged

         24  because of the test, we're failing more kids, as

         25  Councilwoman Moskowitz said, we're not talking about
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          2  the rocket scientist who is being failed, we're

          3  talking about level one and level two. Level two

          4  could benefit from a hold-back program, too. Level

          5  two students who aren't achieving.

          6                 You have to believe in what it is

          7  that's being done for the kids. If what you believe

          8  is that this is good for the student, as I do

          9  believe it is, then that test isn't the obstacle.

         10  But if you believe that someone how the system is

         11  punitive, and somehow we're enforcing a whole set of

         12  constraints on people, then you can jump up and down

         13  about the test, then it becomes quite important. To

         14  me it's not. To me, for my child I'm not. I'm not

         15  about to go running up if my child doesn't do well

         16  as one point above to argue about that. The problem

         17  is deeper than the test. The problem that kid has is

         18  a far more significant problem. If you reduced this

         19  question to one test or to one grade, then you're

         20  missing the boat on what has to be done.

         21                 There is a reason that we are losing

         22  our competitive advantage as a country. There is a

         23  reason that in the department of the highest level

         24  of work in this country, the science jobs, the

         25  technology jobs, are being done by foreigners in
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          2  this country. It's not that we're outsourcing to

          3  India, the Indians are here, and the Indians are

          4  here because their educational program is far

          5  superior to ours.

          6                 So, you're talking about a system in

          7  enormous decline, and been that way for a long time,

          8  and if you're going to turn it around, it's not

          9  because you're going to argue around one little

         10  test, it's going to be because you're going to say

         11  our kids are being shortchanged, we owe them more

         12  than we've ever given them, we've got to get behind

         13  it and get it done, and let me tell you, we've got

         14  some people here who aren't bound.

         15                 The Mayor was right, if we got more

         16  people who cared about these kids, to start talking

         17  to one another, I think we'd be a lot better off,

         18  and that includes bringing the parents into the

         19  dialogue.

         20                 I can't defend how things are done in

         21  an administration I'm not part of. I like the

         22  program, I like what they like to do, I'd like them

         23  to be more cooperative, in terms of who they deal

         24  with, all of those would be wonderful things, but it

         25  shouldn't go down. It shouldn't go down because of
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          2  the little technicality, and I say little in terms

          3  of the big issue. It should be seen in larger terms.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you.

          5                 My colleague, John Liu, has one

          6  incredibly brief question or comment, and we are

          7  holding the Chancellor waiting, and I promised him

          8  that he would be on at 4:15, and already it's a

          9  little overdue, so we're going to have to wrap up

         10  here now.

         11                 Council Member Liu, very briefly.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Thank you, Madam

         13  Chair, I won't ask the question, I'll just state

         14  what I think, which is that the reason I have

         15  difficulty with this policy, is precisely what you

         16  said, Chancellor, that the education and the program

         17  is not just about the test, and, yet, this whole

         18  program, this policy is simply about a test, or one

         19  of two tests, either of which if the student doesn't

         20  pass the mark, then they are deemed to not be able

         21  to read.

         22                 As our former Mayor puts it,

         23  intuitively, either you know how to read or you

         24  don't know how to read. If you don't know how to

         25  read, how can you expect it to go on to the next
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          2  grade level and read more difficult material. The

          3  fact is that it's not a day and night issue, it's

          4  not a clear-cut answer, it's not whether you can

          5  read because you're able to pass the test at the

          6  passing grade or you're not able to read because you

          7  don't make that passing grade.

          8                 There's a continuum, and the fact

          9  that we're basing this entire question, the question

         10  of do you know how to read or not, on one exam,

         11  that's problematic, and it's going to lead to half

         12  our kids being left back, and this is not a forum

         13  for a pause or anything like that, but I think, I

         14  mean that's an issue that cannot be simplified to a

         15  simple question of whether you know how to read or

         16  not.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I want to

         18  thank very much Mr. Mayor and Honorable Herman

         19  Badillo and Mr. Frank Macchiarola for their

         20  testimony, and I just wanted to make one brief

         21  comment.

         22                 I was struck by your urging that this

         23  Committee and the public at large be supportive of a

         24  proposal which in general you think is moving in the

         25  right direction. And I certainly understand where

                                                            56

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  you're coming from but part of our task, of course,

          3  is to look at the devils in the details and to look

          4  over whether the Mayor and the Chancellor have

          5  gotten it right in the particular, and so I think

          6  that's what we're trying to do. But I certainly

          7  understand the point you were making.

          8                 I would also just say that, Mr.

          9  Mayor, you made a very interesting point about

         10  parents, the feeling that there may be shame

         11  involved, and that that is not justified. And Dr.

         12  Macchiarola, you made the point that this shouldn't

         13  be looked at as punishment, because we're trying to

         14  help students. And I know in my conversations with

         15  the Chancellor, you know, he wants to encourage

         16  parents to participate and kids to participate in

         17  the Summer Success Academy for that very reason. But

         18  I think you can understand parents' fears, because

         19  while the Gates program may have been successful in

         20  that limited time period, this system has failed

         21  parents again and again and again. It's very hard

         22  for them to have confidence that if their child is

         23  left back, they really are going to get the

         24  interventions that are promised.

         25                 And your language, Mr. Mayor, was
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          2  that, you know, it shouldn't be a phony promise. I

          3  think that is part of the concern. Some of us who

          4  have been watching this not as long as you have --

          5                 MAYOR KOCH: May I make a comment?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Yes, of

          7  course.

          8                 MAYOR KOCH: But if you give into that

          9  fear, then you have nothing.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Well, I think

         11  we're trying to walk the line between not giving

         12  into the fear, yet being realistic.

         13                 I'm in school several times a week

         14  and I don't see the academic intervention services

         15  that are promised. (Applause).

         16                 Please, please, this is really not a

         17  forum for applause or booing, we're conducting a

         18  hearing here, trying to get to the bottom of a very

         19  serious issue.

         20                 MAYOR KOCH: Yes. But look, you have a

         21  Chancellor and a Mayor who are saving their

         22  reputations. I mean, I consider them to be among the

         23  most courageous people in government in the entire

         24  United States - give them the chance to fulfill

         25  their commitment. If what you're going to do, say,
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          2  we don't believe you, we're not going to let you do

          3  it, then you can't hold them responsible.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I appreciate

          5  that, and I think this Committee has a reputation

          6  understanding that there are management

          7  prerogatives, but we also are speaking to parents on

          8  a daily basis and we want to make sure that the

          9  fears are given an opportunity to be voiced, and we

         10  know what to look out for.

         11                 But thank you very, very much. I know

         12  that you changed your schedules to be here and we're

         13  most appreciative, and I apologize in advance to the

         14  Chancellor for the delay. I know he's a busy man.

         15  But we wanted to hear from a lot of people.

         16                 So, thank you very, very much. And

         17  Dr. Macchiarola, if we could just make sure to get

         18  your testimony, because we need it for the record.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Madam Chair,

         20  I just would like to observe that these are very

         21  busy people with distinguished records, and I'm

         22  honored that they took the time to come here today

         23  and share their thoughts with us.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you.

         25                 Welcome, Chancellor Klein and Deputy
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          2  Chancellor Diana Lam. I apologize for the delay. It

          3  was important that we have an opportunity to hear

          4  from our speakers, and as I think you know, we

          5  reversed the general order because of scheduling

          6  constraints. So, welcome, and please begin at your

          7  convenience. Remember, the light has to be off for

          8  the microphone to be on.

          9                 And I should say we've been joined by

         10  Council Member Gale Brewer from Manhattan. I think

         11  that's it.

         12                 I take it you're doing some kind of

         13  powerpoint, is it possible to move the screen? Can

         14  we have the Sergeant-At-Arms assist us in moving the

         15  screen so the public and Committee members can see?

         16  Great. Thank you.

         17                 I'm sorry, is it possible to move the

         18  screen a little more this way? Just because it's a

         19  little hard to see. We're all on an angle. Yes, that

         20  would be better.

         21                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: Shall we begin?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Yes, please

         23  do.

         24                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: Thank you,

         25  Chairwoman Moskowitz, and members of the Education
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          2  Committee. I really appreciate this opportunity to

          3  speak with you about the Department's proposed

          4  policy on third grade promotion, and actually

          5  clarify, I think, some of the confusion that has

          6  attended this issue. I think we start with common

          7  ground here. We share a strong commitment to

          8  improving the education to all of our students in

          9  our City.

         10                 We also all know that despite some

         11  extraordinary schools and some enormous efforts by

         12  many of our teachers and other staff, far too many

         13  of our students are not getting the education they

         14  need and deserve and I mean the basic education.

         15                 Only last week, the headlines in our

         16  City's newspapers blared, "New York has the lowest

         17  graduation rate for minorities."

         18                 Because of these systemic failures,

         19  under Mayor Bloomberg's leadership, we have taken

         20  bold and important steps to restructure and refocus

         21  our entire school system. I'm confident that we're

         22  on the right path, and while a change of this

         23  magnitude is understandably difficult, we must be

         24  prepared to go through these changes for the benefit

         25  of our kids who for too long have been shortchanged.

                                                            61

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2                 Today's hearing focuses on a question

          3  of when we promote students. We all agree that

          4  nobody wants to hold back a student, and we all

          5  agree that we should provide interventions and other

          6  supports to those students who need them.

          7                 But the question still remains, and

          8  it's a question we'd rather not face, but it still

          9  remains, what do we do if despite our best efforts

         10  students are not even remotely capable of doing work

         11  at the next level. That is the question we need to

         12  address.

         13                 Do we continue to promote them as

         14  we've done year after year in our system for

         15  thousands and thousands of students? Do we do that

         16  even though we know everyone in this room knows what

         17  the outcome and the predictable results of this

         18  practice is that virtually all of those students are

         19  not going to get the education they need and they'll

         20  leave school seriously under-prepared.

         21                 It's common sense, as Mayor Koch just

         22  said, that a student in the eighth grade, who is not

         23  a competent reader, and, yes, we have lots of

         24  students in the eighth grade who are not competent

         25  readers, not going to be able to keep up in high
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          2  schools.

          3                 The question is how long we propose

          4  to start by putting a stop to this practice of

          5  social promotion, and we do it for two reasons:

          6  First, and you've raised this issue in a variety of

          7  ways, Madam Chairwoman, in a school system as vast

          8  and complex with so many needs, and so few resources

          9  as ours, focus is absolutely essential. That's why

         10  we do one and not two. That's why we do third grade,

         11  and there are other reasons why we focus, because

         12  we're talking about a school system that's not

         13  broken at the margins, it's broken in significant

         14  part. We need focus, and focus at the third grade,

         15  which we all know is a critical transition point in

         16  the student education. We believe, and, yes, you

         17  should hold us accountable, we believe we will be

         18  able significantly to increase the number of

         19  students who will merit promotion to the fourth

         20  grade by being able to do the basic work at that

         21  grade.

         22                 And, second, we believe also that for

         23  students who are still not ready for the fourth

         24  grade. It is better to give them another carefully

         25  tailored year at the third grade so that we maximize
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          2  the chances that they can move forward successfully

          3  through our system.

          4                 We're convinced that we have a far

          5  better chance, and this is a key point, we have a

          6  far better chance of helping us struggling students

          7  while they are still young, rather than engaging in

          8  the practice we now do, and wait until if it comes

          9  too late and try desperately to play catch-up when

         10  these children get into the higher grades.

         11                 Let me now turn to the first slide,

         12  just so we lay the parameters and get some basic

         13  facts on the table.

         14                 We all know under the current system,

         15  which Council Member Liu purports to take into

         16  account, the other criteria that you've been talking

         17  about, under that system vast numbers of people are

         18  being promoted who are unprepared. Every teacher in

         19  the school system will tell you that, and all the

         20  results we get lead us to know that.

         21                 Last year we had a level three level,

         22  so I don't know where this 50 percent number comes

         23  from, but we have level three on-grade and

         24  proficient.

         25                 Level two means you've mastered some
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          2  of the standards. Level one, take a look at the

          3  chart. If you're at level one in the third grade,

          4  that means you're somewhere between the first and

          5  second grade in your performance. You're already

          6  behind, and in mathematics, the same thing. So,

          7  we're not talking about people who are close to the

          8  bar. If we had the difference between a high level

          9  two and a level three, I would say that was an

         10  arbitrariness we ought to be worried about. And

         11  second is, we'll come back to there is an appeals

         12  process that can be initiated by the teacher who

         13  understands work, who says, yes, despite this test

         14  and the summer test, the student is performing at

         15  level two, and that's a process that's initiated by

         16  the teacher who is most intimate with the student's

         17  work.

         18                 Now, why the third grade? Because all

         19  the research, if we go to the second slide on page

         20  three, all the research tells us that students who

         21  are not reading, basic reading, basic math at these

         22  grades, are not ready and they are overwhelmingly

         23  going to fail, if you push them forward.

         24                 A fourth grader reading at a first or

         25  second grade level understands less than half, less
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          2  than half of his or her printed curriculum. One

          3  study showed 74 percent of children who are poor

          4  readers in the third grade remain poor readers in

          5  the ninth grade.

          6                 Children who cannot read at level

          7  three, grade level by third grade, are high risk and

          8  we know that, regardless of what happens, and our

          9  job is to get them to that level. The same thing is

         10  true in math, and that gap doesn't get easier.

         11                 Look at the next slide on page four.

         12  This is what we've been talking about. We studied

         13  two cohorts because we have a lot of data for these

         14  groups. These are groups that started in '99 and

         15  2000.

         16                 These groups, you'll see,

         17  fundamentally out of a group of 24 or 25,000

         18  students, in the grade, approximately 45 percent

         19  were double level on 16 percent, one in ELA, 39

         20  percent in math. We studied those groups to actually

         21  see what happened to them. So the people who talk

         22  about one test should realize, these are students

         23  who are getting tested each year, and we know what

         24  the evidence shows.

         25                 If you turn to page five, 60 percent
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          2  of those level 1's from 1999 were promoted straight

          3  through. And 64 percent from 2000 were promoted

          4  straight through to the sixth grade. But the other

          5  thing to realize, a lot of those kids were left back

          6  in the fourth grade and the fifth grade and so

          7  forth. So, we can promote them, but eventually this

          8  process catch up, and let's think about how much

          9  harder it is in the fourth, fifth, seventh and

         10  eighth grades.

         11                 Then the next slide, which I think

         12  speaks volumes, this looked at children who were

         13  promoted in 1999, Level 1's who were promoted

         14  straight through to the seventh grade. There were

         15  11,000 of those students that were promoted straight

         16  through, and of those 11,000, only 18 percent were

         17  level two at both levels. And, again, level two,

         18  very few were at level three. So, we know that these

         19  are children who moving through the system, they're

         20  not learning to read, they're staying at level one.

         21  The same thing in the next year's cohort,

         22  three-quarters stayed at level one over a three-year

         23  period. It's not a single test. We've identified

         24  children who need intervention and remediation and

         25  we have the obligation to provide it. It would be
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          2  much easier to just let them keep going, but in the

          3  long run we're going to pay an enormous price.

          4                 Now then, let's look at the issue of

          5  statistics and data, because we actually also

          6  followed those two cohorts to see whether students

          7  who were left back a year did any better, and in

          8  both cohorts, the fact is the students who were left

          9  back, while we didn't do as nearly as well as we'd

         10  like, did better.

         11                 Look at those two charts. If you look

         12  at the 2000 cohort, on the far left --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Madam Chair,

         14  could we identify the page? They're not on the

         15  screen so we have to look at this. What page are we

         16  on?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: We will make

         18  copies. The Council's seemingly technological

         19  support is not working very well, so we will make

         20  copies for the members of the public, you know, as

         21  soon as we can, but I believe we're on page seven.

         22                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: And let me take a

         23  second to show you what this is.

         24                 Let's look, first, at the right side

         25  of the page. This is a group of level 1's in 1999.
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          2  As I said, we started with about 25,000, about 5,000

          3  left at school system, or moved into special ed and

          4  had alternative programs, of that group, if you look

          5  at the right side, these are the students promoted

          6  each year, 25.4 percent of them were a double level

          7  2. On the other hand, students who were left back,

          8  31.7 percent, or somewhere around six and a half

          9  percent more, actually went up to level 2.

         10  Conversely, if you look at the green bar, those who

         11  were straight promoted through, the number who

         12  stayed at double level 1 were 41 percent, the number

         13  who stayed at double level 1 who were left back once

         14  were 34 percent. So, yes, even in the current system

         15  with data that we have, retention worked. Even more

         16  dramatic, on the next chart on the left, we looked

         17  at children who were level 1 in 2000.

         18                 Those who were promoted each year,

         19  that's the right-hand column, the 23.4 percent, 23.4

         20  percent to them, promoted straight through, got to

         21  level two.

         22                 On the other hand, those who were

         23  retained one year in the fifth grade, 33.5 or nine

         24  percent more got to level two. And conversely, ten

         25  percent difference in lowering the number of people
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          2  who got to level two, who stayed at double level 1

          3  by being retained.

          4                 So, let's be very clear, when people

          5  say what is the evidence about retention, in the New

          6  York City public school system we have two cohorts,

          7  and we have shown that if we look at students at

          8  level one, those who were retained did better.

          9                 And let me make this point. That's a

         10  very significant fact, for the following reason: The

         11  ones who were promoted were presumably the most

         12  competent. People exercising their discretion were

         13  presumably promoting those they thought were most

         14  competent. The facts show that retention helped, not

         15  nearly enough children, but it helped. And that's

         16  before we put the kind of focus on the system that

         17  we've put.

         18                 Now, when we know these children that

         19  I just showed you in the seventh grade, and three

         20  quarters or so are at level one, what are the

         21  remediations that we have then?

         22                 Do you know how many of our students

         23  enter high school unprepared? In the eighth grade

         24  test last year some, or the year before, some 32,000

         25  students were at level one. Do you know what their
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          2  future is? Let me read to you, and I'd like it in

          3  the record of these proceedings, a letter I received

          4  yesterday, signed by some 60 teachers at one of our

          5  high schools in New York City. It's a letter they

          6  sent to me, they said, Dear Mr. Klein, as New York

          7  City high school teachers, we are wholeheartedly

          8  opposed to the practice of social promotion. It is

          9  not a solution, it is a lie that is eroded

         10  year-by-year as students realize they have been

         11  given flattery, rather than the basic skills they

         12  need to survive in a classroom, and even more in

         13  life.

         14                 Come to our classrooms, and I invite

         15  this Committee, come to these classrooms, we can

         16  show you the results of social promotion.

         17  Sixteen-year-old students who write incoherently,

         18  mispelling the most basic words, who don't know

         19  multiplication tables and struggles to comprehend a

         20  passage in basic textbooks.

         21                 Our students are shocked when they

         22  fail high school classes, and inevitably high school

         23  regents exams. And why shouldn't they be shocked?

         24  After all, for the past eight years they've passed

         25  everything else, often by just showing up. Of course
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          2  social promotion seems easy, especially if you're

          3  sending kids to another school.

          4                 Those of us who worked in the middle

          5  schools will remember the refrain of administrators

          6  pressuring teachers, pressuring teachers to pass

          7  students. That's what people were doing, we're

          8  trying to do the opposite. Not because it's easy,

          9  because it's right.

         10                 We're going to have a clean start,

         11  don't make up and catch up in high school, these are

         12  the quotes these teachers are giving us. We don't

         13  want any of the older trouble makers to contaminate

         14  the younger kids next year.

         15                 The clean start obviously never

         16  occurs, least of all for the students marching

         17  forward under the illusion that they are suited for

         18  high school. High school in fact is the worst place

         19  for a child who lacks basic skills, because high

         20  schools teach content in order to prepare students

         21  for college in the workplace. The learning of that

         22  content depends on the students having mastered

         23  basic reading, writing and math skills. The further

         24  the student gets away from the grade that teaches

         25  the basic skills they need, the more lost they
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          2  become and the less the system is able to help them.

          3                 These teachers include, and I would

          4  hope that this Committee heeds their advice, we hope

          5  you will take our experiences and observations into

          6  consideration when you decide to end social

          7  promotion.

          8                 The details of the policy are on

          9  pages eight, nine and ten, which was given to the

         10  Committee. I don't want to read them through given

         11  the time constraints, but I do want to end with a

         12  quote from President Clinton, a man I was privileged

         13  to serve for over seven years during his

         14  administration, and he issued a presidential

         15  directive to the then Secretary of Education, Riley,

         16  in 1999, and he said, in the words very reminiscent

         17  of those that I'm speaking here today, "Students are

         18  often passed from grade to grade regardless of

         19  whether they have mastered required material and are

         20  academically prepared to do the work at the next

         21  level, this practice is called social promotion. For

         22  many students, far too many, the ultimate

         23  consequences that they fall further and further

         24  behind and leave school ill-equipped for college and

         25  lacking the skills needed for employment.
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          2                 This situation..." Says the

          3  President... "is unacceptable for students,

          4  teachers, and employers, and taxpayers.

          5                 That is why I..." President

          6  Clinton... "have repeatedly challenged states and

          7  school districts to end social promotion - to

          8  require students to meet rigorous academic standards

          9  at key transition points in their schooling, and to

         10  end the practice of promoting students without

         11  regard to how much they have learned.

         12                 As every parent knows, students must

         13  earn promotion through effort and achievement, not

         14  simply by accumulating time in school."

         15                 Now I'd like to turn the presentation

         16  to Diana Lam, because you, Madam Chairman, and

         17  others, have rightly asked what are we doing for

         18  these students, and what I'm saying is through this

         19  focus we have rallied the system, I believe, and

         20  will continue to rally it, so that the number of

         21  students who get promoted to third to fourth grade

         22  will reflect performance, not reflect mere passage.

         23                 So, I'd like Ms. Lam to elaborate on

         24  the specific interventions that you've asked about.

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR LAM: Thank you,
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          2  Joel. And good afternoon, Chairwoman Moskowitz and

          3  members of the Education Committee. I'm very happy

          4  to be here to speak with you about the Department of

          5  Education's proposed thoughts on third grade

          6  promotion.

          7                 The Chancellor has already taken you

          8  through the steps that led us to make the decision

          9  that we have to break the cycle of failure and

         10  intervene early and effectively to help our

         11  struggling third grade students.

         12                 I would like to tell you more about

         13  what we're doing right now in classrooms for third

         14  graders. I will also take you through the plans we

         15  have for summer and for the next year.

         16                 If you go to slide or page 12 in your

         17  handout, since September, we have had certain

         18  supports in place. These include early

         19  identification of specific needs through ECLAS-2,

         20  assessments to help teachers identify struggling

         21  students, the provision of intervention services

         22  based on areas of need and a range of academic

         23  intervention services for third graders who have not

         24  been meeting standards. Schools are using a variety

         25  of interventions for third grade students who are
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          2  not currently meeting standards, and the most common

          3  is Voyager Passport.

          4                 If we go to slide, our page 13, in

          5  January, parents were notified in their native

          6  languages, if their children's performance in school

          7  and assessment results indicated that many may not

          8  achieve promotion standards. Most of these

          9  struggling students are receiving small-group

         10  instruction during and after school hours. We are

         11  also providing comprehensive training and coaches to

         12  further develop our teachers' ability to address a

         13  wide range of learning needs within their

         14  classrooms.

         15                 The majority of our schools offer a

         16  range of academic intervention services for third

         17  grade students who have not been meeting the

         18  standard.

         19                 For example, this chart on page 13

         20  shows that 98 percent of elementary schools are

         21  using small group instruction and 86 percent of our

         22  schools offer programs before or after school to

         23  provide extended learning opportunities for our

         24  third grade students.

         25                 If we go to page 14, based on
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          2  students' needs, schools are suing a variety of

          3  programs in the small group instruction for third

          4  grade students, when not meeting standards. The most

          5  common intervention is Voyager Passport, which is

          6  triggered by ECLAS results.

          7                 We have surveyed the elementary

          8  schools and confirm that extensive support for grade

          9  three students not meeting the standards have been

         10  in place.

         11                 Based on that response of 601

         12  schools, seven percent of third graders whose

         13  promotion is in doubt are already receiving small

         14  group instructions during the school day, and nearly

         15  90 percent are receiving extended time services, or

         16  25,000 third graders Citywide in these schools.

         17                 A detailed understanding of student

         18  progress is important to target instructions.

         19  Fifty-five percent of third graders benefit from

         20  additional assessment.

         21                 If we go to slide 15 or page 15,

         22  third grade students who do not achieve level two on

         23  both Citywide tests and in-coming third grade

         24  students who would benefit from additional

         25  instruction will have the opportunity to attend the
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          2  Summer Success Academy 2004.

          3                 Just to let you know, we will be

          4  conducting at Summer Success Academy, that will

          5  start on July 6th and will go til August 5th,

          6  testing will then be done the following week, we

          7  plan to do the professional development of our

          8  teachers teaching summer school at the Success

          9  Academy before July 4th.

         10                 This is voluntary, although we are

         11  going to strongly encourage our students to, of

         12  course, attend summer school. All students will have

         13  the opportunity to retake the test in August. The

         14  summer program will also be offered for entering

         15  third graders who may be in need of service.

         16                 Our program enables third graders to

         17  achieve level two or higher when they would take the

         18  test in August and provides a bridge for those

         19  students further away from meeting standards to

         20  ongoing intervention and support in the 2004/'05

         21  school year.

         22                 We have designed a program that

         23  combines strong instruction in literacy and math

         24  with smaller student/teacher ratios, 15 to 1, and

         25  enrichment activities to build motivation and
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          2  confidence and reinforce learning.

          3                 We hope to partner with many CBOs

          4  across the City and other organizations to provide

          5  these students with a rich array of cultural and

          6  recreational activity.

          7                 The academic part of the Summer

          8  Success Academy will, we will use four and a half

          9  hours to do that and then the rest will be for

         10  enrichment activities in partnership with the CBOs

         11  and other organizations.

         12                 Children will continue to need

         13  ongoing support in order to develop knowledge and

         14  skills to meet third grade promotion. These children

         15  will receive support to ensure improvement, and this

         16  will come again in the form of instructional

         17  strategies and support, and certainly parental

         18  involvement and additional guidance services.

         19                 So, if you go to the slide on page

         20  17, most schools currently have mechanisms in place

         21  to monitor the progress of students that are at

         22  risk, and these mechanisms, of course, will be

         23  further strengthened.

         24                 If you go to page 18, we are

         25  committed to the long-term success of these
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          2  children. After promotion from third grade, students

          3  will continue to be assessed and monitored by a

          4  student success team. Students who fail the third

          5  grade a second time will first be evaluated for

          6  possible special education services. These students

          7  will be placed in grade three task transition class.

          8  They will not be subject to that fourth grade test,

          9  however, because we don't want them repeating third

         10  grade material again. So, they will certainly be

         11  taking the grade three test, and although there will

         12  be certainly an opportunity for students who also

         13  may have accelerated their learning quite a bit to

         14  also take grade four, and considerably then they can

         15  jump a grade.

         16                 Interventions here will be structured

         17  to include harder and harder material in libraries.

         18  Also, finance curriculum can be introduced. These

         19  students will be evaluated mid-year, if they are not

         20  making progress, they will be given individualized

         21  interventions.

         22                 Thank you, again, for inviting us to

         23  be here today, and we are prepared to answer your

         24  questions.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you,
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          2  Chancellor Klein, and thank you, Deputy Chancellor

          3  Diana Lam, for your testimony.

          4                 I wanted to begin, Chancellor Klein,

          5  with your first slide, I think it was, where you

          6  rightly pointed out that level one, for a third

          7  grade student, is really a student at great risk,

          8  academic risk, and that they're really at a first or

          9  second grade level, if they achieve a level one. To

         10  me that's an argument in a way against not the

         11  concept of anti-social promotion, but the specific

         12  plan that you have implemented, or are proposing to

         13  implement, namely that you've got to do this early,

         14  because the problem starts earlier.

         15                 I mean, your formulation that third

         16  grade is transitional, you know, I suppose

         17  everything is transitional. It is true that the

         18  fourth grade test is more of a reading to learn than

         19  learning to read, as Michele Cahill says many times,

         20  but why do this in the third grade? Why not do this

         21  earlier in a child tenure?

         22                 And I say that, I say that having

         23  some understanding of the challenges, I mean a

         24  nine-year-old, I have a five-year-old, a

         25  nine-year-old, that is late to do this kind of
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          2  intervention. Why wouldn't we want to do it earlier?

          3                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: I think, frankly,

          4  Mayor Koch answered the question, you've got to

          5  start somewhere, and people will always say you need

          6  to do more. In our system I have limited resources,

          7  I am the first to decry that. I am tired of what has

          8  happened to our City and what Robert Jackson had to

          9  do over ten years and we still don't have the

         10  resources we need.

         11                 So, you have to pick each starting

         12  place and focus the system. And you and others will

         13  point out that how you implement this, where you get

         14  the right teachers, what kind of intervention - some

         15  of these interventions that we're talking about are

         16  like the 180 intervention that -- I believe 180,

         17  these are expensive interventions and we need to do

         18  them.

         19                 Now, if you look at the literature,

         20  people will tell you that third grade is a

         21  transition grade. Some children start to, and that's

         22  not to say they shouldn't get supported, we've got a

         23  second grade summer school program here, some

         24  children start school a little earlier, some have

         25  pre-k, so we need to pick. If you look around the
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          2  country --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: You've made a

          4  choice --

          5                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: Of course we've

          6  made a choice.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: To me, I

          8  understand if you have limited resources, why you go

          9  for level one versus level two because they are the

         10  neediest students, and you're sort of starting with

         11  the greatest need. The decision to have all this

         12  intervention in the third grade, you could put

         13  whatever resources you have they're not much and

         14  inadequate, and I understand and am completely

         15  convinced of your passion that we need more

         16  resources, why not focus the effort earlier?

         17                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: Well, we should

         18  focus the effort earlier, but if we're going to have

         19  a point of retention, I think just what you said,

         20  learning to read, this is what all the academic

         21  studies, this is what Chicago has done, this is what

         22  the cities in Florida have done, this is what people

         23  have done throughout the United States, you have to

         24  pick some points, and frankly, sometimes you find

         25  people move in spurts. It is inevitable, but
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          2  everyone who has looked at this, and the current

          3  United States formulation has focused on the third

          4  grade, and all the academic studies that I referred

          5  to say usually the third grade to the fourth grade

          6  is the transition, and it is the reading to learn,

          7  learning to read.

          8                 One could argue forever about the

          9  arbitrators. If we were doing it in the second

         10  grade, there would some people who would say, first

         11  of all we don't have a testing system, so we would

         12  be back to the current thoroughly subjected system

         13  which is broken and hasn't worked forever. So we do

         14  have a standardized measure.

         15                 Second of all, we do have a pivotal

         16  year, and third of all it gives children at least

         17  some period of time.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I guess I'm

         19  not convinced, and I want to press you on this

         20  point, because it seems that it may conform more to

         21  the testing regime than the need for the child.

         22                 Because we do have -- (applause).

         23                 Wait. I would really appreciate, I

         24  would appreciate -- we don't want applause or boos.

         25  It's a very complicated issue and we want to, as
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          2  responsibly as possible, get to the bottom of it,

          3  and I'm happy to be enlightened and educated, but I

          4  don't understand that argument.

          5                 This isn't persuasive to me. It seems

          6  that we do have assessments, thanks to some of the

          7  work that your administration has done. We now have

          8  ECLAS-2. So, if we had skilled teachers to diagnose,

          9  we should know that the kindergartner has a problem.

         10  We can't predict with the same level of accuracy as

         11  we could once the kid fails the third grade test,

         12  you can't tell me that we don't know if we had

         13  skilled personnel, we don't know that the kid in

         14  kindergarten has a problem, and yet it seems that

         15  what you're proposing is to, even though we could

         16  know that we have a problem, we're going to wait

         17  three years - kindergarten, first grade, second

         18  grade, third grade, until we address it.

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR LAM: Okay, well,

         20  let me try to answer that question, which is a very

         21  good question, by making two points.

         22                 First, our intervention system

         23  doesn't really start at the third grade level,

         24  although that's where we were focusing today for

         25  this hearing. In fact, part of the core curriculum
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          2  already anticipated the need for an intervention

          3  system, that gets triggered by ECLAS-2. So, we have

          4  right now kindergarten students that we know need

          5  additional help, and they are enrolled in Voyager

          6  Passport, the same with grade one and grade two.

          7                 So, interventions, we have them at

          8  all those grade levels, but we only talked about

          9  grade three today.

         10                 But, second, and perhaps most

         11  important point, is that why third as opposed to

         12  second? Because when children are small, which I

         13  consider kindergarten through grade two children to

         14  still be quite small, they are still in their

         15  developmental stage. Some children learn to read

         16  more quickly than others. It doesn't mean they're

         17  having problems, it's just a maturation piece.

         18                 My own son, my first child, was a

         19  late bloomer, as we call it. He took a little

         20  longer, and he didn't really need particularly

         21  smaller interventions, aside from what the schools

         22  were already doing, and it was fine. Usually by that

         23  third grade, however, then it becomes critical to be

         24  a fluent reader, in order to be successful for

         25  grades four and above.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: You know

          3  that's helpful. You know, I still have the question

          4  of whether we're really getting the interventions

          5  that you spoke of, and clearly we are to some

          6  extent, but let me ask the question a different way.

          7                 You know, I've been struggling a

          8  little bit, trying to imagine being a fly on the

          9  wall, during your various discussions, not about

         10  whether to pass students along or hold them back,

         11  because I think that intuitively the Chancellor, and

         12  obviously, the Mayor, has a strong predilection and

         13  it's a common-sensical approach, but when we're all

         14  gathered to try and figure out, well, how do you

         15  solve this problem, and I'm imagining you looking at

         16  six or seven different options, what I'm trying to

         17  figure out is how you pick this one.

         18                 For example, and maybe, Diana, you

         19  can speak to this issue; why did you reject, for

         20  example, a concept like kindergarten plus, which to

         21  me makes a lot of sense, that instead of waiting til

         22  the third grade you have an extra year of

         23  kindergarten, and the kids don't feel perhaps the

         24  stigma that they might feel as being left back, and

         25  it's just an extra year, and it's been done in other
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          2  cities, and it's particularly helpful when you have

          3  a child who doesn't have pre-k. Of course, the

          4  private schools do this all the time where the kids,

          5  particularly boys, are often not let into

          6  kindergarten until they're six, why not do something

          7  like that? Is that a resource question, or was that

          8  an instructional decision that's not effective?

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR LAM: Well, when we

         10  were discussing the different options, to tell you

         11  the truth, we didn't consider availability of

         12  resources first at all, you know, we were just

         13  trying to think about the issue in terms of what was

         14  best for children educationally.

         15                 An idea what I would want to

         16  reiterate here is, of course, it was not an easy

         17  discussion or an easy decision to make.

         18                 The reason why we didn't create an

         19  extra grade in between like kindergarten and first

         20  grade, was because children mature at different

         21  levels, and we believe, you know, we'll see how we

         22  do, but we believe that children that need

         23  additional help, with the interventions that we

         24  already have in place, we have to let them work. We

         25  think that many of the children in our kindergarten
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          2  classes, first grade classes, and second grade

          3  classes will be able to meet standards. Even at the

          4  third grade level, of the 16,000 third grade

          5  students that are currently enrolled in Voyager

          6  Passport, 5,000 of them, their teachers deemed that

          7  they really were on the right track, they were going

          8  to be able to meet standards, and they did not

          9  receive a letter, you know, in that promotion

         10  letter.

         11                 I mean, it's too early to really be

         12  definitive or conclusive about these results, but at

         13  least it gives us some indication as to how we're

         14  doing.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay, that's

         16  helpful.

         17                 I guess I wanted to turn -- I want to

         18  make sure to announce, Council Member Quinn had

         19  joined us, and Council Member Yassky, thank you for

         20  being here.

         21                 You know, when I heard yesterday, and

         22  you were kind enough with the Chancellor to do a

         23  special briefing for the Ed Committee members, when

         24  I heard your litany of intervention, you know, it

         25  sounds wonderful, it just sounds absolutely
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          2  terrific, and I mentioned this yesterday, my fear is

          3  that it's misleading, and I'm not suggesting that

          4  you're meaning to be misleading, but this small

          5  group instruction that you talk about, you know,

          6  you're talking about numbers, you're not talking

          7  about quality. None of your statistics says what is

          8  the quality of the small group instruction, do

          9  teachers really know the Orton Gillingham Method; do

         10  teachers really know how to diagnose the ECLS-2

         11  test? I mean we come up with this diagnostic, and

         12  then my experience has been that many, many teachers

         13  don't know how to interpret the results. And, so,

         14  suggesting that we have this diagnostic and yet, one

         15  example, not having adequately trained teachers,

         16  another example, yesterday you spoke about, and very

         17  compellingly, you spoke about the parent

         18  coordinators doing a parental outreach so that

         19  parents would really understand this complex new

         20  policy, and it sounded terrific, and, yet, the day

         21  before you spoke, I held a PTA meeting with about 50

         22  PTA presidents who were saying that unfortunately

         23  because schools have no secretarial support, the

         24  parent/coordinator is being pulled in to do

         25  Xeroxing, and they're not doing the parent
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          2  coordination that you envisioned, and I was very

          3  supportive of the Chancellor, even though there's a

          4  lot of resistance to it from PTA presidents, I

          5  thought that that was a very good decision, and I

          6  thought giving them cell phones was a very good

          7  decision, but how does the reality mesh up against

          8  the ideal?

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR LAM: Okay. Well,

         10  I'm sorry if it sounded like a litany yesterday.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: A good litany.

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR LAM: You're

         13  absolutely right, you know, if these ideas are

         14  implemented, and are implemented well, our students

         15  will be the winners.  So the challenge really is not

         16  so much to come up with the idea, the ideas, I mean

         17  are not new ideas, they are ideas that have been in

         18  the field for a very long time, they're ideas that

         19  have tried in many different school systems,

         20  including New York City, with good degree of

         21  success. So the challenge for us and the commitment

         22  that we are making, you know, is to ensure that

         23  implementation phase is of good quality.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: How are you

         25  going to make sure that the resource of small group
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          2  instruction -- I mean, that seems like a very tall

          3  order, how do you do that?

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR LAM: Okay, part of

          5  the reason where we wanted to restructure the

          6  organization is that when we think about 1,200

          7  schools, 1.1 million students, then everything seems

          8  just to huge to be able to have impact, but if we

          9  look at the structure where it's almost in a base of

         10  ten, in other words, not quite ten, when you have

         11  one local or instructional superintendent working

         12  approximately with ten schools, then I think it's

         13  doable to really have that kind of quality control

         14  that you have.

         15                 And then going back to one of the

         16  points that Joel made earlier, we need to focus. I

         17  mean, there are so many needs. This is our priority,

         18  these are our marching orders, this is our focus. I

         19  mean, we're going to get it done, you know.

         20                 Now, can we do everything that needs

         21  to get done? No, I mean I'll be the first one to

         22  tell you right now they will never be able to do

         23  everything, but do we have a shot at doing this

         24  well? Of course, we do.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I would just
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          2  say that, you know, we have to not have excuses from

          3  management in doing the oversight, because I think

          4  it's very easy to be at Tweed -- no, I shouldn't say

          5  it is easy to be at Tweed, it is not easy to be at

          6  Tweed. It is very difficult to be at Tweed, but

          7  there is a disconnect between the orders that come

          8  out and what's actually happening on the ground, I'm

          9  very concerned about that.

         10                 My colleagues have other questions,

         11  so I don't want to take up more time. I just wanted

         12  to end with one plea; and that is, I do feel very

         13  strongly, Chancellor Klein, that in the Children's

         14  First Initiatives, and now in the social promotions,

         15  that the needs of early childhood, the pre-k has

         16  fallen by the wayside, and I would submit to you

         17  that this social promotion, however you feel about

         18  it, however the public feels about it, is not going

         19  to work, unless we provide all of the three and four

         20  year olds, and while that is another resource, I

         21  just think if you put these resources at the third

         22  grade and you don't catch these children, many of

         23  them do not know the basic -- do not have the basic

         24  skills, they're behind by the time they go to

         25  kindergarten. And I know you're announcing many,
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          2  many changes, I don't see enough discussion of

          3  Universal Pre-K, and I would hope in the next round

          4  of the many more announcements that I presume you're

          5  going to make, that that gets serious attention. How

          6  do we do that more universally, because I really

          7  don't think you're going to succeed, unless you can

          8  educate the three and four year olds and get them

          9  ready for kindergarten. I just see such a

         10  difference. I mean, my son had two years. He's going

         11  to be infinitely ahead of someone who has not had

         12  that kind of instruction.

         13                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: I agree with you,

         14  and as you've heard in my testimony in Albany, I

         15  make this point time and time again, I believe, and

         16  I said it this afternoon, Universal Pre-K should be

         17  universal. But I have to play the hand that I am

         18  dealt. I can't make excuses, and the hand that I am

         19  dealt is, the way the money is allocated, we don't

         20  get the money for Pre-K.

         21                 I wish this Council would go on

         22  record saying it's a high priority and Albany ought

         23  to fully fund Universal Pre-K in our City, it would

         24  be a terrific thing.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: We have. But
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          2  we will continue to do so until we receive the

          3  funds. I'm going to call on Council Member Lopez,

          4  who is the author of one of the resolutions under

          5  consideration, and then Council Member Foster and

          6  Vann.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you for

          8  being here today. I appreciate the opportunity that

          9  I have for the first time to deal with this issue in

         10  public, and to be able to speak on this.

         11                 The first question I have, and I only

         12  have three questions, when this document was

         13  released to the public and the Council members?

         14                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: I believe the

         15  document was given to the Council members last night

         16  and released to the public today.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then for the

         18  first time, the public, the Council members, have

         19  seen the policy that you're talking in writing to

         20  date?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON KLEIN: No, there's been

         22  information given to the schools, there's been lots

         23  of information --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: No. I'm talking

         25  about this policy being released for the first time
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          2  in writing, comprehensive way, to the Council

          3  members and to the public. It's today the first time

          4  that this policy is being released.

          5                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: Well, again, on my

          6  website, since January 15th, there has been a

          7  lengthy discussion.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: This has not

          9  been in there?

         10                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: Not all of this

         11  information, that's correct. This is a policy that

         12  was articulated by the Mayor in the State of the

         13  City --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: No, the policy

         15  articulated by the Mayor is not this. The Mayor is

         16  making a statement in that speech that was not a

         17  policy. This is a policy. You are giving me the

         18  policy for the first time today, to me, to the

         19  Council members and to the public.

         20                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: Right.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then I want to

         22  point out to you on the record of this City Council,

         23  that notification about such an enormous policy

         24  today is absurd.

         25                 Second, I want to know when is the
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          2  timetable that you have planned to approve this

          3  policy? Can I know when exactly is that day?

          4                 At the next panel meeting which is in

          5  the middle of March.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then that means

          7  that today, March the 3rd of 19 -- I'm sorry, in

          8  2004, we received this policy that is going to be

          9  approved by this City Department of Education on

         10  March 15th, not giving the public of this City and

         11  the people of this City who represent the people, to

         12  articulate a dialogue with you about this issue.

         13  That's what that means.

         14                 And I think it's also absurd,

         15  therefore, the timing that you had chosen to release

         16  information and to approve the policy is totally

         17  unacceptable.

         18                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: Let me just put

         19  some facts in the record. I have been at five

         20  community meetings throughout this City in the past

         21  six weeks, where there has been attendance by most

         22  of them, by 1,400, 1,500 people. Last night I was in

         23  Brooklyn with 1,400 people, we've got extensive

         24  questions on these very issues. I have met with

         25  various groups who have come in, the panel itself
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          2  which is responsible for voting on this, has been

          3  briefed extensively. So, there's been a very robust

          4  dialogue on this issue in our City, on the details

          5  of the policy, on the appeals process and so forth,

          6  but the most important thing is we have to do what's

          7  right for our children.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: I am not talking

          9  about that yet. I'm asking you the question of

         10  notification because I think it is appalling that

         11  this City of ours is implementing a policy like

         12  this, with lack of notification participation, an

         13  analysis of the policy that is going to be

         14  devastating on children. That's what the issue for

         15  me is right now.

         16                 Then the question of the validity or

         17  not of your policy, that's a second problem that we

         18  can discuss.

         19                 Then I just want also to ask you, in

         20  regard of the impact of this policy and when it's

         21  going to take place, once this is done it's going to

         22  be implemented immediately?

         23                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: It's going to be

         24  implemented at the end of this school year, yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: And therefore

                                                            98

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  the test that is going to be put in place, the

          3  children have to take that test when?

          4                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: When they take it

          5  normally, which would be in April.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Okay. What is

          7  the population of the total children in the system?

          8                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: 1.1 million.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then I will

         10  tell you, and this is my last point, I will tell you

         11  that if you tell me that you talked to 1,400, 1,500,

         12  2,500, 1 million doesn't compare to that number,

         13  therefore, notification doesn't exist, period. It

         14  doesn't exist. To tell me that that sample proves

         15  the notification was in place is a sham, and it's

         16  not true to tell people that this has been notified.

         17                 Now, I just want to make the last

         18  point here. The Latino community, communities who

         19  speak other languages, have not received this

         20  information. This document exists in any other

         21  language than English?

         22                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: This document will

         23  be translated into other languages.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then it doesn't

         25  exist in any other language than English right now,
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          2  correct?

          3                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: I don't believe it

          4  does.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Therefore, the

          6  laws that this City pass, the laws that the Mayor of

          7  the City of New York sustained, that language

          8  translation for communities that speak the language

          9  in here, has been disobeyed right now. And the

         10  principle of notifying communities that speak

         11  another language of issues as important as this,

         12  issues as important as health, has not happened

         13  here. And that is the last point I want to make,

         14  that this, one more time, by the lack of

         15  communication and the language in which the majority

         16  of people who take those children to the school to

         17  speak don't even exist.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I would really

         20  like to ask people to hold, whether you like what we

         21  have to say or not, hold the applause. This is an

         22  official hearing.

         23                 Thank you, Council Member Lopez.

         24                 Council Member Foster and then Vann.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Chancellor,
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          2  I'm sitting here and Mayor Koch spoke and said that,

          3  I believe he said that we are to trust you and the

          4  Mayor and to let you do the job, and I'm sitting

          5  here because I don't want to get angry, but you talk

          6  about it's on your website and every time you get

          7  here and I speak to you, I say to you the people in

          8  my district don't have access to a computer, so

          9  being on your website means nothing.

         10                 I've placed five phone calls to your

         11  office in the past two days, and I'm glad that Erin

         12  Stevens has returned my call, but my call wasn't

         13  placed to her, it was placed to you. And if you want

         14  people to vest in this and say, okay, I've got to

         15  trust you, Chancellor, let you do your job, I'm

         16  elected by these people to represent them. There is

         17  no -- like last time I was nice, you didn't return

         18  my call. I'm not being nice this time. Common

         19  courtesy is to return a call, and Erin was very nice

         20  in telling me your schedule is busy. Believe it or

         21  not, so is mine. So, when I place a call as an

         22  elected official, in my capacity as an elected

         23  official, I do expect a return call, and I do not

         24  want to have to come to a Committee meeting again to

         25  see you, to tell you you need to return my call.
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          2                 Now, that having been said, it's on

          3  your website since January 15th. This document that

          4  you can go back and forth, in some forms you're

          5  saying has been discussed, have you been into the

          6  16th District to discuss this?

          7                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: I have been in the

          8  Bronx where we had a community meeting and it was

          9  1,500 people. There was translations at the time,

         10  and everyone was invited.

         11                 In addition, you should know that our

         12  regional superintendents are conducting meetings

         13  about this now with parents groups that's going on.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: So you don't

         15  know if you were in the 16th District, Council

         16  District, discussing this issue?

         17                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: What I do know is

         18  we held a meeting in the Bronx and invited everyone,

         19  we got the information out to our parents through

         20  parents coordinators, it was disseminated widely

         21  throughout the school system.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Do you know if

         23  elected officials were notified? Do you know if an

         24  invitation or a phone call or a letter came to my

         25  office?
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          2                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: I don't. But I know

          3  there are elected officials at these events, because

          4  I introduce them. So I do know that.

          5                 Last night there were several Council

          6  members who were at our event in Brooklyn, so I do

          7  know that.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Well,

          9  possibly, because I am assuming that several Council

         10  members place calls and get return calls. So, maybe

         11  therefore --

         12                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: I was just being

         13  told by my staff, by the way, that all Council

         14  Members were invited to these. And I'm also told, by

         15  the way, that we had a briefing yesterday for the

         16  entire Council on these issues.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Right. At

         18  11:30 that I was notified about on Friday and

         19  unfortunately my schedule isn't as flexible as maybe

         20  other Council members that I can say on a Friday

         21  afternoon when I was notified that I can reschedule

         22  things for Tuesday.

         23                 You plan to implement this policy

         24  with the students take the exam in April?

         25                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: That's correct.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: What contact

          3  have you had with the parents, or what discussions

          4  have you had with the parents not telling them about

          5  this policy, but input on whether this policy is

          6  good or not?

          7                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: Again, I've had

          8  lots -- these are issues that have been talked about

          9  in our City at community meetings. I've had input

         10  with various parent groups. I've been in the

         11  community.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Well, you know

         13  what I'd like? Because that's a general statement,

         14  if you can get to me, and Chairwoman, I will go

         15  through you, because I must be on some list that

         16  information doesn't get to me and my phone calls

         17  aren't returned. But if you can get me the

         18  information on where in Bronx County you have had

         19  those meetings, and discussions with what parents so

         20  that I can in fact look to cross list to make sure

         21  the schools in my district are part of this process?

         22                 Because saying like right now this

         23  isn't a discussion about this policy, you're telling

         24  us what is going to take place in April. So, there's

         25  two different things here. Involvement is, well,
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          2  this might work, maybe this won't work. Maybe we

          3  don't do it this year, maybe we do it next year.

          4  That's a discussion. Right now you're telling me

          5  what is going to take place. Do you understand

          6  there's a difference there?

          7                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: This is the policy

          8  we've proposed to the Panel on Education. I believe

          9  it is the right policy, and I believe it's right

         10  from students, and my obligation as Chancellor is to

         11  do that. And I hope it turns out as good as I think

         12  it will be.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Well, let me

         14  end in terms of obligations. I have an obligation,

         15  and I am probably more connected with this

         16  obligation because the children that are affected by

         17  this policy and that are in the school system look

         18  more like me than they do like you, and when an

         19  elected official at this level that was elected by

         20  the people, it's constantly dissed by the

         21  Chancellor's Office. So, what's going to happen to

         22  parents on local levels that don't have access to

         23  websites that need it in a different language, what

         24  type of response are they going to get?

         25                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: We will get the
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          2  information out. Nobody is dissing you and I'm sorry

          3  you feel that way. You were invited to a briefing

          4  along with everyone else at the Council, apparently

          5  your schedule didn't allow you to come. I'm sorry

          6  you didn't have the opportunity.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you,

          8  Council Member Foster.

          9                 Council Member Vann, Liu and Recchia.

         10  We're going to have to try and go through these as

         11  quickly as possible, so if you can keep your

         12  questions brief and the answers as brief as

         13  possible, that would be helpful.

         14                 Council Member Vann.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Thank you, Madam

         16  Chair.

         17                 Good afternoon, Chancellor, Deputy

         18  Chancellor. First I'd like to address the position

         19  that Mayor Koch took on a previous panel, I guess it

         20  was supported by the other two, or maybe not, that

         21  because the state has given control of the school

         22  system to the Mayor, by extension to you, and

         23  because the Mayor is taking a position that he is to

         24  be, I guess evaluated based on what happens with the

         25  school system, that therefore we should not say
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          2  anything or do anything, that we should just let you

          3  guys run your program.

          4                 I find that to be remarkable. In

          5  fact, I find that to be remarkably absurd, that we

          6  as elected officials, as if we have no brains, we

          7  have no common sense, we don't have access to

          8  resources, we don't have any experiences, and we

          9  should just sit back, elected by the people, and let

         10  the Mayor and you run the program.

         11                 I would think that you would welcome

         12  criticism, because that's how we get a better

         13  product, we get an exchange and people have other

         14  ideas, things you may not have thought of.

         15                 So, I know this is not on you, this

         16  is on them, but I have --

         17                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: Let me make it

         18  clear to you, Council Member Vann, I welcome, I have

         19  eagerly been before this Committee, I welcome its

         20  oversight, I've briefed its members, and you know

         21  personally I have called on you on several occasions

         22  and sought your advice, your wisdom and your

         23  guidance.

         24                 So, let me be perfectly clear, I

         25  welcome the oversight, I welcome the input and I
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          2  look forward to it.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Right. And I

          4  wasn't addressing it to you, Chancellor. But thank

          5  you for that information.

          6                 Now as to the issue: Unfortunately

          7  there are experts that seem to agree or disagree on

          8  almost every issue, so it's very difficult to evoke

          9  the experts because experts on both sides, which

         10  leaves us, you know, what are we to do.

         11                 I have arrived at the conclusion that

         12  to promote or retain may be the question, but it's

         13  not the solution.

         14                 I think it's almost a distraction in

         15  a sense, because neither will solve the problem.

         16  We've had social promotion, and that didn't solve

         17  the problem. We've had retention and that hasn't

         18  solved the problem. So it has to be what you do with

         19  the children when you have them, you call the

         20  intervention.

         21                 And, so, really, we should be focused

         22  on what are we doing to make sure that every child

         23  learns? So, not whether you promote them or hold

         24  them up, what is the intervention, what's involved

         25  in that?
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          2                 In theory, listening to Deputy

          3  Commissioner, Deputy Chancellor Lam, you indicated

          4  in here all the things that you will be doing. In

          5  theory one would think that if those things are

          6  implemented well, that you would not need to focus

          7  on any particular grade. At some point in time, if

          8  the program is sound, if it's implemented well, if

          9  the resources are there, every child would learn

         10  because you have all of these things going.

         11                 I guess what you're saying in the

         12  interim, instill such time as that occur, you're

         13  trying to rally the troops and focus on a particular

         14  point, listening to the Chancellor, and, therefore,

         15  making an impact here until other things happen. Is

         16  that sort of what you were saying?

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR LAM: Yes. And by

         18  working at that third grade level, and we certainly

         19  are not forgetting the younger grades. I think that

         20  is also a critical piece that perhaps we did not

         21  emphasize enough.

         22                 We do have an intervention system for

         23  our struggling kindergarten students, first grade

         24  and second grade, but we thought it's at the third

         25  grade level that we really just want to ensure that
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          2  our students are fluent readers, good problem

          3  solvers, before going to the fourth grade.

          4                 But you are right, that better we do

          5  in lower grades, better quality early childhood

          6  programs that we have, perhaps there will be a time

          7  in this Department where we won't need to have what

          8  we have right now at grade three.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Right. Let me

         10  close. I know there are a lot of people who have

         11  questions. So let me close with this reiteration: I

         12  was at the meeting yesterday, and I made one point

         13  as we were concluding last night, I'd like to

         14  reiterate that point; and that is, it might have --

         15  I don't know if you considered that rather than

         16  retaining, since we agree that the emphasis is what

         17  we do, not whether they go or stay, it might have

         18  been more acceptable and achieve the same end if we

         19  had said that if a child does not do well on the

         20  April in third grade, that we will intervene with

         21  that child at that point, mandate that he or she

         22  goes to summer school, if that can be done, so that

         23  at the end of the summer that child will go to the

         24  next grade, except that we will have an appeal

         25  process and we can evaluate that some of those
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          2  children perhaps ought to remain in the third grade.

          3  We cause a controversy around something that doesn't

          4  make a difference, and I'm just saying if we could

          5  have taken the bite out of all of that controversy

          6  about focusing on the intervention and what we're

          7  doing with that child when we arrive at, when we

          8  know that there's a problem, a potential problem,

          9  that we would be focused on doing something rather

         10  than this time thing of holding and staying. I

         11  thought that ought to be considered, at least get

         12  some thought to the point I'm trying to make. Thank

         13  you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you,

         15  Council Member Vann.

         16                 Council Member Liu, and then Recchia.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Thank you, Madam

         18  Chair.

         19                 Chancellor, Deputy Chancellor, thank

         20  you for coming.

         21                 Right now there are students who are

         22  being held back, aren't there?

         23                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: Correct.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: So, it's not true

         25  for anybody to say that all students should expect
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          2  to move on to the next grade simply by passing time

          3  in the schools. There are students currently being

          4  left back?

          5                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: There are students

          6  currently being left back. The number is very small.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Right. If you

          8  implement this policy this year for the coming

          9  school year, do you have any idea how many students

         10  will be left back?

         11                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: Well, we're working

         12  very hard to minimize that number. I think, you know

         13  our hope is that the number will be as small as

         14  possible.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: We're not looking

         16  at holding back five percent of the students, right?

         17  Based on all the numbers that we've seen in the last

         18  few days, including the numbers we've seen today,

         19  we're looking at potentially 30 percent?

         20                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: I don't think so. I

         21  think if we look at the past numbers that we've

         22  seen, I think the numbers are closer to 15 or 18

         23  percent.

         24                 I remember --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Well, you've
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          2  already sent letters out.

          3                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: Right, but every

          4  year we send out many more letters than we actually

          5  implement. One of the reasons is obviously we want

          6  to encourage people to go to summer school, too, but

          7  usually, I will say, if you ask Macchiarola this,

          8  and I don't know the exact notice, but I think when

          9  he had the Gates in the fourth grade or something,

         10  it was probably about 12 percent that were retained.

         11  Don't hold me to that, but that's the number that

         12  comes to my mind. And, you know, again, depending on

         13  the success level we have here, that's what I would

         14  hope, we could get that number lower.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: So, you couldn't

         16  envision a scenario where 30 percent of the third

         17  graders are left back this year?

         18                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: You can envision

         19  it. I don't know what's going to happen, but I'll

         20  tell you, if it is because children are reading or

         21  doing math at level one, then I think we've got to

         22  do something, but if you're asking my best guess, I

         23  don't think it would be 30 percent.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: How many third

         25  graders are there? I'm guessing roughly 100 --
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR LAM: Eighty-five

          3  thousand.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Eighty-five

          5  thousand. And according to your number, 25,000 have

          6  been left -- well, not left back, but are in level

          7  one?

          8                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: Last year about

          9  20,000 were in level one, last year.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: You're saying the

         11  '99 and 2000 cohort, 24 to 25,000.

         12                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: And last year about

         13  20,000.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: So that's about

         15  30 percent of 85,000 kids roughly?

         16                 Between now and the exam in April,

         17  and whatever students you can pick up during the

         18  summer classes when they presumably prepare them for

         19  the August exam, are we expecting two-thirds of that

         20  30 percent to all of a sudden improve? Because

         21  that's the only way to get to that ten or 12

         22  percent.

         23                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: I don't want to

         24  argue this.

         25                 I think last year we had about 20,000
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          2  level one. Some of those are special ed, they won't

          3  be affected, some of those. So, if you look at the

          4  overall number, if you say 20,000 last year versus

          5  85,000, and then through these interventions and so

          6  forth, if it was successful in reducing that number

          7  by a significant percentage, we might be at 15

          8  percent overall.

          9                 Now, I hope we will do better. We

         10  don't know, but we've got to get started.

         11                 You know, we know that 50 percent are

         12  not graduating, that's what we know, unless we count

         13  GEDs. So, we've got to get started. We can't

         14  postpone putting the obligation on the system to

         15  start to turn this around.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Last question,

         17  Madam Chair, which is, in your testimony you stated

         18  the students that have been left back for one year,

         19  did ultimately do significantly better than the

         20  students who were allowed to continue even though

         21  they should not have been.

         22                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: I didn't say

         23  significantly. I don't want to quibble. It was about

         24  eight, nine, ten percent is what I said.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Well, that's my
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          2  question, I guess. Is the improvement due to the

          3  fact that those students were held back for a year,

          4  significant enough to say that holding them back one

          5  year was worth it?

          6                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: It's worth it if

          7  more students are better prepared for the next

          8  grade.

          9                 The reason to hold students back is

         10  not to punish the students, it's to prepare the

         11  student, and if we can increase that number by 20 or

         12  30 percent, we will be doing more for our students

         13  because they won't fall further and further behind.

         14                 I think the point that Chancellor

         15  Macchiarola made is a very important one, Council

         16  Member Liu, and I just want to repeat it. We're not

         17  doing it to punish anybody. I said at the beginning,

         18  I don't want to hold a single student back. We're

         19  doing it to prepare students so that when they get

         20  to the fourth grade they've got a fighting chance of

         21  doing fourth grade work.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: I understand

         23  we're not trying to do this to punish students,

         24  we're actually trying to make sure that they are

         25  well-equipped for their future. And I just want to
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          2  make sure, because based on the numbers that you've

          3  shown us, I am actually not convinced that in the

          4  current system that we've had, if you hold back

          5  students a year they will do significantly better,

          6  and that's the whole crux I think of what the

          7  discussion should be centered around. The fact that

          8  it's not the students necessarily who are failing

          9  the one or two exams that you're going to be holding

         10  them to, it's the fact that during the year, even if

         11  they repeat that year, they don't necessarily get

         12  the tools and the instruction that they need to gain

         13  the skills that we expect of them.

         14                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: And what I'm trying

         15  to do is focus the system on that problem by doing

         16  the interventions that Deputy Chancellor Lam has

         17  talked about, by creating for the first time a very

         18  different summer school program, by bringing, in the

         19  retention grade bringing added expertise. The only

         20  way you can do this in a system with so many

         21  problems as ours is to focus, and I think we are

         22  focused on the right issue.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: In communicating

         24  your program, I just want to urge you to be very

         25  careful, because you don't want a repeat of how the
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          2  list of 200 schools were communicated, because that

          3  was not meant to be an A list in terms of prestige

          4  or school, and, yet, that's exactly what it became.

          5  We're not trying to hurt students by holding them

          6  back, and I think we all know, and I can remember

          7  back to my school, my grade school day, anybody who

          8  was left back was extremely ostracized by their

          9  peers. So, I think we need to be sensitive to that

         10  as well.

         11                 Thank you, Madam Chair.

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR LAM: I just want to

         13  perhaps make two points to what you said?

         14                 It may be wise for us to look kind of

         15  the other side of the coin, you know, with numbers

         16  sometimes they can be deceiving. But we do know, and

         17  we know it quite well, is that promoting students

         18  really has not helped them either. So, right now

         19  what we would want to do is we would want you to

         20  hold us accountable for the quality of the

         21  interventions that we will be implementing to help

         22  our students, and we definitely will have the

         23  baseline data, we can compare how well we are doing,

         24  how not so well we are doing.

         25                 I think that right now, I mentioned
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          2  this earlier, but not to take the risk, because

          3  nothing is guaranteed. I mean, we do understand

          4  that, but not to take a risk I think is a greater

          5  risk.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: We are,

          7  unfortunately we're very much behind, so if I can

          8  ask Council members to be brief. Council Member

          9  Recchia and then Perkins and then we have to call

         10  this session to a conclusion because we already

         11  running so late.

         12                 Council Member Recchia.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Yes, Mr.

         14  Chancellor. I'll cut right to the chase and get

         15  right to my questions.

         16                 Page four of your handout, there's a

         17  chart there. On your chart for the Year 2000, it

         18  says that 43 percent level one on both tests, math

         19  and reading, correct?

         20                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: Correct.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: So that means

         22  that 58 percent are levels two, three and four,

         23  somewhere --

         24                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: No, no. Let me

         25  explain it to you, I'm sorry.
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          2                 Forty-three percent were level one on

          3  both reading and math. Twenty percent were level one

          4  on reading or ELA, and 37 percent were level one on

          5  math.

          6                 Almost all of those students who were

          7  level one on one were low level two on the other.

          8  Almost all. So, these are all students who are

          9  generally significantly below grade in either both

         10  math and reading or one or the other, but none of

         11  them are likely to be at level four, it could be one

         12  in a group of 10,000.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: All right, so

         14  you just said some students might be a level two,

         15  okay? And if somebody has a level one on math, and a

         16  level two on reading, according to this new

         17  criteria, that child has to be left behind, correct?

         18                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: If the child is

         19  level one on one, yes, because he's way behind.

         20  Level two is behind, Council Member Recchia, and as

         21  the Councilwoman asked, why don't you apply it to

         22  level twos. So, we're not talking about children who

         23  are at or close to where they need to be. We're

         24  talking about children who are either way behind or

         25  way, way behind.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Well, there

          3  are many children out there, okay, where if you do

          4  hold them back it would be psychologically

          5  devastating. I know, because I speak from

          6  experience. I was supposed to be held over, first,

          7  second, third, fourth, fifth grade. My parents

          8  fought, okay? I was never held over, I was in an

          9  extra-curricular program to help me. You know when I

         10  started to flourish? When I was in high school.

         11  That's when I started to flourish. And you know

         12  what? If this program was there I would be left back

         13  and I'll tell you something, I would have never went

         14  to law school, I would probably be hanging out on

         15  the streets in Brooklyn getting in trouble.

         16                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: Listen, I

         17  understand the point you are making, but I want to

         18  talk about our school system, and I read you the

         19  letter from the high school teachers, the fact is

         20  that more than half of our children are not getting

         21  the education. We know the facts. We're not talking

         22  about an individual case, and in any group of 10,000

         23  students, there will be somebody who turns out like

         24  you have, and I'm enormously gratified you did, but

         25  how about the other kids who are dropping out, who
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          2  as Councilman Jackson said before, are going to

          3  prison, those children are not getting the turn

          4  around. And do you think it's easier to turn around

          5  kids when they're in the third grade than when

          6  they're in high school?

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: No. But what

          8  I'm saying is that, you're going to have children

          9  who have two different scores, okay? And I think

         10  that there has to be some criteria there, okay, that

         11  we could help these children. That's what I'm

         12  saying.

         13                 I believe there are many children

         14  that's going to have a one and a three, because I've

         15  done some research on this, or a two and a three,

         16  okay? But then those children get promoted. I am

         17  most concerned about implementing this so that

         18  children have it all worked out, what they could

         19  achieve success, not where they're behind the eight

         20  ball from day one.

         21                 And you know what? I understand we're

         22  having all these other programs, they all sound

         23  great, but the bottom line is, okay, we have to give

         24  our schools more help and we have to get out there

         25  and let the parents know what's going on, because
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          2  you know what? In my community, yes, there are great

          3  teachers, and third grade, no one knows what this

          4  new process is. No one knows. When I was talking

          5  last night at a meeting about an appeals process,

          6  they looked at me like I was crazy. And I told them

          7  I would get them all information on it. But what I

          8  also want to go on is that you said that you're

          9  going to have an enrichment program, that you're

         10  going to have community-based organizations do the

         11  enrichment program, correct?

         12                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: Correct.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: And then when

         14  I asked you about the RFP, they said the RFP came

         15  out and it's on line.

         16                 Well, I went on line to try to get

         17  the RFP, and I was not successful. Why? Because

         18  Domenick Recchia does not have a contract number. I

         19  finally got it, but I don't have a contract number,

         20  and when I went out to send a memo to my

         21  community-based organization to tell them that they

         22  need a Board of Ed contract number, they don't have

         23  Board of Ed contract numbers, community-based

         24  organizations, because they don't need a

         25  community-based organization, don't need a contract
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          2  number to run programs, because they get funding

          3  from DYCD.

          4                 So, in other words, there are only

          5  selected programs that have contract numbers, from

          6  community-based organizations. So, like let's say in

          7  Coney Island, we don't want an outside program

          8  coming in to do the enrichment programs, we'd like

          9  some programs that are in Coney Island, but they

         10  don't have contract numbers, but they have DYCD

         11  contracts. You see the problem that I'm having here?

         12                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: This is something

         13  I'm happy to talk to you about. We should be able to

         14  find a solution to that.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Okay.

         16                 I just want to ask one thing, and

         17  that is, Frank Macchiarola said the whole thing is

         18  that everybody should be included and I think we

         19  have to do a better job of notifying the parents,

         20  and I'd be more than willing to work with your

         21  office on it.

         22                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: Thank you very

         23  much.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you.

         25                 Council Member Perkins will be our
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          2  last.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

          4  very much. I'm going to be quick.

          5                 My understanding is that 15,000 or

          6  more third graders are potentially going to be left

          7  back, and that clearly, at least as indicated

          8  yesterday in the meeting with you, you understand

          9  that it's a system that's failing the children, and

         10  clearly we know that class size is significant in

         11  regard to success.

         12                 What impact will this policy have on

         13  overcrowding, since these children will have to

         14  repeat grades, and if there is an impact, what are

         15  you going to be able to do about it?

         16                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: The answer to this

         17  question depend on one thing, and that's what kind

         18  of resources we get.

         19                 I'm all for lowering the class sizes

         20  where we can. I'm all for the kind of interventions,

         21  the after school and other things that Ms. Lam --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: But you do

         23  anticipate that this will have an impact on

         24  overcrowding?

         25                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: Oh, I don't think
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          2  this will have any impact on overcrowding, because

          3  these are the same children in elementary school

          4  whether they're in the third grade or the fourth

          5  grade. So the numbers won't -- that it won't affect.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay, so let

          7  me just be clear then. So, the 15,000 children will

          8  repeat the third grade?

          9                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: I hope the number

         10  is going to be lower. I mean, we're working hard.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Well, let's

         12  use that number since that's the number that seems

         13  to be --

         14                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: I just don't want

         15  to use it because I don't want it in the media that

         16  we said that's the number, but let's say if 15,000

         17  were retained, now what's the question?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I'm just

         19  trying to understand, where will they be placed?

         20                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: The same schools

         21  that they're in fundamentally.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So, they will

         23  stay in the same schools that they were in as new

         24  third graders come in?

         25                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: And there will be
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          2  more classes in the third grade and fewer classes in

          3  the fourth grade.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And the class

          5  sizes won't increase.

          6                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: No.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you,

          9  Council Member Perkins.

         10                 I want to thank you for your

         11  testimony. I have, and I hate to do this because I

         12  said it was the last question, I do want to clarify

         13  something that you said. I applaud, and you know

         14  this, Chancellor Klein, your emphasis on focus,

         15  because I think it has been lacking in recent

         16  administrations, but one of the things that happened

         17  as a result of the implementation of the fourth

         18  grade test was that principals and schools tend to

         19  put their best teachers in the year right before the

         20  fourth grade test. Are you concerned at all that the

         21  same, that implementing the anti-social promotion

         22  policy is going to potentially have that effect,

         23  that the focus, which obviously I applaud, may have

         24  unintended consequences where schools want to have

         25  their number of students held back be the smallest
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          2  number, and so they're going to make strategic

          3  decisions that may not be in the best interests of

          4  kids.

          5                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: They still have all

          6  the other imperatives. As Diana Lam has explained so

          7  many times, the development of capacity in our

          8  system is the greatest challenge we face, and we

          9  want good teachers at every grade, we don't want to

         10  play games. We also invest more in professional

         11  development than you've ever seen at any time in the

         12  City and we will continue to do so.

         13                 We're going to have everything we can

         14  do, that's why we put coaches and that's why we put

         15  one local instructional superintendent for every ten

         16  schools, we have to work with the resources we have

         17  in the system and do the best job we can.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I appreciate

         19  that, and I would just ask that you be mindful of

         20  that unintended consequences because it happened

         21  with regard to the fourth grade test.

         22                 I want to thank you very, very much.

         23                 CHANCELLOR KLEIN: Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I think it was

         25  very fruitful to have this discussion. I appreciate
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          2  the length of time that you've spent, because there

          3  are so many concerns, and I think you've clarified

          4  very ably a number of points and we look forward to

          5  an ongoing discussion about the implementation of

          6  this policy.

          7                 Thank you very, very much.

          8                 We are going to take a brief break,

          9  very brief, and then we are going to hear from

         10  Michelle Bodden and Sharon Ripley. If they could

         11  join the panel, that would be helpful.

         12                 (Recess taken.)

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I should

         14  indicate that I have spoken to Randi Weingarten on

         15  the issue of social promotion, and I know that she

         16  would have liked to be here herself, but had a prior

         17  commitment that she just couldn't get out of, so we

         18  very much appreciate your presence, and we look

         19  forward to hearing from your proposal.

         20                 If there's any way that you can

         21  summarize and sort of get to the point, just because

         22  we're running helplessly behind schedule, that

         23  would, obviously, be appreciated.

         24                 And if I could ask you both to state

         25  your names for the record so we have it on the
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          2  transcript, that would be great.

          3                 Welcome.

          4                 MS. BODDEN: Thank you. I'm Michelle

          5  Bodden, Vice President for Elementary Schools.

          6                 MS. RIPLEY: I'm Sharon Ripley, I'm a

          7  Special Representative for Educational Programs.

          8                 MS. BODDEN: I've submitted our

          9  testimony in full, but because of the time

         10  limitations, I will focus here today mainly on the

         11  recommendations.

         12                 The question of whether or not to

         13  recommend promotion for a child who is not doing

         14  well in school is one of the most troubling any

         15  teacher faces.

         16                 Most teachers think first about

         17  what's best for the child, what's best for his or

         18  her long-term academic success and also what's best

         19  for his or her healthy emotional development.

         20                 Even though we agree with the Mayor

         21  that social promotion should be ended, teachers must

         22  have a role in deciding whether students should be

         23  retained. That decision cannot be based solely on a

         24  one-day, high-stakes test.

         25                 Research and common sense tell us
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          2  that simply promoting to the next grade children who

          3  haven't mastered the basics without giving them any

          4  extra support never does any good. It also tells us

          5  that holding them back under the same conditions is

          6  equally as unlikely to improve academic achievement.

          7                 All of this is so well known among

          8  educators that it is deemed unimaginable that Tweed

          9  has not come to grips with the tough choices before

         10  now. Obviously, at this 11th our, any attempts at

         11  remediation for this school year are going to be no

         12  more than band-aids.

         13                 I do want to take a moment to point

         14  out, although this is not in the testimony, that one

         15  of the issues with the third grade this year, was

         16  the administration of ECLAS-2 in the fall took up to

         17  30 hours of instructional time from the third

         18  graders when they are going to be the ones that are

         19  now facing this promotional policy, and while we

         20  can't right the missed opportunities of the past, it

         21  is important to realize that limited add-ons are not

         22  the way to help kids who are floundering to catch

         23  up.

         24                 The system's overall early childhood

         25  instructional program must be overhauled to ensure
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          2  that all children, including those with the greatest

          3  need, get the academic and support services for

          4  which they are entitled from day one, even as early

          5  as pre-kindergarten.

          6                 In addition, many children need

          7  tailored instructional approaches, not one size fits

          8  all.

          9                 While balanced literacy done right

         10  clearly has its place for students who have acquired

         11  basic language skills, other children need a more

         12  structured program.

         13                 So, instead of belaboring the value

         14  of planned catch-up measures for the spring, or what

         15  the retention grade should be, I want to focus on

         16  how to do it best for September, so we can guarantee

         17  that services get to the kids who need them.

         18                 I'm going to make some suggestions

         19  that we at the UFT think avoid the worst pitfalls of

         20  the all or nothing consequences of either a strict

         21  retention policy or a liberal promotion policy.

         22                 It gives students not a few months a

         23  year, or a few hours a week, which appears to be

         24  Tweed's plan, but a full year of full-time enriched

         25  academic and support services.
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          2                 These services will be provided in

          3  what I'll call, for lack of a better term, a

          4  conditional fourth grade class, for those who left

          5  the third grade significantly behind.

          6                 Separate classes are not ideal in

          7  many circumstances, but in a system like ours they

          8  make it easier to provide and to monitor the

          9  intensive services and supports that are needed for

         10  the kids in this situation.

         11                 What we think makes a critical

         12  difference is avoiding the deficit model.

         13                 These classrooms must not be

         14  afterthoughts wedged in converted book rooms or

         15  isolated on the basement level.

         16                 Furthermore, if parents really

         17  believe that their children would have classes like

         18  these, with their small size, perhaps 15 students in

         19  a class, a classroom paraprofessional and a full

         20  range of support services, including counseling,

         21  family supports and health, provided by a local

         22  public health facility, we believe they would buy

         23  in. And to establish this buy-in, we propose that

         24  parents themselves should have a new relationship

         25  with the schools, where they are both welcomed and
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          2  held accountable via a signed contract for --

          3  agreement, I'm sorry -- for helping their children,

          4  just as the school is held accountable for doing its

          5  part. And then schools could train parents on how to

          6  help their children at home. The instructional

          7  program, as I mentioned, would be tailored for the

          8  needs of learners who have not gained basic skills

          9  with less structured approaches.

         10                 The instructors should be expert

         11  teachers with proven skills who are recruited for

         12  the assignment by an incentive program that would

         13  have to be negotiated between the DOE and the UFT.

         14                 This is something we have always been

         15  willing to talk about. This is the perfect example

         16  of where such an agreement would be valuable.

         17                 Now, why do I call it a conditional

         18  fourth grade?

         19                 Well, for one thing, other than the

         20  subject in which the child lags far behind, the

         21  curriculum would be grade appropriate.

         22                 This is particularly important for

         23  English language learners who may be doing much

         24  better with numbers which are universal than with

         25  reading in an unfamiliar language. But mainly it's a
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          2  condition of fourth grade because it gives students

          3  one last chance to keep ahead with their peers. Not

          4  half a chance, not a few weeks, a serious full-year

          5  chance.

          6                 Those who don't pass the conditional

          7  fourth grade should be retained in the fourth grade

          8  class, but with a guarantee that they will receive

          9  the additional services they need.

         10                 Each of those children should have a

         11  special needs instructional agreement, similar to

         12  the IEP that is used for special education students,

         13  which the parent agrees to and which is monitored

         14  regularly for compliance. It should contain the

         15  school day, before and after school instruction and

         16  other assistance that the DOE apparently plans to

         17  make the heart of its retention policy in the third

         18  grade.

         19                 Is this an expensive program?

         20  Perhaps. Although probably far less expensive than

         21  swelling existent third grade enrollment by 30

         22  percent, which could be the result of the DOE's

         23  proposed approach.

         24                 In any case, instruction must drive

         25  the budget, not the other way around. The driving
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          2  force, as in all program planning, must always be

          3  not ideology or publicity, but children's needs.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you very

          5  much for this thoughtful proposal.

          6                 I am particularly appreciative

          7  because one of the things that I have said, wherever

          8  you stand on this debate, that kind of a just say no

          9  approach doesn't really tell us well what should we

         10  be doing, and I appreciate very much the notion that

         11  you have a very concrete proposal here. I of course

         12  wish that we're in a situation where we're getting a

         13  lot of concrete proposals and they can be vetted and

         14  we can think them through and make sure the right

         15  one is being picked for our City.

         16                 So, I wanted to just start off with

         17  that comment, but I wanted to ask you the question,

         18  it seems as if your proposal is conditioned upon a

         19  concept that the Department is not acknowledging or

         20  recognizing. It seems like your proposal is

         21  conditioned on the notion that if a child is at

         22  level one, it takes more than four weeks, Monday

         23  through Thursday, nine to one, to turn that academic

         24  level around; is that a fair statement?

         25                 MS. BODDEN: Yes, I think that's a
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          2  fair statement.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And how much

          4  time does it take? I mean, that squares with my

          5  sense that when you have a child who doesn't read,

          6  it actually takes a lot of sweat equity to get that

          7  child to read. There's a lot of one on one. There's

          8  a lot of figuring out. You know, children who don't

          9  read don't read for different reasons and actually

         10  figuring out why this particular child, you know,

         11  whether it's a phonemic awareness, you know, what is

         12  the exact problem here. I mean, are you optimistic

         13  that with that extra year that would be sufficient?

         14  Or maybe it takes two years?

         15                 MS. BODDEN: I think that year would

         16  really be sufficient, because the idea is to really

         17  focus very heavily on the children who would be in

         18  these conditional classes, and, again, class sizes

         19  that are much smaller so that you do a lot of

         20  diagnostic work and a lot of one on one work in

         21  terms of what areas, particularly that each

         22  individual child needs to grow.

         23                 For example, and this was asked of

         24  the previous, of the Chancellor and the Deputy

         25  Chancellor, if a child is doing very well in reading
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          2  or in a particular skill but has issues in terms of

          3  the math, there should be some way to adjust

          4  instruction that's going to be appropriate for that

          5  child, and I think that spending this year really

          6  focused on that would make the difference for a

          7  large number of children.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And turning

          9  away for a moment from your proposal and going back

         10  to Tweed's, the interventions, I don't know if you

         11  heard all of Diana Lam's testimony, you were here,

         12  okay; what is your view of whether that is

         13  happening?

         14                 In other words, it sounds, as I said,

         15  it sounds very good. If we've got all these children

         16  in resource rooms, and we've got academic

         17  intervention services; do we have all that? I'm a

         18  little nervous that we don't. Could you give us your

         19  view?

         20                 MS. BODDEN: I don't think that in

         21  terms of what happens really happens in schools,

         22  that all of those services are being provided. I

         23  mean, there clearly are plans on paper. What happens

         24  in schools too often is that someone will be absent,

         25  something will happen, something will shift, and the
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          2  person who is there to deliver the academic

          3  intervention services then gets pulled to do another

          4  program, so their children then don't get those

          5  services. And similar things happen with resource

          6  services and other services. In the after school

          7  programs, by the end of the day, children are, you

          8  know, by the time they get to after school, so that

          9  what seemed to be a full hour of instruction does

         10  not translate into a full hour of additional

         11  instruction. And, again, that's still not touching

         12  the day program, the core program. So that while

         13  those plans look good on paper, in reality that is

         14  not the way they turn out, and too often those

         15  services are not given the way that they should be.

         16                 MS. RIPLEY: Excuse me, I just want

         17  add what especially is very important with

         18  understanding how academic intervention services

         19  have been implemented in New York City. It's not

         20  really identifiable. If you go Upstate New York you

         21  would be able to see what academic, what the

         22  particular services that a child received, but as it

         23  is implemented in New York City now, it is blended

         24  in with all the other services. So, it is very

         25  difficult to go to any given school and ask a given
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          2  teacher what does the AIS look like. You'll have

          3  people, including administrators, that will look at

          4  you and will not know exactly what it is, because

          5  that is how it was rolled out when it first came

          6  into the City, because I remember sitting at the

          7  meetings. So that's an issue.

          8                 And, also, I want to add, the issue

          9  of this fourth grade conditional class, because

         10  years ago I was one of the original Gates teachers,

         11  that was a long time ago, and the difference is

         12  having worked in Gates, all the children were held

         13  -- when the children were held back, they were held

         14  back, let's say they were identified for reading,

         15  but they were also held back in science, in social

         16  studies in mathematics.

         17                 The proposal the UFT is putting

         18  forward is saying that the children who need the

         19  help who have been identified for literacy issue,

         20  they would get the support in that, but what we're

         21  proposing is that they're not going to be held back

         22  in mathematics and science and those other issues,

         23  because if a child has language issues, that they

         24  may be excellent in mathematics, so why should they

         25  have to repeat third grade math? Why shouldn't they
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          2  be able to have fourth grade math and science and

          3  social studies so this way the child can still

          4  continue to move on and get the help that they're

          5  supposed to get?

          6                 Because after working in the Gates

          7  Program, and I worked in it, I remember, probably

          8  the early eighties, and I left in about 1988, and I

          9  saw children who were hurt desperately because they

         10  had deficiencies in reading, but they excelled in

         11  other areas, and I worked in Ocean Hill,

         12  Brownsville, and I taught seventh grade, a lot of

         13  the boys that I taught dropped out of school, and

         14  occasionally I see some of them, and I hate to say

         15  that life has been very difficult for them, and if

         16  we had at least an intervention, we're not saying

         17  that this is perfect, but it's much better than just

         18  holding them back in math.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Can I ask you

         20  a question about the ECLAS-2 that was mentioned? Is

         21  it your belief that teachers have gotten adequate

         22  training in terms of how to interpret those results?

         23                 MR. BODDEN: No, not at all. I think

         24  that a lot more needs to be done. This is a

         25  different assessment than the original ECLAS and it
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          2  was not rolled out with a sufficient amount of

          3  training, and there also wasn't the coverage times,

          4  so that classroom teachers because of a huge amount

          5  -- it's an individualized test, so it interrupted

          6  the continuity of instruction for whole classes when

          7  teachers had to spend the time, and I don't think

          8  that the value of it, because it's a very good

          9  assessment, but I don't think that the value of it

         10  has really been appreciated, because it was not done

         11  well in terms of the amount of time that it took,

         12  and the amount of preparation or professional

         13  development, that it just wasn't there. So, the

         14  teachers did the assessment, but I don't think they

         15  got out of it what was intended.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Have you heard

         17  of third grade teachers being pulled out of the

         18  classroom to grade other exams? Like the fourth

         19  grade exam?

         20                 MS. BODDEN: In some schools, because,

         21  again, the regional structure this year has altered

         22  the scoring of all of the exams, so in different

         23  schools, in different areas, teachers have been

         24  pulled out of their programs. In some instances the

         25  third grade teachers, in some instances the fourth
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          2  grade teachers, in some instances other groups of

          3  teachers, to do the scoring of the assessments. And

          4  again, at a time when the third grade, it's such a

          5  critical time because we're going into April tests,

          6  anything that's done to disrupt a third grade class,

          7  is putting those children more at risk of being held

          8  with this retention policy because the continuity of

          9  instruction will not be there for them.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: To quote the

         11  Chancellor back to you, I mean I thought his idea

         12  was very good that we want focus, but it seems it's

         13  going in the opposite direction, if you take third

         14  grade teachers out of the classroom, and it's my

         15  understanding that it's not just sort of an

         16  afternoon, that it's three or four days; is that

         17  correct?

         18                 MS. BODDEN: Yes, several days.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay.

         20                 Council Member Lopez and then Vann.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Very quick

         22  question.

         23                 Do you know about the so-called

         24  policy, because I'm going to change the name of

         25  that, I don't feel it's a policy, I think it's
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          2  highway robbery, do you know if this policy was

          3  communicated to the membership of your union?

          4                 MS. BODDEN: The membership of our

          5  union got the information from the public press and

          6  from those of them who attended the forums that the

          7  Chancellor has been having in the various boroughs,

          8  but there haven't been any other communications.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then, as far as

         10  you know, the membership of the union has never

         11  discussed with any parent that this policy is coming

         12  down the pike because they were not aware of the

         13  policy.

         14                 MS. BODDEN: No, the same amount of

         15  notice that was given to the public is the amount of

         16  notice that was given to the members.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Okay, then, the

         18  reason I'm asking that question is because in this

         19  document it says in one page here that the parents

         20  were notified. Wait. Let me read it, because I have

         21  this heavy accent and sometimes people think that I

         22  don't understand English well.

         23                 Okay, it said: "In January parents

         24  were notified in their native language if their

         25  children's performance in a school assessment result
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          2  indicate that they may not achieve promotion

          3  standards.

          4                 Most of the students are receiving

          5  small group instruction and extended time services."

          6                 Do you know if your membership is

          7  engaged in providing to those students instruction

          8  and extending time services?

          9                 MS. BODDEN: I'm not sure what they're

         10  referring to in that document. The extended time

         11  that is in the system now, and we have, we have a

         12  disagreement with the Department over this, should

         13  have been provided for small group instruction, but

         14  what happened is the school schedule is extended for

         15  all the students on Tuesday afternoon, so there's no

         16  ability to do a small group because you have the

         17  whole student body there, as opposed to focusing it

         18  on the children who need it the most.

         19                 So, if what they're saying is there's

         20  extended time, yes there's extended time. Is it

         21  small group and focused extended time? No.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Can you do a

         23  favor to the Council and to the public at large? To

         24  find out through the membership of the union, if

         25  your union membership have a conversation about this
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          2  notification to the parents and tell us is that the

          3  case?

          4                 MS. BODDEN: I will most certainly do

          5  that.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: It would be

          7  highly appreciated. Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Council Member

          9  Vann.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Yes, thank you,

         11  Madam Chair. Good afternoon.

         12                 The young lady who stated she had a

         13  seventh grade class in the Gates Program?

         14                 MS. RIPLEY: Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: I didn't

         16  understand if you felt that that was a successful

         17  program or not a successful program? I wasn't clear.

         18                 MS. RIPLEY: The Gates Program overall

         19  was not a successful program because it was not

         20  maintained properly, in terms of instructional

         21  services.

         22                 It was not a successful program

         23  because after they did the research of the students

         24  that progressed through this particular program,

         25  many of them dropped out.
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          2                 As a classroom, I was viewed as a

          3  master teacher, I believe that I worked well with

          4  the students, but overall a program that holds the

          5  children back, for example, one year the Gates held

          6  the children back for mathematics, they did that

          7  only for one year, and the children were very good

          8  readers, and again, they had to repeat all of the

          9  same classes. They became very bored. It was not an

         10  incentive, and they did not go. In fact, they went

         11  back because at seventh grade they were 16 and 15

         12  and 17 year olds in the seventh grade. So, I did not

         13  see it as successful.

         14                 Again, the proposal that we're saying

         15  here was a conditional one, is that the child would

         16  receive appropriate service in a particular area

         17  where they're deficient, but they would be able to

         18  continue in the areas where they are on grade level,

         19  in their particular subject content areas.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Right. On that

         21  point, with math perhaps being the obvious

         22  exception, if a child is not reading, or reading

         23  well, can you expect that he or she will be doing

         24  well in social studies or science? I don't know.

         25                 MS. RIPLEY: You know, again,
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          2  unfortunately the way science is taught, science is

          3  often taught by a textbook, as opposed to having,

          4  you know, experiments and all of the hands-on

          5  activities that you would see in other areas, so

          6  chances are that the child would also have

          7  difficulties if it is presented strictly in terms

          8  of, you know, reading material. But I think that you

          9  have to look at this very creatively because if the

         10  child is being held back, there is nothing worse

         11  than repeating every particular subject area and

         12  getting the same book. I experienced it, the kids

         13  said I had this already. So there has to be a way of

         14  us looking at it and being creative and being

         15  innovative in being able to present the material to

         16  the students.

         17                 My children went to public school. If

         18  I was in this situation as a parent, I would want,

         19  especially if my child had met the target in

         20  mathematics, I would not want my child to have a

         21  repeat grade three math, I would want my child to be

         22  able to accelerate. So, maybe there is a way of

         23  looking at some type of, as we talked about, a

         24  structural plan, that could also target the kids

         25  where they need it.
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          2                 I think it has to be thoughtful and

          3  meaningful. Just giving a couple of tests -- no, how

          4  do you call it, skill and drill, or test preparation

          5  is not enough.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Right. So, to

          7  conclude, I didn't read your proposal, I sort of

          8  read through it, the UFT proposal, are you saying

          9  that your conditional fourth grade, I think as you

         10  put it, you don't retain, you don't hold the kid

         11  back, in other words, you let him go with the flow,

         12  with the fourth grade flow, but you focus on the

         13  deficiency, and then by the end of that year, that

         14  child should be brought up to his appropriate level?

         15                 MS. RIPLEY: And if not, then you

         16  would have to --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Then you would

         18  consider the retention.

         19                 MS. RIPLEY: Yes, it's giving a safety

         20  net.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Right.

         22                 MS. RIPLEY: Because, again, when you

         23  look at the issue of the ECLAS, a lot of instruction

         24  time and again, ECLAS, their particular program is a

         25  good program, a good diagnostic tool, but the issue
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          2  that if of the focus, if ECLAS was driving

          3  everything that was happening in the class to a

          4  larger degree, the children have already this year,

          5  are working, you know, their backs against the wall,

          6  because they really haven't received the quality of

          7  service that they needed to have, and, again, the

          8  test is next month.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Thank you. I

         10  think our proposals are similar.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you.

         12                 We're going to have one last question

         13  and then we have another panel in particular, we

         14  have Professor Beverly Falk, who has to teach class,

         15  and, so, we need to get her on here.

         16                 Council Member Jackson.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you.

         18  I'm going to be rather quick.

         19                 You have mentioned there are school

         20  districts Upstate where you can clearly see the

         21  difference, do you have any examples of what school

         22  districts?

         23                 MS. RIPLEY: I could not give that to

         24  you clearly now, but we can get that to you and find

         25  out. That's something we can find out, what it looks
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          2  like Upstate New York.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

          4                 MS. RIPLEY: Because it was presented

          5  differently. You know, each of the districts up

          6  there had a way of developing AIS, and we were given

          7  it --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: AIS, what

          9  does that acronym stand for?

         10                 MS. BODDEN: Academic Intervention

         11  Services.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I assumed

         13  that, but I wanted to make sure. So, if you can get

         14  me the districts, I would appreciate that.

         15                 MS. BODDEN: All right.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Also, I

         17  assume that you've presented your proposal to the

         18  Chancellor; what was their reaction?

         19                 MS. BODDEN: They are intent on their

         20  proposal. They believe that their proposal is

         21  better. They did not want to take this approach.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Basically

         23  that's what they said to you?

         24                 MS. BODDEN: Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Did you come
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          2  up with this model based on any other municipality

          3  that are using this model? And if so, which ones?

          4                 MS. BODDEN: I can certainly get you

          5  some information in terms of nationally. This type

          6  of model has been used in the City in the past.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: In this City?

          8                 MS. BODDEN: In this City.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

         10                 MS. BODDEN: There has been an

         11  enrichment model, as opposed to a deficit model, for

         12  children who are struggling, and that's been done in

         13  the past, even here in New York City. But I'll

         14  certainly get information to you about other places

         15  in the State and in the country that use that kind

         16  of a model.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: So you're

         18  saying that this model has been used? It's not

         19  currently being used, but it has been used in the

         20  past?

         21                 MS. BODDEN: Right.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: If you have

         23  any specific information on that, I would appreciate

         24  that.

         25                 And I agree with you in your final
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          2  concluding comments, that instruction must drive the

          3  budget. Well, if that was the case then we would be

          4  rich.

          5                 MS. BODDEN: We would be rich.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you

          7  very much.

          8                 MS. BODDEN: Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I want to

         10  thank both of you for the testimony, and for this

         11  thoughtful proposal. I think it's a shame that there

         12  was such a quick dismissal of it, because I think

         13  you clearly have been thinking long and hard about

         14  these issues, and I would urge the Administration to

         15  welcome a variety of proposals, including this one.

         16  So thank you very much.

         17                 We're now going to hear from Beverly

         18  Falk, Jane Hirschman and Noreen Connell.

         19                 We're going to hear from Beverly Falk

         20  first because I know she has to go teach a class. We

         21  apologize for getting behind schedule.

         22                 Please state your name for the

         23  record, and please begin, Ms. Falk, because I know

         24  you're on a tight schedule.

         25                 The light has to be off for the mic
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          2  to be on.

          3                 PROFESSOR FALK: I am Beverly Falk. I

          4  am Professor of Early Childhood Education at the

          5  City College of New York, and I'm head of the

          6  graduate programs in Early Childhood Education

          7  there.

          8                 I'd also like to say that I'm a

          9  parent of two children who went through the New York

         10  City public schools and I am the Founding Director

         11  of a New York City Public School, PS 51 in the

         12  Bronx.

         13                 No important decision about

         14  children's lives should ever be made on the basis of

         15  one test. The academic community and a wide range of

         16  professional associations, among them the American

         17  Educational Research Association, the American

         18  Psychological Association, the National Council on

         19  Evaluation and Measurement, the National Research

         20  Council, the National Association for the Education

         21  of Young Children, the International Reading

         22  Association, the National Council of Teachers of

         23  English, and the National Council of Teachers of

         24  Mathematics, is absolutely unanimous that retention

         25  based on one test is wrong.
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          2                 Hundreds of studies demonstrate that

          3  grade retention does not help student learning, and

          4  in fact has harmful effects. These studies have

          5  found that children who are retained have lower

          6  achievements than those with comparable scores who

          7  were moved on to the next grade.

          8                 They are at greater risk for dropping

          9  out. One retention increases the likelihood of a

         10  student dropping out by 40 to 50 percent. A second

         11  retention increases this risk by 90 percent.

         12                 And, finally, studies have shown that

         13  children who have been retained have lower self

         14  esteem, more negative attitudes toward school, and

         15  greater disciplinary difficulties than other

         16  children.

         17                 The Mayor's retention policy is the

         18  wrong policy:

         19                 1) because retention makes children

         20  repeat and experience what didn't work the first

         21  time with very little change.

         22                 2) The retention decision is based on

         23  the results of one pencil and paper test, which

         24  early childhood and measurement experts widely agree

         25  there's a limited and frequently flawed means of
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          2  finding out what children know and can do.

          3                 3) Grade retention does not take into

          4  account that children develop in different ways at

          5  different rates, and that their skills often don't

          6  consolidate until well into the fourth grade.

          7                 Grade retention is a simplistic

          8  answer to a complex set of problems. It is a

          9  politician's policy; it is not an educator's policy.

         10                 I offer two alternatives: One, make

         11  sure that all important decisions about children's

         12  lives are based on a range of evidence and careful

         13  consultation between teachers, students and their

         14  families, not after the fact, as the appeals process

         15  now added to the Mayor's proposal provides, but

         16  before any decision is made.

         17                 And, two, use the $200 million that

         18  retaining this year's third graders will cost to

         19  provide more resources and support for children,

         20  their teachers and their schools.

         21                 Only this more comprehensive approach

         22  will enable us to educate all children to succeed,

         23  to realize their hopes and to reach their dreams.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you.
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          2                 Usually we hear from all the

          3  panelists, but I know you have to go teach. So, I

          4  have one quick question. I'd like to ask you many,

          5  but I know that you have to leave, and of course, we

          6  want to hear from other panelists who have been very

          7  patient.

          8                 Could you give me any sense of

          9  reaction to this concept of kindergarten plus as an

         10  alternative? Are you familiar with that? And is that

         11  something that should be considered?

         12                 PROFESSOR FALK: Kindergarten Plus is

         13  really kindergarten retention called something else.

         14  There have been studies that have shown that when

         15  children are retained in a grade, they don't do as

         16  well as the children with the exact same kinds of

         17  educational issues who are moved forward.

         18                 In fact, a colleague of mine from the

         19  University of Michigan, just sent the Mayor and his

         20  educational policy a summary of a study that he had

         21  just completed about kindergarten retention, and it

         22  demonstrated, with very, very strong results, that

         23  the children who were kept back in a kindergarten

         24  plus-type situation, did not do as well as children

         25  who were moved on with other children who were their
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          2  age.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: But I guess I

          4  don't understand what your alternative is. It

          5  doesn't sound like an alternative because, yes, if

          6  we lived in an ideal world, and provided all of the

          7  kids with Universal Pre-K and it was quality

          8  Universal Pre-K, and if we had, all kindergarten

          9  teachers were wonderfully trained, then you know, we

         10  hit all of the special ed services we need, wouldn't

         11  you imagine, based on the National Institute of

         12  Health Study that we're still going to have a

         13  percentage of kids who do not, quote, learn to read

         14  naturally, and is the answer in your view to have

         15  them in fourth grade even if they can't do the work?

         16                 PROFESSOR FALK: I'm not talking about

         17  children learning to read naturally. I'm talking

         18  about children learning to read with the supports of

         19  well qualified teachers who are then given

         20  professional support to support children's literacy

         21  and other learning.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Let's take a

         23  school where they have what I consider more or less

         24  infinite resources, the Daltons and Breerlys, are

         25  there not kids in those schools that have tremendous
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          2  resources that can't do the grade level work? For

          3  whatever reason.

          4                 PROFESSOR FALK: The supports for

          5  children who are struggling in different areas, or

          6  have developmental delays, can be very carefully

          7  targeted programs, in differentiated instruction by

          8  qualified teachers who can help move children

          9  forward.

         10                 There are ways to do that, not only

         11  in the Daltons, but in public schools right here in

         12  the City --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I think it

         14  would be really helpful for the Committee to have

         15  those specifics. And we don't need it all now, but

         16  if you have thoughts, I would welcome, I would ask

         17  that you provide the Committee with the

         18  alternatives.

         19                 One of the things that was very

         20  helpful about the UFT proposal, is it's a proposal.

         21  It's something to wrap our minds around what we

         22  should be doing and I think that's really what the

         23  Committee is committed to doing, because I don't

         24  think we can just say no to something, I think we

         25  have to have a very specific alternative.
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          2                 PROFESSOR FALK: If I might point out,

          3  in my second point, on the second page of my

          4  statement, I listed a number, a whole paragraph of

          5  suggested programs and other kinds of initiatives

          6  that can be undertaken.

          7                 I didn't read them because I was told

          8  my statement could be two minutes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I just think

         10  it's obviously more complex than more, right? I

         11  mean, the answer can't simply be more services, I

         12  think we need to specify exactly what's going to

         13  work and what's not going to work, and what about

         14  the population, who even if you have an ideal set of

         15  programs, are going to slip through the cracks.

         16                 I cite the NIH, because I do think

         17  that's an important statistic, and they estimate

         18  that between 20 and 40 percent, even if you were

         19  providing this ideal education, are going to have

         20  learning issues that are not easily solved even with

         21  ordinary support services. It's very difficult to

         22  teach those children to read, and we're going to

         23  have to do something more.

         24                 One other -- oh, I guess that was my

         25  main question. Council Member Jackson I know has a
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          2  question.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you.

          4  And thank you for coming and listening and

          5  participating in this serious discussion on this

          6  matter.

          7                 And I see here one of your

          8  suggestions was sort of like the same suggestions I

          9  made that it should not be one test, it should be,

         10  you know, the educators sitting down and evaluating

         11  the child based on the test, based on the work and

         12  everything, to determine whether or not the child

         13  should be promoted or not and up front and not after

         14  the fact.

         15                 And here's my question to you:

         16  Assuming that you're a member of the Education

         17  Policy Panel that's going to vote on this on March

         18  15th, knowing that either/or, and nothing in

         19  between, I mean based on the testimony that I've

         20  been given thus far, the Chancellor has now put into

         21  place an appeals process, and I think that that only

         22  happened due to pressure by people testifying and

         23  expressing their opposition to the proposed policy.

         24                 Do you think it would be better to

         25  implement this policy, or just to leave it as it is?

                                                            161

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  Because the debate is whether or not, you know, our

          3  kids overall are being failed right now, as far as

          4  they're not making the grade, and we can point to

          5  the system for not educating them properly, along

          6  with, I assume, in my opinion lacking at home also,

          7  and I say that very seriously and people don't talk

          8  about that subject area.

          9                 But if you had to vote right now in

         10  either moving forward with the policy as it exists,

         11  or leaving things the way they are, how would you

         12  vote? And please support your answer to me.

         13                 PROFESSOR FALK: Councilman, I would

         14  vote against this policy, because all of the studies

         15  that have been done, of the hundreds of studies that

         16  have been done over the last 25 years, all of them

         17  show that retaining children in grade does not help

         18  them and, in fact, has harmful effects.

         19                 We must find other ways to use the

         20  resources, the $200 million that this proposal is

         21  going to cost, just for this year's third graders,

         22  could be put into more resources and professional

         23  development for teachers so they can better support

         24  children.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Yes, I hear
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          2  what you're saying. That's the ideal situation. But

          3  I gave you a scenario, one or the other: I mean, do

          4  you think that continuing to promote our children,

          5  and when half of them are failing out of the system,

          6  it's something that we should continue doing?

          7                 I mean, I would say that the

          8  resources need to be put in place and we need to

          9  have those resources, that's what we've been

         10  fighting for, that's what I've been fighting for,

         11  but it appears as though the Chancellor and

         12  Education Policy Panel is either going to vote this

         13  policy up or down?

         14                 PROFESSOR FALK: I would vote this

         15  policy down.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay, thank

         17  you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you,

         19  Professor Falk.

         20                 Now we're going to hear from our

         21  other two panelists.

         22                 PROFESSOR FALK: Thank you very much

         23  for accommodating me.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Jane Hirschman

         25  and Noreen Connell, if you could state your name and
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          2  affiliation for the record.

          3                 MS. HIRSCHMAN: Thanks. I'm Jane

          4  Hirschman. I'm from Time Out From Testing, which is

          5  a statewide coalition citing the use of a single

          6  score for promotion or graduation. We have parents

          7  in the Coalition, we have educators, unions,

          8  community groups, religious groups and even some

          9  Council members are in this Coalition.

         10                 I just want to say before I start

         11  that I really do appreciate the direction you're

         12  going in right now, because I think you're

         13  struggling with we know this is a bad policy, what

         14  are we going to do with all the children who have

         15  not been taught in this City, and that's a

         16  curriculum discussion and I can't believe it's taken

         17  us hours to get there, because that's really the

         18  discussion that we should be having in this room,

         19  how to teach our children, how to give them what

         20  they deserve.

         21                 But, unfortunately, the Mayor and the

         22  Chancellor of New York have decided to leave behind

         23  15,000 eight-year-olds based on no evidence that

         24  what they propose will improve the education of

         25  those retained, and I think that's the major point.
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          2                 And as Beverly has said, all the

          3  evidence proves to the contrary. The only group that

          4  she left out were the -- actually the opinions of

          5  the testing companies, they themselves have said,

          6  the people who make this test say, warn against

          7  using them as the sole criterion for promotion. I

          8  think that has to really be addressed and listened

          9  to, if they're saying do not use these scores for

         10  promotion. We are becoming a totally test-driven

         11  state. Our high school students must have five high

         12  stakes regents in order to get out of high school.

         13                 Since that policy was put into

         14  effect, our drop-out rate is soaring, our graduation

         15  rate is at the bottom of the barrel. We now rate

         16  45th in the country in terms of graduation rate.

         17  We're with Mississippi and South Carolina, and

         18  that's really, we're at that point because of the

         19  use of the single score for graduation.

         20                 And the children most drastically

         21  affect the scores of the children of color in under

         22  resourced communities, that's no surprise. And now

         23  our Mayor is trying to establish a retention policy

         24  for eight year olds based on the scores of their

         25  first standardized tests ever taken in their young
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          2  little lives, and if you know anything about eight

          3  year olds, you know that their development is quite

          4  uneven. One day they'll be a one, three weeks later

          5  they'll be a two. Two boys could say to each other

          6  when they walk into a test, let's race to the

          7  finish, let's see who gets done first. Well, that

          8  will cause them a one. Somebody's cat could have

          9  died the night before, they're very upset, they

         10  didn't get much sleep, they could be a one. They

         11  could be dyslexic, learning-disabled student. Great

         12  in math, but my own family, I have three kids who

         13  are all learning disabled, they were all number one

         14  in third grade, they scored a 17. A 17 as a number

         15  one. They would never have gotten out of third

         16  grade.

         17                 Two of them have graduated with

         18  honors from Ivy-League colleagues, they're severely

         19  dyslexic. They're math whizzes, but they in third

         20  grade could not score on the third grade

         21  standardized test, which is the same test that's

         22  being used today. They would be left back.

         23                 Okay, well, when you look at the

         24  scores of this year's fourth grade statewide test,

         25  you will see a huge improvement, in some schools a
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          2  50 percent rise in scores, some of the children

          3  taking these tests were last year's number ones, we

          4  did not have to lead back 15,000 children, did we?

          5                 And the Chancellor is now attempting

          6  to raise test scores by hiring Princeton Review to

          7  the tune of $8 million, and the test becomes the

          8  curriculum. Test Prep now passes as New York City's

          9  new education policy. This is a very sad critique of

         10  our educational system. It is the truth.

         11                 The Chancellor even announced that he

         12  found 8 million more dollars just this month, a

         13  month before the exam, to be used for the 31,000

         14  children at risk of failing tests. This comes to

         15  $250 a child. How sinister.

         16                 And once they fail, they can appeal

         17  if they are lucky enough to even know there is such

         18  a process, and once they appeal they can look

         19  forward first to the shame and humiliation of being

         20  labeled a number one, and then a summer filled with

         21  a diet of test prep, not an enriched meal of

         22  creative thinking, reading and writing. A

         23  test-driven curriculum is not an education, our

         24  children are being shortchanged.

         25                 Let me leave you with this message,
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          2  and this thought. If I gave the Mayor's child a

          3  medicine to cure her illness, a medicine which every

          4  medical authority warned against, and in fact it had

          5  been previously tested with devastating outcomes, I

          6  would be accused of malpractice. I'd be sued for

          7  millions of dollars, and my license would be

          8  revoked.

          9                 The Mayor's third grade retention

         10  policy is education malpractice.

         11                 You cannot allow this policy to go

         12  forward. I urge the City Council to pass Resolution

         13  152, send a strong message to Mayor Bloomberg and

         14  Chancellor Klein, the elected officials in this City

         15  will do everything in their power to protect the

         16  children of New York.

         17                 You must speak for us, the parents

         18  and the children. I thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you.

         20  Noreen Connell.

         21                 MS. CONNELL: Thank you. I'm Noreen

         22  Connell. I'm testifying on behalf of the Educational

         23  Priorities Panel.

         24                 I have three pages of testimony and I

         25  think a lot of people are sort of wacky-une and
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          2  getting drowsy from all the talking, so I'm just

          3  going to make a few points.

          4                 The first one is, I don't know why

          5  the Chancellor responded to the Deputy Majority

          6  Speaker in saying that grade retention would not

          7  increase overcrowding.

          8                 If you think of elementary school as

          9  being seven grades, and a certain portion of a grade

         10  is held over, they're not going to graduate in seven

         11  years, they're going to graduate in eight.

         12                 So, it doesn't increase overcrowding.

         13  And this was one of the factors for the sort of slow

         14  melt-down of the first Gates Programs. We had three

         15  grade retention programs here in New York City.

         16                 EPP did a study of grade retention

         17  across the country, and New York City, as well as

         18  other large cities were all multiple experimenters.

         19  None of these grade retention programs ever last

         20  longer than three years. It's very funny, all begin

         21  with pronouncements from the Mayors and the

         22  Chancellors and the Superintendents,

         23  bla-bla-bla-bla, and then three years later, after

         24  all the damage is done, more and more children are

         25  promoted.
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          2                 So, I also want to say that tomorrow

          3  I will deliver to Councilwoman Eva Moskowitz, to

          4  other members of the City Council, the

          5  school-specific numbers of children and how they're

          6  testing on the fourth grade state test. We have it

          7  all school specific, and I can tell you that within

          8  community school districts, the same community

          9  school districts, you have schools where zero to one

         10  or two percent are testing at level one, and then

         11  you have other schools where 20 percent of the

         12  children are testing at level one.

         13                 One of the reasons, one of the main

         14  points in our testimony, is that there is such

         15  dramatic differences among schools, in terms of the

         16  proportion of children, who are testing at level

         17  one. So, when you put in these grade retention

         18  policies, who are the kids that are going to be

         19  hurt? They're going to be the kids attending

         20  low-performing schools. They're going to be the ones

         21  where ten percent to 20 percent of the kids are

         22  testing at level one. That is not a child's problem,

         23  that is a school problem.

         24                 When you go to the suburban areas,

         25  even the ones that are majority African American and
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          2  Latino, even the ones that are under-funded, and I'm

          3  talking about the suburban, they have one percent,

          4  two percent kids testing at level one.

          5                 Why? Because their class sizes are at

          6  17. I will also forward you, and can give you the

          7  State Education Department data on class sizes in

          8  New Rochelle. See how many kids are testing at New

          9  Rochelle at Level 1. Very, very few.

         10                 So, our recommendations really, is to

         11  have the Gates Programs for school, to really zero

         12  in on those schools, almost like a Chancellor's

         13  district, you know, done again, but zero in on the

         14  schools that are manufacturing kids, in essence,

         15  that are testing in such large numbers at level one.

         16  Because level one testers essentially can't read,

         17  and you shouldn't have that many children at the

         18  third grade who aren't reading.

         19                 There will always be children who are

         20  having difficulties at third grade. But you don't

         21  have 20 percent, no, and in fact, you shouldn't even

         22  have ten percent of the kids testing at level one.

         23  Even children with language difficulties shouldn't

         24  have that many.

         25                 So, I can give you a school by
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          2  school, if you want a sample, just so that you can

          3  look at the huge variation among schools, in terms

          4  of level one testing.

          5                 I just want to end with this point;

          6  and that is, many members of the Educational

          7  Priorities Panel, were a coalition of 28 groups,

          8  worked at the Board of Ed during the Gates Program.

          9  And in preparing this testimony, and the letter to

         10  the Mayor, many of them shared their firsthand

         11  experiences with the Gates program.

         12                 Chancellor Macchiarola was not

         13  prepared for 16,000 children being held back, and

         14  then the Board of Ed was definitely not prepared for

         15  what happened next, which is the children that were

         16  held back, still couldn't pass the gates promotional

         17  standards, so the question became holding the

         18  children back a second time.

         19                 And the problem is, when a child in a

         20  low-performing school, part of the reason that child

         21  is testing at level one, that low-performing school

         22  is giving that child the intervention services. How

         23  well, since they aren't doing a very good job from

         24  September to June, how well do you think they're

         25  implementing the remediation services, all right?
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          2  How well do you think they're doing that?

          3                 Then what happens is all these

          4  children who are held back a year, they're not

          5  testing out at level one, they didn't have a level

          6  one system back then, but they couldn't meet the

          7  promotional criterion to the fifth and the eighth

          8  grades. So then the school system has to think,

          9  well, we have to hold them again, and then you have

         10  children who are held over twice, an absolute recipe

         11  for dropping out.

         12                 And then some of those children,

         13  after two years in the same grade, still don't meet

         14  the criteria, and then what they do is they allow

         15  for social promotion and the program is essentially

         16  dead.

         17                 That's what we found in Dade County,

         18  Washington, D.C., Chicago -- I mean, the research is

         19  pretty conclusive, but let me tell you, so is just

         20  reviewing grade retention programs in all these big

         21  cities, they don't last. They don't last.

         22                 Very, very last point, the Gates

         23  Program was not underfunded. No one at EPP remembers

         24  that program being underfunded in the first two or

         25  three years. It was very well funded. A lot of
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          2  energy went into making that program a success, and

          3  in fact, it was a sort of sad thing for the

          4  Chancellor Levy's Administration. He spent a lot of

          5  time trying to fix up Giuliani's grade retention

          6  program, and in fact it sort of sucked up all the

          7  oxygen in the air, so much energy went to try to

          8  perfect that grade retention program, and it's so

          9  sad that this Chancellor is going to be using all

         10  this time, if it's adopted, instead of trying to get

         11  the kinks out of the system, and getting the system

         12  to work, he's going to be spending his time on this

         13  program that's just not going to work.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you very

         15  much. You've both made a number of very insightful

         16  points and helpful points, and I'm going to start

         17  just by saying to Jane Hirschman, that I think you

         18  and your organization have played a vital role in

         19  putting a spotlight on the whole testing problem in

         20  general, and it is the intention of this Committee

         21  to deal with the issue of testing in general, and,

         22  you know, what are we really doing to our children.

         23  What happened to performance-based standards in

         24  schools? There's a much larger issue, obviously

         25  social promotion is sort of one tiny piece of that.

                                                            174

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  Obviously we're dealing with this now because of the

          3  political immediacy decision that's going to be made

          4  very, very shortly, but I wanted to say that I

          5  really believe you made -- although I don't agree

          6  with everything you said, I do think you've made a

          7  very critical and very important contribution to

          8  have us focused, because a lot of money and a lot of

          9  time is being spent on a very narrow endeavor, and I

         10  would hate to see us continue on this path where

         11  education becomes such a narrow undertaking.

         12                 In terms of some of the specific

         13  points that were made, I guess I'd like to ask the

         14  same question that I asked Michelle Bodden, and I

         15  don't know if either of you feel prepared to speak

         16  to it, but how much -- I mean, what they're

         17  proposing, as I understand it, is a four-week plan

         18  Monday through Thursday nine to one; can either of

         19  you speak to whether that is going to get kids from

         20  level one to let's say level two? And if so, what

         21  percentage? Because one of the things we've learned

         22  from Harold Levy Summer School Program is that was a

         23  lot of money, and the results were incredibly

         24  anemic. Do you care to offer any predictions? And

         25  presumably you're not arguing that zero percentage
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          2  would improve, but do you believe that their numbers

          3  are accurate? And if so, what value do you place on

          4  whatever success they may have?

          5                 MS. HIRSCHMAN: I mean, our

          6  organization is taking a very strict stance. Nobody

          7  is for social promotion, let's start there, and

          8  social promotion is a really political construct.

          9  It's a deflection from the real issue, which is how

         10  do you educate children. I mean that is the issue,

         11  and everybody is throwing around the word social

         12  promotion, right? But that is not the issue. The

         13  issue is taking these children who need help. I

         14  mean, my children all went to public school, they

         15  all needed help. Now, I had the resources to give

         16  them that, but with this $200 million, you could get

         17  every one of those 15,000 children the same health

         18  that my children got without being retained. You can

         19  take them out of their heterogeneous classes, I

         20  don't believe putting them in homogeneous classes is

         21  the right way to go, because then they're labeled

         22  and there are certain expectations the teachers

         23  have, and children need to be mixed together because

         24  children have expertise in one area and maybe not

         25  expertise in another, and they should be together in
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          2  one classroom. But you could make smaller class

          3  sizes, you can bring in better resources, you can

          4  give them during the school day exactly what they

          5  need on a one-to-one basis, in the areas that they

          6  most need help. It's not rocket science. I mean, I

          7  really think we can do it. We have the resources,

          8  every time the test comes up, we find millions more

          9  to prep for the test. It's not solving the problem.

         10  Our children aren't reading. They don't love to

         11  read. They're doing formulaic essays that will never

         12  get them anywhere in the real world, they don't have

         13  to do research projects, nothing anymore. All class

         14  trips are being cut back because we have to prepare

         15  for the tests. A lot of money is going into testing,

         16  and we could use it in the classroom. We have the

         17  money to do it, and we have a lot of experts in this

         18  City who could devise a program for children.

         19                 MS. CONNELL: At EPP we had a very

         20  intense conversation about the very question you

         21  asked, and a lot of our members didn't like me

         22  giving them an answer, and the reason the testimony

         23  focuses so much on ensuring success, and that's what

         24  suburban school districts do, they put all their

         25  resources into ensuring success and then with the
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          2  few children that are having severe problems, then

          3  they do something, is that when you really look at

          4  the research, the well done research, and hundreds

          5  of millions of dollars were spent, starting in the

          6  early 1970s, trying to document the success of

          7  remediation efforts funded by Title 1, and do you

          8  know what the results were? None, no success.

          9                 Then the Board of Ed had to, for

         10  Title 1 purposes, give what the grade, curvative --

         11  it's curve norm, what is that term? It's when you

         12  compare how children are on the bell curve. That's

         13  normal curve equivalence.

         14                 Anyway, it's a very sophisticated way

         15  of measuring progress. And they had to show all

         16  funded Title 1 remediation efforts, and how much the

         17  gains were, to quantify the gains. And with some

         18  children made a lot of gains through remediation,

         19  and when you aggregated all the data, there were so

         20  many children that had poor remediation that it

         21  wiped out the children that were helped. So that

         22  when you looked at, at that time 120 million was

         23  being spent for remediation, so the gains that were

         24  made by students in remediation, were zero.

         25                 So you have to think, it's like take
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          2  an aspirin and get better tomorrow, we'll give this

          3  intervention and this will work, because we've

          4  labeled that it's working, but you really, really

          5  have to work hard to make sure that children

          6  succeed, because once they do not succeed, it takes

          7  an enormous effort for them to succeed, to that

          8  situation to turn out. So, that's why you really,

          9  really don't want -- you want to focus on fewer

         10  children failing and that's why you really want to

         11  identify the schools that fail so many children.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you.

         13                 Council Member Jackson and Lopez.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Yes, thank

         15  you.

         16                 Noreen, I would appreciate it if you

         17  gave us a list, because I don't know, you know, I'm

         18  not in the field of education, I really don't know,

         19  a list of all of the municipalities or cities you

         20  said indicated that the retention programs, or Gates

         21  program that they put in place only last about three

         22  years. I'm curious as to if in fact it only lasts

         23  for three or four years, what did they fall back to

         24  then after they got rid of it?

         25                 So, if you can --
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          2                 MS. CONNELL: I'll tell you right now.

          3  They fell back to a policy that was in name only.

          4                 In other words, they said they had

          5  the policy in place, but most children were

          6  promoted.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Oh.

          8                 MS. CONNELL: So, it was only when

          9  they formally rescinded a policy that they

         10  reintroduced a new policy.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: So do you

         12  think you have that information that you could share

         13  with us the cities that put it in place? Like, for

         14  example, what years, how long did it last, and what

         15  was their policy? Because I'm curious to know that

         16  information.

         17                 Also, you indicated like New

         18  Rochelle, that even with the large minority

         19  population, that the percentage of students at level

         20  one was very low, compared to, you know, for

         21  example, districts in New York City, so if you could

         22  share that information also, as specific as

         23  possible, I would appreciate it.

         24                 MS. CONNELL: We have it by the

         25  school. We'll give you the data. It's on the website
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          2  from the State Education Department. They hide it.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Also, it

          4  appears as though I've heard testimony from people

          5  that have come up and you've indicated that your

          6  children, it seemed as though that had some reading

          7  difficulty in third, would never have passed exams,

          8  did you say they had or they were determined to have

          9  dyslexia; is that correct? Well, it appears as

         10  though I hear that story over and over and over

         11  again. Are we not evaluating our children early

         12  enough to make a determination what their special

         13  needs are? That's what I'm concluding?

         14                 MS. HIRSCHMAN: I think a lot of

         15  children, their learning disabilities go undetected,

         16  they become number 1's, get retained, left back,

         17  they feel horrible. Typically boys start acting out,

         18  no one is catching that it's a learning disability.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: What does it

         20  cost to evaluate someone for dyslexia, for example?

         21                 MS. HIRSCHMAN: Well, you have a whole

         22  special ed department that's supposed to be doing

         23  it, except the problem is they can't even find the

         24  files, so they don't even know who they're supposed

         25  to be testing.
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          2                 This is under the new Chancellor. You

          3  know, he set up a system, he took over a system, he

          4  tore it apart, he put it back together and now kids

          5  are going undetected, you can't find their files. I

          6  tried to get my daughter's file because I need it

          7  for college, she's entering college next year, they

          8  don't know where the file is. She's been in the

          9  system forever.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Now, the

         11  Chancellor referred to the report by Clinton, taking

         12  the responsibility for ending social promotion. I

         13  assume that you know about this, and I and my staff

         14  printed the entire report out, I'm going to look

         15  through it. What's your assessment based on him, I

         16  guess, making reference to this report?

         17                 MS. HIRSCHMAN: I haven't read it, so

         18  I can't --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Noreen,

         20  anything?

         21                 MS. CONNELL: Well, I do, because the

         22  person who, the intern who helped us do this review

         23  of other districts was very familiar with that, with

         24  that policy that the president issued, and I think

         25  what it is is that grade retention, to us, there's
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          2  an element of it of merit, of reward, that's why

          3  people keep going back to grade retention policies

          4  because it seems to work, but when you have so many

          5  failures and you don't have a successful grade

          6  retention program that can be pointed to in the

          7  country --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Council Member

          9  Jackson, can I just add a word? You brought up the

         10  question and I didn't have time to make a comment on

         11  it, but actually on page seven of that report, and

         12  this wasn't quoted in the testimony, it says that

         13  although he supported ending social promotion,

         14  student promotion decisions should not be based on a

         15  single high-stakes assessment alone.

         16                 I just want to clarify that I printed

         17  it out also from the web. I'm not sure if the pages

         18  are exactly the same, but there was an omission

         19  there that I think was important.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Oh, I believe

         21  you. Even what's her name, Dr. Sanford, the Regent,

         22  Regent Sanford indicated in testimony that she gave

         23  at C. Virginia Fields' hearing that the regulations

         24  of the State of New York said there should not be

         25  one test to determine promotion.

                                                            183

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2                 MS. CONNELL: The testers say that.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And the

          4  testers say that.

          5                 Now, Noreen, I'm torn between, and

          6  I'm sorry, this is my last question, I'm torn

          7  between we're failing our children without a doubt.

          8  That is absolutely clear in my mind.

          9                 MS. CONNELL: Absolutely.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And as a

         11  layperson, and I'm not in the field of education, I

         12  don't think that we can continue to just push kids

         13  forward and they're failing.

         14                 MS. CONNELL: Absolutely.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I mean, we

         16  can't continue to do that.

         17                 MS. CONNELL: Absolutely.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And I asked

         19  the question, you were here when I said to the other

         20  colleague, you know, if you had to vote on this,

         21  like Jackie Kamin is going to have to vote, she

         22  represents Manhattan. She's going to have to vote

         23  either yes or no on the policy. Knowing that that's

         24  the way it is. So, if I was on there, you would

         25  recommend that I vote no. I would assume that.
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          2                 MS. CONNELL: That's right, I will

          3  tell you that. And I would say I would vote no until

          4  most schools in New York City had the same sort of

          5  testing, same sort of proportion of children testing

          6  at level 1, because when you have these grade

          7  retention policies, right, all you're doing is

          8  you're massively impacting the kids that are in

          9  low-performing schools.

         10                 If you had more, most schools in New

         11  York City have the same proportion, let's say five

         12  percent or six percent or testing at level one,

         13  fairly everywhere, right? Or even the more affluent

         14  zero, but in most of, you know, the boroughs and the

         15  working class neighborhoods and the poor

         16  neighborhoods there was six to seven percent of kids

         17  grade retention good have a debate. But that's not

         18  what's going on. There are areas where 20 percent of

         19  the kids are testing at level one, and this doesn't

         20  include left kids who are exempted from this,

         21  English language learners. So, all you really hurt

         22  are the kids who are already in low-performing

         23  schools. And by the way, in these low-performing

         24  schools, you walk three blocks from there and there

         25  will be a school where maybe five to six percent are
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          2  being held back.

          3                 So, as long as the schools are not

          4  being held accountable, as long as some schools have

          5  four times the numbers of kids being held over,

          6  testing at level one, why implement this policy?

          7  You've got to have a better quality control, shall

          8  we say, in the schools before you implement

          9  something like this, because you're just making the

         10  kids who are already victims double victims.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

         12                 I'm sorry, one more question.

         13                 Now, you know we're considering two

         14  resolutions in front of us; the resolution put

         15  forward by Margarita Lopez and the resolution put

         16  forward by Eva Moskowitz. Are you aware of the two

         17  resolutions? And what's your opinion as to either

         18  one or the other?

         19                 Because can we vote on both and vote

         20  yes up, or which one would you feel is the most

         21  appropriate one? And either one of you can respond.

         22                 I'm sorry, this is a tough question,

         23  but I've got to ask this question because I want to

         24  hear their opinion.

         25                 MS. HIRSCHMAN: Well --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And make it

          3  short, please.

          4                 MS. HIRSCHMAN: I will. The difference

          5  between the two is that Margarita Lopez' resolution

          6  says to reject the policy of the Mayor. Eva's is

          7  well intended and says a lot of good things but says

          8  let's reconsider. Reconsider, you know, is a strange

          9  word, either you're for it or you're against it,

         10  because we're about to go into these tests, at least

         11  it's going to happen to little eight year olds. It's

         12  going to happen, we have to take a stand on it.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay. I hear

         14  you.

         15                 Okay, thank you very much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I would just

         17  urge, Council Member Jackson, that you carefully

         18  read the resolution because I think that's a slight

         19  mischaracterization of it.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay, I will.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: But I don't

         22  want to get into that here.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: It actually

         25  has some fairly detailed constructive proposals as
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          2  to what should be done. But in any case, I want to

          3  turn the floor over to Council Member Lopez, who has

          4  been very patiently waiting.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And we also

          7  have the Borough President who has joined us and we

          8  want to make sure to get her on in a timely fashion,

          9  and we have one more panel.

         10                 Council Member Lopez.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Just before I

         12  say anything, I want to say Borough President of

         13  Manhattan, Manhattan Borough President C. Virginia

         14  Fields is awesome, because she approved a budget

         15  recommendation that eliminates the money to sustain

         16  this policy and we voted in the borough board to

         17  make that happening I believe two weeks ago,

         18  therefore, you were on the money sister when you

         19  were there first. Thank you.

         20                 The second thing that I want to say,

         21  I need to make a public acknowledgment here. I need

         22  to take time out from testing for educating

         23  Margarita Lopez about what is clearly this issue

         24  about, and I want to thank Jane, and I want to thank

         25  each and every one of you who have taken the time to
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          2  educate me for the last two years on this issue, and

          3  forever I will be grateful for what you have teached

          4  me.

          5                 Thank you very much, to each and

          6  every one of you.

          7                 Then saying that, I just need to know

          8  from both of you, first of all, when did you, as

          9  individuals, learn about this proposed policy?

         10                 MS. HIRSCHMAN: Well, I must confess,

         11  I was not listening to the Mayor's State of the

         12  City, so I did not hear it January when he proposed

         13  it in his State of the City, but I did read it in

         14  the paper and heard about it after that. So, maybe a

         15  month ago.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: A month ago.

         17  How about --

         18                 MS. CONNELL: Whenever it was in the

         19  newspapers, that was the first. But I knew that

         20  something was going to happen because the Manhattan

         21  institute, for reasons I don't know why this has

         22  become such an ideological issue, I don't know why

         23  conservatives love phonics, I don't know why they

         24  love grade retention, but I know that they were

         25  organizing and urging people to contact the Mayor
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          2  and to put pressure on the Mayor to have grade

          3  retention.

          4                 So, there was throughout the fall,

          5  because I do read the notices that come from the

          6  Manhattan Institute, and there was -- and from PEA,

          7  and there was an effort to get this reinstituted

          8  again. Just like there's been an effort --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: On the third

         10  grade?

         11                 MS. CONNELL: Yes. Not on the third

         12  grade, but grade retention, and I think Leone

         13  Haimson in the audience told me that the editor of

         14  the Daily News went crazy and so there was

         15  throughout the whole fall, an attempt by

         16  conservatives to get the Mayor to adopt this.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: But my specific

         18  question --

         19                 MS. CONNELL: And I knew it was going

         20  to happen, something was going to happen.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: My specific

         22  question is in regard to the third grade. Did you

         23  know about this connected to the third grade at that

         24  time that you're talking about?

         25                 MS. CONNELL: No. I just knew that
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          2  something was going to happen because there was so

          3  much pressure from conservatives in the education

          4  circle, and you know, they're very assertive.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I hear you. But

          6  I'm being very specific in the question that I'm

          7  asking you for a particular reason.

          8                 MS. CONNELL: I did not know that it

          9  was going to be in the third grade until the Mayor

         10  made his pronouncement, and then shortly thereafter,

         11  the next day, they said it was going to be in the

         12  third grade.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then to the

         14  best of your knowledge, the constituencies that you

         15  work with, the people that you know that are

         16  affected by this, do you believe that they are

         17  better informed than you are about these issues? Or

         18  you think that they are the same informed or less

         19  informed?

         20                 MS. HIRSCHMAN: I go over to the City,

         21  as a matter of fact tonight at 7:00 I was supposed

         22  to speak to five elementary schools that are

         23  gathered on the Lower East Side. I did send someone

         24  else in my place when I saw how late the hour was,

         25  but the parents that I go and speak to, which is on
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          2  a practically daily basis, are shocked when they

          3  hear about this policy. They are shocked. Many

          4  parents have no idea.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: And how about

          6  you?

          7                 MS. CONNELL: I don't believe a lot of

          8  parents know this. But then they didn't when the

          9  Giuliani promotion policy was put in place either.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Okay, but that

         11  doesn't make it right.

         12                 MS. CONNELL: No.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: You know, the

         14  king Giuliani is not the king today. Whatever he

         15  did, who cares. Thank God he's out.

         16                 MS. HIRSCHMAN: To answer your

         17  question more thoroughly, parents know there is a

         18  third grade test, but they do not know the

         19  consequences of this test.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: That's my

         21  question. I know that they know the test exists and

         22  the test is given, but I want to know if they

         23  understand the magnitude of what's coming down the

         24  pike here.

         25                 MS. HIRSCHMAN: No, no.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Have you seen

          3  this document, or any document referring to this

          4  policy in any other language than English?

          5                 MS. HIRSCHMAN: It only just came out

          6  in English now. They only got it together to write

          7  it in English recently.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: But he said

          9  they notified the parents in another language, in

         10  basis of paper about this policy.

         11                 MS. HIRSCHMAN: No.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: You have not

         13  seen it?

         14                 MS. CONNELL: I don't know if I've

         15  seen it, to tell you the truth. I have never seen

         16  this policy until today at this hearing. But I'm not

         17  sure about these.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Okay, thank you

         19  very much.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you

         21  very, very much for coming here and your testimony.

         22  We're now going to hear from the Borough President

         23  and we will get to our final panel. I apologize for

         24  being behind schedule, but this is an important

         25  issue and we wanted to be able to hear from
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          2  everyone.

          3                 Welcome, Borough President Fields.

          4  Thank you for being here. And welcome Jackie Kamin.

          5                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT FIELDS: Welcome,

          6  Madam Chair of the Education Committee, and members

          7  of the City Council. I want to thank you for holding

          8  this hearing, as you said, it's timely because of

          9  what is before us, the proposal put forward by the

         10  Chancellor as it relates to third grade social

         11  promotion.

         12                 You have copies of my testimony, and

         13  I will just reference certain components of that,

         14  but I want to state my unequivocal opposition to

         15  what has become known as social promotion. I don't

         16  think anyone upholds social promotion in terms of

         17  wanting to see a child move forward or a student

         18  move forward when indications have been made that

         19  perhaps, you know, there are other reasons in terms

         20  of some other things that needed to happen.

         21                 And I want to state also my agreement

         22  with Chancellor Klein, we must hold our school

         23  system accountable for actually educating our

         24  children, rather than just passing them on. However,

         25  I reject the inference that if one does not support
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          2  the proposal that has been presented by the

          3  Administration or by the Department of Education,

          4  that one is interested in maintaining the status quo

          5  and somehow just passing children along. I think the

          6  lessons, or the inference to that is extremely

          7  unfair and it is demeaning in many ways.

          8                 I would say just over a week ago, and

          9  Council Member Jackson referenced the hearing that

         10  my office held at Bank Street on this proposal, and

         11  for about two and a half hours we heard people

         12  testify, including the Chancellor, the Deputy

         13  Chancellor Diana Lam and our Board of Regents Dr.

         14  Sanford, and it was the basis of these testimony

         15  confirmed my reservation about the proposed policy

         16  and strengthened my resolve to oppose it. So, I say

         17  to you, as I sit tonight, that I am opposed to the

         18  proposal that is on the table from Chancellor Klein

         19  as it relates to the third grade promotion issue.

         20                 And quite frankly, if I were Jackie

         21  Kamin or had to advise Jackie, I probably would

         22  suggest that she votes no. But that will ultimately

         23  be her decision.

         24                 Why am I opposed to it? First of all,

         25  because I think the policy focused on students'
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          2  failure rather than on building students' success

          3  from the earliest grades. A child who is at risk in

          4  the first grade should be helped in the first grade,

          5  and it is my understanding that students are given

          6  these sort of evaluations in the first grade so that

          7  we are in a position with all of the knowledge and

          8  technology to identify a child who is considered to

          9  be at risk. That is the point where the intervention

         10  should start. That is the point where the extra

         11  help, reading specialists, tutoring, physical exams,

         12  to determine whether or not the child had a hearing

         13  or sight or some other, dyslexia problems, and to

         14  the extent that we put the resources there, by the

         15  time a child reaches the third grade, hopefully we

         16  would have identified all of the issues and taken

         17  some important steps, so that not any of us will be

         18  so concerned as to whether or not a child will pass

         19  a grade, or standardized test at the third grade or

         20  the fourth grade, because we would have done what it

         21  is we need to do to ensure that.

         22                 Each school where there are

         23  significant number of children who are not keeping

         24  up should have a reading specialist who will work

         25  directly with them. Ideally it should be one on one,
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          2  but a number of reports now show that in small

          3  groups there can be profound improvement. But most

          4  importantly, these aggressive interventions should

          5  be put in place before the students fail, not

          6  afterwards.

          7                 My second concern about the policies,

          8  there's simply a lack of evidence that this policy

          9  will achieve the gain or the success than any other

         10  previous program, retention program had.

         11                 I think we heard the previous

         12  speakers talk about that extensively, so I will not

         13  go into it. Our history here in New York City shows

         14  that and research data indicates that these programs

         15  simply not have been successful as we are being told

         16  that they perhaps might be.

         17                 New York City has implemented, as I

         18  say, retention programs in the last 25 years, and

         19  both of those have proven unsuccessful.

         20                 So, what must we do? We must allocate

         21  more resources to students earlier in their academic

         22  careers, beginning in kindergarten and through the

         23  third grade.

         24                 Students who receive these early

         25  assessments again must be given support and we
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          2  cannot veer away from that.

          3                 Additionally, rather than the

          4  proposal that has been put forth by the Chancellor

          5  and the Mayor I suggest that retention or promotion

          6  be based again on multi-assessment approach. Coupled

          7  with the tests, there should be an evaluation of

          8  students' academic performance throughout the year.

          9  This would include consultation with the teachers,

         10  the parents, the guardians, and everyone who

         11  interacts with that child, and knows far more than

         12  any of us the child's capability. By this we are

         13  again establishing a firm academic foundation that

         14  is essential to giving each child a better chance of

         15  academic success as they go through school.

         16                 I wish I felt that I was coming here

         17  tonight to offer some really revealing and new

         18  information. But this is stuff we know. We know what

         19  works, and I think this is a very opportune time,

         20  since we are in this stage of reform, and a number

         21  of things that have been proposed by the Chancellor

         22  and the Mayor I applaud and I support, but since we

         23  are in this phase of reform, we know what has not

         24  happened, it does not make any sense to continue to

         25  walk down this path of failure as opposed to
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          2  stopping, engaging the experts, people who know this

          3  stuff, people who have done this stuff, and come up

          4  with a plan now that all of us can feel we're going

          5  in the right direction.

          6                 So, while I briefly read both of your

          7  proposals, the therefores of the resolve seem to

          8  suggest similar things, one is to reconsider, one is

          9  to hold up until further reviews and programs can be

         10  looked at. I have too offered a recommendation in a

         11  letter that I sent to the Chancellor and to the

         12  Mayor last week, where I have asked them to withdraw

         13  their current proposal and to take the time to look

         14  at all of the data, the research to work with people

         15  in early childhood education, people's whose role or

         16  their training helps them to better understand these

         17  issues, so that we can use this as an opportunity to

         18  really make something work and to help our children

         19  as opposed to blame them for failure by the time

         20  that they get to the third grade.

         21                 So, in closing the amount of monies

         22  that have been proposed again, we did vote on that,

         23  as the Councilwoman Margarita Lopez mentioned, in

         24  the Borough Board of Manhattan, to say that the

         25  money should not go for that because the money is
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          2  intended to provide resources and assistance after

          3  failure. Just think about how great the reversal

          4  would be to put it in place from the first grade,

          5  and to see children move into the third grade, and I

          6  don't think any of us would have to be concerned

          7  about failure at the third grade.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you very

         10  much, Borough President Fields.

         11                 I'm going to turn the floor over to

         12  Council Member Jackson who I think has a brief

         13  question or a comment. We are under the gun to move

         14  on to our last panel, but Council Member Jackson.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you.

         16                 Madam Borough President, I thank you

         17  for holding the hearing, even though you pushed me

         18  to speak, I was there to listen. And quite frankly,

         19  I've listened a lot to many people giving testimony

         20  in their subject matter, which is helping me to

         21  clearly I guess define where I'm coming from on this

         22  particular matter. So, I thank you for holding that

         23  hearing, for giving me the opportunity to listen.

         24                 But Chancellor Klein indicated that

         25  you talked about limited resources and provisos for
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          2  all of the things that need to be done, and

          3  obviously I guess there is a clear understanding

          4  that the earlier that we intervene at pre-K and

          5  identifying children that are in need as early as

          6  possible and giving them the resources to succeed,

          7  then hopefully by the third grade, it shouldn't be a

          8  problem. But he indicated that with limited

          9  resources he would have to start somewhere, and I

         10  guess the decision was made for the third grade.

         11                 What would be your recommendation to

         12  the Chancellor, if any, if, in fact, the Education

         13  Policy Panel voted this down?

         14                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT FIELDS: My

         15  recommendation to the Chancellor would be to take

         16  those limited resources again to invest earlier. And

         17  I understand dollars, I understand limited

         18  resources, but it is always the case when our backs

         19  are up against the wall. We do not have the money to

         20  do what is right, but somehow or another we come up

         21  with dollars somewhere along the road to do other

         22  things.

         23                 So, my recommendation to the

         24  Chancellor would be certainly not to use a single

         25  criteria for determining whether or not a third
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          2  grader moves forward, but to continue with

          3  multi-assessment or the review of multi-criteria,

          4  the same way that it is used with respect to fourth

          5  graders now after they take the test.

          6                 Look at the child's complete history.

          7  How have they done, you know, throughout the school

          8  year, can that child read? The teacher would know

          9  that, parents would know that. Can that child do

         10  math? How has that performance been throughout the

         11  year? Homework, attendance, all of those factors.

         12  And keep in mind, too, this is even their first time

         13  that a third grader, perhaps an eight-year-older,

         14  would be taking a standardized test. All of those

         15  factors need to be weighed on this situation, and to

         16  talk about a single criteria, that must be rejected.

         17                 The appeal, as I understand it, comes

         18  after the fact, too. So, all of that is after we

         19  identify that the child should not be moving

         20  forward.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And, finally,

         22  UFT presented an enrichment model proposal in which

         23  I asked them what was the opinion of the Chancellor

         24  on this particular matter, and I surmised basically

         25  that he has rejected their proposal, and they're
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          2  sticking fast to his.

          3                 Are you aware of the UFT's proposal?

          4  And do you have any opinion on that?

          5                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT FIELDS: No, I have

          6  not seen the UFT's proposal, but I certainly will

          7  review it tomorrow.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay. Thank

          9  you.

         10                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT FIELDS: Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you.

         12                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT FIELDS: Thank you

         13  very much, on this critical important issue.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you very

         15  much.

         16                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT FIELDS: It's

         17  extremely important. Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you.

         19                 We're now going to hear from Jackie

         20  Ancess; Luis Reyes; Deborah Apsel and Leonie

         21  Haimson.

         22                 We're going to start with Dr. Reyes,

         23  who also had to teach a class, and as I understand,

         24  brought his graduate class with him. And welcome to

         25  City Hall. We are very glad that you are here. So,
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          2  we're going to begin with Dr. Reyes and then go to

          3  Jackie Ancess, Deborah Apsel and then Leonie

          4  Haimson.

          5                 The light has to be off for the

          6  microphone to be on.

          7                 DR. REYES: Thank you, Council

          8  members, for the invitation. And the reason for

          9  bringing the class is I'm teaching a course on

         10  Social, Philosophical, Historical and Political

         11  Foundations of Education, and there's no better

         12  place for them to get a practicum than coming to

         13  City Hall and seeing how government works. Thank

         14  you.

         15                 I'm going to skip a number of points

         16  in my written testimony, since my colleagues,

         17  especially Leonie Haimson will be touching on some

         18  of those points, and I would like to then go to a

         19  point in the middle.

         20                 Secretary Rod Paige has been reported

         21  as backing the Bloomberg retention policy, at a New

         22  York Post editorial board meeting, not a surprise,

         23  has the best thing for the child. On what basis does

         24  the Secretary proclaim that retention is the best

         25  thing for the child?
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          2                 He certainly cannot back up this

          3  statement with credible educational research. In

          4  fact, in grade retention is one of the least

          5  supported forms of intervention and research.

          6                 In a 1999 study published by the

          7  International -- Intercultural Development Research

          8  Association, compiles conclusions from numerous

          9  studies and concludes: 50 percent of students who

         10  are retained do no better academically the second

         11  time they complete the grade they fail.

         12                 Twenty-five percent actually do worse

         13  academically the second time around. And only 25

         14  percent of the students show improvement, one out of

         15  four.

         16                 The researchers concluded that

         17  retention is strongly associated with dropping out

         18  of school in later years, and that African-American

         19  and Latino students are retained at twice the rate

         20  of white students.

         21                 The authors of the study state the

         22  following regarding the research: "It would be hard

         23  to find another educational practice on which the

         24  evidence is so unequivocably negative."

         25                 What do we know -- and this is the
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          2  focus of my remarks -- about the impact of retention

          3  on English language learners, ELL? We have 145,000

          4  ELL students last year enrolled, 127,000 in general

          5  education, and 17,800 in self-contained special

          6  education.

          7                 Dr. Jill Kerper Mora of San Diego

          8  State University has written recently about the

          9  national research based on assessment of growth in

         10  language proficiency, English proficiency, done by

         11  Edward De Avila and others at Stanford University.

         12                 The research gives a clear picture of

         13  what we can realistically expect for students who

         14  begin their school career as non-English speakers.

         15                 The data show that although students

         16  may gain up to 54 points on a 100 point scale of

         17  proficiency in their first year of language

         18  learning, this is English proficiency, they take

         19  from three to five years to gain academic

         20  proficiency in English, three to five. That would be

         21  the fourth to the sixth grade for children coming in

         22  in kindergarten.

         23                 It is only at level four in English

         24  or near proficiency, meaning having English

         25  proficiency like a native English speaker that
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          2  students can be expected to benefit from instruction

          3  only in English, and when reading and writing skills

          4  begin to catch up.

          5                 He found that students' continual

          6  growth is largely a function of program

          7  participation, and quality of program. A student who

          8  begins as a non-English speaker in first grade would

          9  be expected to make 1.5 to two years of academic

         10  growth for each academic year in order to stay on

         11  grade level. These are children who are being tested

         12  and are being evaluated against the norm of English

         13  speakers, and of being held to those standards.

         14                 This growth would have to occur in

         15  addition to normal progress of one language

         16  proficiency level per year, which is to say that

         17  children who are eight years old learn by ninth

         18  grade a level of English, which in general, so

         19  children generally learn more each year, but in

         20  order to learn and be tested on reading English,

         21  they would have to do one and a half to two years of

         22  growth per year.

         23                 In other words, to avoid in-grade

         24  retention, the average Latino, Chinese-speaking,

         25  Haitian-speaking, Haitian-Creole, limited English
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          2  proficient child, is expected to be a super student

          3  in a super-effective program.

          4                 Why is that? Because all of the

          5  testing is in English, and so if they are learning

          6  in a bilingual program in the native language, and

          7  learning to read, they're not being tested in the

          8  native language, it's not counting toward promotion,

          9  only the English tests count toward promotion.

         10                 In short, the research findings do

         11  not support the use of in-grade retention as a

         12  remedy. They in fact show that retention causes both

         13  short-term and long-term harm to students academic

         14  success.

         15                 It suggests that retention is

         16  inappropriate for language minority students who are

         17  learning academic subjects in their second language

         18  English.

         19                 What do ELL students in New York City

         20  public schools including third grade ELL students

         21  really need? The answer is a set of education

         22  reforms that have been promised, and yet to be

         23  delivered.

         24                 For example, ELL students were

         25  mandated by the Regents just three years ago, to
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          2  receive additional ESL and intensive English

          3  language arts instruction.

          4                 The State's own monitoring of this

          5  Regent mandate in New York City revealed in 2001

          6  that 50 percent of the students did not receive the

          7  required additional period of English language arts

          8  instruction mandated by the State.

          9                 In 2002, monitoring revealed that it

         10  had improved to 24 percent, leaving one out of four

         11  students without a key mandated element of a sound

         12  basic education.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: If I could ask

         14  you, Dr. Reyes, we've got four more panelists and we

         15  want to hear from parents, so is there a way to kind

         16  of -- I mean, you obviously know this stuff cold,

         17  and it's very important that we get this

         18  perspective, but if you could summarize, that would

         19  be helpful.

         20                 DR. REYES: I will try my best. I will

         21  also take into account that I am the first person on

         22  any panel who is speaking to the issue of English

         23  language learners who make up 145,000 of the

         24  students in the school system, 400,000 of the

         25  students who come from families where Spanish,
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          2  Haitian, Creole, Chinese, Urdu and all of the other

          3  languages are the first language of their home, and

          4  I think that they have a right to be heard, and I'm

          5  the only person speaking to their issue.

          6                 The recommendations are to guarantee

          7  an extended instructional day at all grade levels

          8  with qualified bilingual and ESL teachers,

          9  especially to those ELL students at risk of failing

         10  to meet the standards.

         11                 Hold the districts and schools

         12  accountable for complying with regulations,

         13  including the No Child Left Behind and the state

         14  laws and the Aspira consent decree.

         15                 Provide adequate funding to inform

         16  parents of eligible students, regarding their rights

         17  to instruction.

         18                 In fact, the US Department of

         19  Education's Office of Civil Rights just recently

         20  wrote about assuring English language learner

         21  parents meaningful access to the school system, and

         22  is ensuring that there be, that the general policies

         23  and procedures be provided to parents in their own

         24  language. That has not taken place. I know that for

         25  a fact. The materials that you have before you have
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          2  not been available to parents in their language.

          3                 Lastly, our third grade children,

          4  including English language learners, deserve a sound

          5  basic education, not an unsound retention policy.

          6  High-stake tests and misguided retention policies

          7  shift the blame of educational failure on students,

          8  rather than on a system in which unequal funding and

          9  resources have inadequately prepared them.

         10                 Rather than focusing all of our

         11  attention on the Campaign for Fiscal Equity, and the

         12  remedies in order to provide those resources, we

         13  have been caught up in a misguided attempt to push a

         14  retention policy that is not research based and the

         15  appeals process, which my colleagues will tell you,

         16  is stacked against the children and their families.

         17                 Thank you for your attention.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you

         19  very, very much.

         20                 We're going to wait until we hear

         21  from all the panelists.

         22                 Jackie Ancess. Professor Ancess,

         23  thank you for being here.

         24                 PROFESSOR ANCESS: I'm Jacqueline

         25  Ancess. I'm the Co-Director of the National Center
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          2  for Restructuring Education, Schools and Teaching,

          3  which is a research and development organization at

          4  Teachers College, Columbia University. I'm also the

          5  Founding Director of Manhattan East Center for Arts

          6  and Academics, which had a big article in the New

          7  York Times today.

          8                 I strongly urge you to reject the New

          9  York City Department of Education proposed policy to

         10  hold over third grade students on the basis of a

         11  single reading test or math test score. This is a

         12  harmful and ignorant policy and you would be highly

         13  irresponsible to support it.

         14                 For third graders, this will be their

         15  first big test. This is the first big test they

         16  take. Holding them over soley on the basis of this

         17  test is like pushing down a toddler talking its

         18  first steps and then stepping on its chest to keep

         19  it down.

         20                 Take a second to process that image.

         21                 Over 100 years of research show

         22  unequivocally that holding over students leads to

         23  increased rates of school dropout. You've heard that

         24  from almost everyone.

         25                 The National Research Council warns
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          2  against using any single indicator to make high

          3  stakes decisions. These two factors alone make it

          4  shocking that the Department of Education would have

          5  proposed this policy in the first place.

          6                 In considering this policy, I ask you

          7  to demand of the Department answers to a number of

          8  questions, not all of which I will read because so

          9  many others have asked them.

         10                 1. What compelling evidence has the

         11  Department of Education brought to bear the third

         12  grade retention policy will be an effective strategy

         13  to promote learning?

         14                 In other words, where's the beef?

         15                 If nearly 20 percent of third graders

         16  are projected to fail, doesn't that suggest that the

         17  Department's own mandated literacy curriculum and

         18  instructional approach have not been working?

         19                 Why blame the students for this

         20  failure, when what has failed has been the

         21  Department's own curriculum and instructional

         22  approaches?

         23                 Now that the Department knows that 20

         24  percent of the students haven't been learning while

         25  they're using this approach, are they still using it
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          2  or have they changed it? Are they going to use it

          3  from now until the time the kids take the test?

          4                 The Department has proposed

          5  interventions; however, those interventions that

          6  Diana Lam so eloquently described are inputs, and we

          7  know that inputs do not guarantee outcomes.

          8                 When a person gets cancer, they have

          9  chemotherapy, radiation, all sorts of treatments

         10  that does not guarantee a cure. Sometimes after

         11  those interventions, people die. What evidence has

         12  the Department provided to demonstrate that all

         13  schools have the capacity to obtain the outcomes

         14  these interventions promise?

         15                 I was recently at a school, an

         16  elementary school in the City, where the population

         17  is almost uniformly very poor where the principal

         18  and all of the third and fourth grade teachers were

         19  being trained in the literacy approach as they're

         20  being expected to implement it and as children will

         21  be held over because they have not achieved the

         22  score that the City has set as a cutoff.

         23                 We are asked to trust the Mayor on

         24  the interventions. Let's take a look at what

         25  happened with Princeton Review.

                                                            214

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2                 The Department paid Princeton Review

          3  $8 million to give these interim tests in the fall

          4  to let them know, to let the teachers know, how they

          5  had to change their instruction based on where kids

          6  were.

          7                 I recently met with one of the ten

          8  regional superintendents and asked her whether or

          9  not she was noticing any improvement in kids'

         10  skills, and she said to me the data was so dirty

         11  that they couldn't get any information from it. In

         12  other words, there were so many errors in the data

         13  that they could draw no conclusion about anything.

         14  This is an $8 million intervention.

         15                 What will happen to students retained

         16  in the third grade?

         17                 There are a number of questions that

         18  people have asked and mine repeat them, so I won't

         19  ask them. But when the Chancellor says that schools

         20  won't be overcrowded, maybe he needs to be held

         21  over, because my math is terrible but his seems to

         22  be worse. If you have 20 percent of the kids held

         23  over in third grade, then you have a larger fourth

         24  grade. Well, what happens to the third grade that

         25  comes next? And what happens to the third grade that
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          2  comes after that? You have three years of kids, of

          3  20 percent more kids. That sounds to me like there

          4  are a lot more kids in the school.

          5                 The Chancellor has proposed an

          6  appeals process. To ensure equity, the only kind of

          7  appeals process that is acceptable is an automatic

          8  appeals process. Otherwise it depends upon the luck

          9  of the draw of who the teacher is, and that means

         10  that any child who fails the test, for any child who

         11  fails the test, an appeals process would

         12  automatically be triggered, and that means a form

         13  would be filed, recording the child's attendance,

         14  report card data and teacher recommendation for a

         15  promotion.

         16                 Appeals would be reviewed by a

         17  school-based panel. Children with good attendance

         18  who have shown academic progress would automatically

         19  be promoted. Where children's attendance and

         20  academic data are borderline or poor, a parent

         21  conference and teacher and guidance counselor

         22  recommendations would be required.

         23                 Nothing less than that is equitable,

         24  assures every child who has a low score the same

         25  access to a fair hearing.
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          2                 The Department is already contacting

          3  private vendors to submit proposals, RFPs, for

          4  summer school.

          5                 This morning I was at a meeting where

          6  somebody was telling me about one particular private

          7  vendor, in fact, who had contacted a colleague of

          8  hers and asked the colleague to consult with them

          9  and to produce curriculum that end teacher training

         10  protocol, that they could put in there RFP for the

         11  contract, because they don't know the curriculum,

         12  they don't have that capacity in their organization

         13  at the beginning.

         14                 So, what this is doing is providing

         15  private contractors, for-profit private contractors

         16  in education around the City many opportunities to

         17  make money.

         18                 Lastly, there are rumors circulating

         19  that the Mayor has promised contributions and

         20  contracts to organizations, to the organizations of

         21  his advisory board members, if they will support his

         22  current third grade retention policy that relies on

         23  a single test score.

         24                 I hope this is not true. But as a

         25  citizen of New York City, and as somebody who went
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          2  through the New York City school system, and someone

          3  whose parents also went through the New York City

          4  school system, I expect the Council and the media to

          5  be vigilant in monitoring for any moral corruption.

          6                 The outcome of this conflict will be

          7  a watershed on whether mayoral control is any better

          8  than the former Board of Education control. We will

          9  be watching and we vote.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you.

         11                 As I said, we're going to save the

         12  questions to the end. We're next going to hear from

         13  Deborah Apsel.

         14                 MS. APSEL: Hi.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: The light has

         16  to be off for the mic to be on.

         17                 MS. APSEL: Hello.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I can't hear.

         19                 MS. APSEL: Hello.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Yes, that's

         21  good.

         22                 MS. APSEL: Deborah Apsel, and I'm

         23  here on behalf of Advocates for Children of New

         24  York.

         25                 I'm just going to try to touch on
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          2  some of the important points, because a lot of

          3  things have been said already.

          4                 Advocates for Children would first of

          5  all like to thank Councilwoman Moskowitz for

          6  inviting us to speak tonight on the Mayor's proposed

          7  retention policy.

          8                 Tonight we are stating our

          9  unequivocal opposition to the Mayor's plan to

         10  automatically retain third graders on the sole basis

         11  of standardized test score.

         12                 All of the major educational resource

         13  and testing organizations oppose using test results

         14  as the sole criterion for advancement or retention,

         15  since judging a particular student on the basis of a

         16  single exam is an inherently unreliable and an

         17  unfair measure of his or her actual achievement

         18  level.

         19                 In fact, there are few educational

         20  issues about which there is such a powerful

         21  consensus among professionals in the field. Even

         22  Harcourt and CTB McGraw Hill, the two largest

         23  companies that produce standardized tests, and the

         24  developers of the New York City's 3rd grade reading

         25  and math exams, are on record opposing the use of

                                                            219

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  their tests as the exclusive criterion for decisions

          3  about retention, because they can never be a

          4  reliable and/or complete measure of what students

          5  may or may not know.

          6                 Another reason we strongly oppose

          7  this policy is that the consensus among researchers

          8  and experts is overwhelming, that retaining

          9  students, no matter what their actual level of

         10  achievement, is likely to damage rather than help

         11  their educational prospects.

         12                 After reviewing the many controlled

         13  studies of grade retention, the National Academy of

         14  Sciences Report concluded that, "low-performing

         15  students who have been retained in kindergarten or

         16  primary grades lose ground both academically and

         17  socially relative to similar students who have been

         18  promoted."

         19                 As have already been stated by other

         20  people, New York City tried this method 20 years ago

         21  and it was determined to be a failure, and we asked

         22  why would we repeat what we know does not work.

         23                 In addition to the numerous reports

         24  by researchers demonstrating the destructive impact

         25  of a retention policy based solely on standardized
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          2  test scores, academics, heads of organizations,

          3  testing experts, parents, have come out in strong

          4  opposition to the Mayor's proposal.

          5                 ASC, along with class size matters,

          6  released a letter to the Mayor and Chancellor, which

          7  is attached to this testimony, urging them to

          8  reconsider their damaging third grade retention

          9  plan.

         10                 It was signed by over 100 academics,

         11  heads of organizations and testing experts, all

         12  opposed to the policy.

         13                 ASC is pleased that the Chancellor

         14  has recently come out with an appeals policy, but it

         15  is deeply flawed and does not take away from the

         16  fundamental issue that blanket retention policies do

         17  not work.

         18                 The cost of this policy is

         19  prohibitive, especially for one so unlikely to

         20  actually assist students.

         21                 If 15,000 third graders are held

         22  back, which is now looking to be a conservative

         23  number, since 31,000 students have apparently

         24  received promotion in doubt notices, the price tag

         25  without extra academic services will be $115 million
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          2  for a program that has a disastrous track record.

          3                 At a time of fiscal austerity, the

          4  DOE should be focusing on proven strategies that

          5  work.

          6                 There are effective solutions for

          7  assisting students who are behind in reading and

          8  math. Blanket retention policies are not one of

          9  them.

         10                 We urge that the DOE put into

         11  practice measures that identify students at risk of

         12  low-achievement earlier in their educational career

         13  and provide them with programs that research and

         14  experience have shown to actually improve the chance

         15  of success, including increased access to

         16  pre-kindergarten, smaller classes where they can

         17  receive more individual attention and support from

         18  their classroom teachers, and intensive intervention

         19  for those who have fallen behind, including after

         20  school and/or weekend tutoring.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you.

         23                 MS. HAIMSON: Hi. My name is Leonie

         24  Haimson. I'm had of a parent advocacy group called

         25  Class Size Matters, and I'm sure you're aware by now
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          2  there may be some close calls in educational policy,

          3  the Mayor's retention proposal is not one of them.

          4                 As the 107 academics, researchers,

          5  and national experts on testing who signed our

          6  expert letter agreed, this policy is deeply flawed

          7  and will lead directly to lower achievement and

          8  higher drop-out rates, and I would challenge this

          9  Administration to find a single independent academic

         10  in the country who has studied the issue of

         11  retention who would support this proposal.

         12                 On the other hand, our letter was

         13  signed by Dr. Berry Brazelton, Bob Tobias, former

         14  head of Division of Assessment for the Board of Ed,

         15  Dr. House, who did the independent evaluation of New

         16  York City's failed "Gates" retention program in the

         17  1980s. And I would interject that the UFT proposal

         18  that I heard today sounds very much similar to the

         19  Gates program that failed, where they segregated

         20  kids, they gave them smaller classes and they did

         21  worse than similar students who were promoted.

         22                 Other signers of the letter include

         23  the four past presidents of the American Education

         24  Research Association, many members and the Chair of

         25  the National Academy of Science Committee on the
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          2  appropriate use of testing, and several members of

          3  the Board on Testing and Assessment at the National

          4  Research Council.

          5                 I won't go into that anymore, because

          6  I think we've made that point.

          7                 There's been a lot of discussion on,

          8  well, we don't want to keep on having kids fail,

          9  what are the alternatives? So, I want to concentrate

         10  most of my time on that.

         11                 On holding back, this program will

         12  cost at least $200 million, since I was the source

         13  for the 150 million now as op-ed (sic) and I can

         14  explain why, money that would much be better spent

         15  on programs that have been proven to work rather

         16  than those who have been shown over and over to

         17  fail.

         18                 For this amount we could hire enough

         19  teachers to reduce class size in grades K through 3,

         20  in every classroom by two or three, and still have

         21  plenty of funds left over for tutoring for those

         22  children who are still struggling.

         23                 Lost in all of the controversy of a

         24  retention, last week we had good news, and I don't

         25  think many people noticed. The state released
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          2  figures showing that 322 elementary schools in New

          3  York City made the most improved list, by far the

          4  largest number of schools in our history. They

          5  improved by token of their fourth grade student test

          6  scores.

          7                 We have seen steadily rising test

          8  scores at the fourth grade level, with an especially

          9  big jump last year. Why? The steady improvement in

         10  performance began when the State and the federal

         11  government began providing funds in 1998 to reduce

         12  class size in the early grades. And last year's

         13  fourth grade cohort were the first group to have had

         14  the benefit of smaller classes since first grade.

         15                 In New York City as a whole, the

         16  percentages of fourth graders testing at level one

         17  in math has sharply declined over four years from

         18  almost 20 percent to nine percent. In reading the

         19  percentages declined from 21 percent to nine

         20  percent. This amounts to approximately 10,000 fewer

         21  fourth graders testing at level one in reading, and

         22  about 8,500 in math, and that's a considerable

         23  improvement. The gains in the former Chancellor's

         24  district where class sizes were reduced the most

         25  were especially dramatic. In these schools the
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          2  percentage of fourth graders at level one has

          3  declined from about 35 percent to only 9.5 percent

          4  in math, and from 38 percent to 13.1 percent in

          5  reading. And these are much better improvements than

          6  any that the Chancellor showed us in his charts

          7  today.

          8                 A statistical analysis from the 32

          9  school districts in New York City shows the decline

         10  in percentage of fourth graders testing at level one

         11  over four years in each district is significantly

         12  correlated with how much that district has decreased

         13  class sizes in K through 3, both in reading and in

         14  math.

         15                 Unfortunately, instead of continuing

         16  to make progress in this area we are going in an

         17  entirely wrong direction. Average class sizes grew

         18  in every grade from K to 8 this fall, despite a

         19  decline in enrollment of 11,000, and we had more

         20  third graders in classes of 29 or more.

         21                 They talked a lot about small group

         22  instruction this morning. I don't know what kind of

         23  small group instruction they're talking about when

         24  you have classes at 29 or more.

         25                 This retention policy will most
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          2  likely cause even more overcrowding at the third

          3  grade level, and, thus, even greater numbers of

          4  failing students.

          5                 I'd also like to talk briefly about

          6  the appeals process the Chancellor has outlined

          7  because I think it's deeply flawed.

          8                 First of all, a child who is

          9  threatened with retention, his or her parents have

         10  to appeal to the teacher, has to collect a whole

         11  portfolio of the child's work, if he or she agrees,

         12  must go then to the principal to make the case for

         13  the child, and the principal, if he or she agrees,

         14  has to go to the local instructional superintendent

         15  who also has to agree.

         16                 Not only will this take until August

         17  until the child's state is determined, which will

         18  cause months of anxiety and certainty, but the

         19  process is clearly stacked against the promotion.

         20                 Parents have lost faith in this

         21  Administration to carry out any appeals process in

         22  an even-handed and efficient manner.

         23                 Thousands of children have been

         24  referred for special ed, have not received their

         25  evaluations this year, according to the Public
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          2  Advocate's Office. Superintendents have been

          3  pressured by the DOE to keep the referral rates down

          4  and are keeping the letters in draws.

          5                 As reported in Newsday, the City's

          6  local instructional superintendents have been

          7  ordered to flunk at least three principals by giving

          8  them U ratings. LIS's have been told the Chancellor

          9  wants it. Some principals have also been instructed

         10  to fail at least three teachers, no matter what

         11  their true level of competence.

         12                 Similar pressures will likely be

         13  brought to bear on these administrators to hold back

         14  large numbers of third graders, whatever their real

         15  achievement, and whether or not they think they will

         16  benefit from being retained.

         17                 All in all, this retention proposal

         18  would be an expensive disaster for the children of

         19  this City, and I, as well as many other parents,

         20  advocates and experts from around the country, urge

         21  the members of the City Council to do everything

         22  within your power to prevent this from being

         23  enacted.

         24                 Thank you for this opportunity.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you.
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          2  Thank you.

          3                 I'm going to turn to my colleague

          4  Robert Jackson. We're supposed to be out of here by

          5  8:00 and we do want to hear from parents who have

          6  been very patient and waiting to testify. But,

          7  please, Council Member Jackson.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I want to

          9  thank you all for coming and testifying, especially

         10  you, Dr. Reyes. As a former member of this Board of

         11  Education, and I'm very, very pleased that you came

         12  in to give testimony specifically about the effects

         13  on English Language Learners. Obviously, in a

         14  district that I come from, where over 50 percent of

         15  the people that I represent are, where their primary

         16  language is not English, it's very important. And

         17  you know my district very well, District 6 and

         18  District 5, where the district that I represent is

         19  over 50 percent Hispanic just by itself, and

         20  obviously there are other individuals and groups

         21  where their primary language is not English, so I

         22  want to thank you for coming in and bringing your

         23  class in, because I think that they have learned a

         24  valuable lesson in this particular area.

         25                 But I make the assumption that if you
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          2  were as a member of this new education policy panel,

          3  that you would vote no then on the policy. I make

          4  that assumption but I wanted to hear your vote, if

          5  you were a member of this panel.

          6                 DR. REYES: Were I a member of the

          7  panel, I would definitely vote no. I would also

          8  realize that my position on the panel might be in

          9  jeopardy, since the panel members sit, eight of

         10  them, sit at the behest of the Mayor, this is the

         11  Mayor's program.

         12                 I'm hoping that we will be able to

         13  get five votes from the Borough members, and at

         14  least three other members, one of whom the former

         15  head of the Museo Del Bario, another is the

         16  president of Bank Street College, at whose

         17  institution the hearings were held last week, and a

         18  third person whose name escapes me, who has a good

         19  reason, in terms of as a Latina professional to know

         20  the needs of the community.

         21                 And my biggest concern is that, in

         22  fact, District 6, District 9 and 10 in the Bronx,

         23  District 20 in Brooklyn, 24 and 30 in Queens, which

         24  are the top six districts in terms of concentrated

         25  areas of English Language Learners are also areas
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          2  where you have overcrowding in schools.

          3                 We had not heard from the Mayor or

          4  the Chancellor about the ELL plan that was approved.

          5  I shouldn't say approved, they came up with it and

          6  announced it at the end of the school year and it's

          7  been more than six months, and one of my

          8  recommendations would be oversight hearings on the

          9  implementation, particularly the fact that part of

         10  what they promised was the training of teachers,

         11  bilingual teachers.

         12                 You can't expect an area where

         13  there's such a great shortage of bilingual and ESL

         14  certified teachers, and there's a need for training,

         15  when in fact the academy for training them has not

         16  gotten up and has not started in any real sense.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Council Member

         18  Jackson, if I could just intervene, I appreciate

         19  very much that point, and I think it's a very valid

         20  one. This Committee is holding an oversight hearing,

         21  I believe it's mid-May, I wish it were sooner, but

         22  we have more hearings than any other Committee, as

         23  my colleagues on this Committee I think know well,

         24  but we are going to get to it. It's a very important

         25  topic, and this City has failed English Language

                                                            231

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  Learners terribly. Advocates for Children has

          3  documented that, as well as others. So, thank you. I

          4  didn't mean to interrupt you, Council Member

          5  Jackson.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: No, I truly

          7  understand that. I want to hear from the other

          8  parents, and especially we basically heard outside

          9  of the Administration people that are against the

         10  policy.

         11                 I want to hear from people that are

         12  in favor of it and what they have to say, as far as

         13  why they're in favor.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Well, I tried

         15  to bring in witnesses but there aren't that many of

         16  them, and so I do think it's important and I've

         17  always tried in all the hearings, whether the topic

         18  be mayoral control of the contracts to have people

         19  of diverse views so that Committee members -- but

         20  it's not so easy.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I think

         22  there's a young woman over here who was supposedly

         23  miseducated in District 6. I want to hear from her

         24  also and some other people.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Great. We'll
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          2  try and do that.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Council Member

          5  Lopez.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: First of all,

          7  Dr. Reyes, thank you for being here tonight. If you

          8  believe that the Latino community who are the

          9  parents of the children who have the bilingual

         10  characteristics attached to them or the Creole or

         11  the Croatian or the Asian, are you aware of this,

         12  who have children in the third grade?

         13                 DR. REYES: No, they are not.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then it is your

         15  belief at this moment that those parents have no

         16  clue that this is coming down the pike?

         17                 DR. REYES: And if the representatives

         18  of the Office of Civil Rights of the US Department

         19  of Education were aware of the specifics about what

         20  has not been provided, in terms of information to

         21  the parents, if they were able to unilaterally come

         22  up with a complaint and take action, they might.

         23                 But it requires us, the people of New

         24  York City, to complain as a parent.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Well, the
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          2  reason I'm asking you that question, Dr. Reyes, is

          3  because Margarita Lopez is ready to file a

          4  complaint, and I'm ready to walk with the parents of

          5  my district and file a complaint and a lawsuit on

          6  this for damage done to these children based on a

          7  policy that is getting to be implemented without

          8  even notification. And I want to ask you if you will

          9  join me in this effort?

         10                 DR. REYES: I would be more than happy

         11  to not only join you, but to join my colleagues at

         12  Advocates for Children, the New York Immigration

         13  Coalition, and other organizations that have been

         14  leading. I don't want you to think that I'm doing

         15  this alone, and the work is being done by many

         16  educators, both bilingual and monolingual educators

         17  who signed onto this letter.

         18                 The absence of people in support of

         19  this should not be held against those of us who are

         20  against it.

         21                 I remember when we had hearings at

         22  the Board of Education, of not blessed memory, and

         23  on bilingual education, and the papers said where

         24  were all the people who were against it? Maybe the

         25  fact that there aren't tells you something.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you.

          3                 Dr. Jacqueline Ancess. Did I

          4  pronounce that right?

          5                 PROFESSOR ANCESS: Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Excuse me if I

          7  did not.

          8                 PROFESSOR ANCESS: No, that's fine.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Your testimony

         10  utilizes very strong words, and I do not resent

         11  that, I just want to ask you why you are so definite

         12  in your position in regard to this to even say in

         13  your first part this is a harmful and ignorant

         14  policy, and you will be highly irresponsible to

         15  support it. Can you explain to me why you used such

         16  a strong language in regard to this?

         17                 PROFESSOR ANCESS: Yes. I had to

         18  appear on the Today Show about two years ago to

         19  debate retention versus social promotion, and at the

         20  time I did quite extensive research, a review of the

         21  research, and there's over 100 years of research

         22  that is unequivocal. That's very powerful, over 100

         23  years of research, that shows that the one thing

         24  retention does is that it promotes school dropout,

         25  and it affects those most vulnerable and needy
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          2  children. Those children who may not have parents as

          3  advocates to fight for them the way the Councilman's

          4  parents fought for him, those children whose parents

          5  may not be able to take the responsibility for them,

          6  those children without anyone are harmed over and

          7  over and over again.

          8                 So, the policy is harmful to the most

          9  vulnerable, and those are the ones who certainly

         10  have to be advocates for, but there isn't any

         11  evidence that in the longrun it's helpful to anyone.

         12  There is considerable evidence that it's harmful.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then it's not a

         14  doubt that whoever have the audacity to implement

         15  this policy will be knowing very well by the

         16  evidence that have been presented, in terms of the

         17  studies after studies, that this is a harmful policy

         18  and not an experiment that should be given an

         19  opportunity to try to see if it works.

         20                 PROFESSOR ANCESS: If they're going to

         21  experiment, I think they should experiment with

         22  their own personal children first.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I wish we had

         25  more time, because obviously you bring a lot of

                                                            236

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  knowledge and expertise. I would ask if anyone, I

          3  think I've seen everybody's testimony, but if for

          4  some reason I haven't, if you can make sure that we

          5  get copies of it and we would like to ask that we

          6  are able to be in touch with you over the next

          7  couple of weeks because we're really trying to

          8  grapple with a complicated issue, and as I said at

          9  the beginning, we're trying not to just say no to

         10  something, but affirmatively understand what it is

         11  we should be doing to help our kids.

         12                 It's very important to me to have

         13  time for parents, and they've been incredibly

         14  patient, so I hope you'll understand. But thank you

         15  very, very much for your time and input.

         16                 I don't know if they're still here,

         17  but I do want to call on a few people again. The

         18  Sergeant-At-Arms, they've been here since early this

         19  morning and are staying very late and we're supposed

         20  to be out of this room by 8:00. I also have young

         21  children I have to read bedtime stories to, so I'm

         22  going to have to call this to a conclusion, but I do

         23  want to give us another at least 15 minutes to hear

         24  from as many people as possible.

         25                 Mabel Jerez. Is she here?
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          2                 Deb Kavanah, Julius Dixon.

          3                 Is anyone in favor of the policy?

          4  Perhaps we can hear Deb Kavanah and Liz Carson.

          5                 I'm going to ask you to be brief and

          6  just give us the two-minute version, because we have

          7  lots of people to hear from.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Eva, why

          9  don't we get the other individual that basically

         10  wants to speak in favor of it, the fourth

         11  individual, so that we can hear -- five? Quite

         12  frankly, Eva, I think that 15 minutes, I've heard

         13  enough from people speaking against the policy, I

         14  want to hear people that's going to speak in favor

         15  of it, because objectively I want to hear from all

         16  sides. So, if there's five individuals, I'd rather

         17  have a panel of five and understand that that may

         18  take 15 or 20 minutes at the max, and if you have to

         19  call the meeting closed at that point in time, I

         20  would rather just hear, quite frankly --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So is anyone

         22  here for?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: You're for

         24  it? Can you come up, please? Eva, if you don't mind,

         25  can he just come up? And those that, Eva, I'm sorry,
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          2  those that are not going to be heard, they should

          3  submit their testimony.

          4                 I would like to hear from at least

          5  some parents that are in favor of it so we can get a

          6  clear understanding.

          7                 I'm talking to the Chair now, and,

          8  quite frankly, as a member of this Committee, I want

          9  to hear from parents that are in favor of it,

         10  because I have heard, in my opinion, and I'm not

         11  trying to disrespect you or anything, I've heard

         12  enough from people that are against it, and I want

         13  to hear from people that are in favor of it so that

         14  I, as a member of this Committee, when I have to

         15  vote either yay or nay on the two proposals, that I

         16  have heard from both sides of the fence. And, so,

         17  quite frankly, I've heard enough from one side, I

         18  want to hear from the other side, from the

         19  perspective of the individual. And no disrespect to

         20  you, but I'm not chairing this meeting, I'm just

         21  talking to my chair. So, I'm not going to discuss it

         22  with you, quite frankly.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Council Member

         24  Jackson, I think it's a very reasonable request, and

         25  we're going to go with that and then if we have time
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          2  for other, we will keep the record open and I urge

          3  you to submit it.

          4                 I certainly read all of the testimony

          5  and I will make sure to distribute it to my

          6  colleagues.

          7                 We could begin with Ms. Jerez.

          8                 MS. JEREZ: Hello. Well, thank you,

          9  and good evening. I get two minutes, okay.

         10                 I graduated from --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: If you could

         12  just state your name for the record.

         13                 MS. JEREZ: Okay, I'm sorry. My name

         14  is Mabel Jerez, and basically what I have to say is

         15  it's really, really a shame that it's been going on

         16  for the past 30 years, and, so, I just thought I'd

         17  say -- I graduated from PS 152 in 1991 during the

         18  height of social promotion. It was one of the most

         19  worst performed schools in the most performed

         20  districts. Looking at my old report card, it is

         21  clearly that I have not overcome my problems of

         22  reading and math as I moved on from the third,

         23  fourth, fifth grade, and middle school and high

         24  school. Social promotion has been used as a cover up

         25  problem of the system, that's the pettiness (sic) of
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          2  the children who feel bad if they were left back,

          3  behind. I feel bad that I was barely unable to read

          4  and have minimal math skills that when I graduated

          5  from high school. Instead of being promoted from

          6  grade to grade unable to compete and catch up with

          7  my peers, my problem with reading and math should

          8  have been addressed. I was actually diagnosed with a

          9  learning disability that no standardized test was

         10  able to catch. The result of my uphill battle at

         11  every turn throughout my college career. I had the

         12  drive to get a higher education, how many students

         13  like me have it?

         14                 Currently I'm finishing up my

         15  undergrad.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ:

         17  Congratulations.

         18                 MS. JEREZ: I'm finishing up my

         19  undergrad for law, and it's been really a hard

         20  struggle, and I could just imagine how it feels. I

         21  mean, I just recently found out that I have

         22  dyslexia, but that never stopped me.

         23                 So social promotion is a cover-up and

         24  it's a problem in the private school system. And

         25  every time I have this problem, I blame the public
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          2  school system. People laugh, but, you know, it's a

          3  shame. Children should not be promoted to the next

          4  grade without the skills that they need to move

          5  forward.

          6                 Social promotion hurts children and

          7  more than repeating of grades and needs to end,

          8  seriously.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you.

         10                 Deborah Kavanah.

         11                 MS. KAVANAH: This is my daugher Rose.

         12  She would like to address you folks for about 20

         13  seconds.

         14                 ROSIE KAVANAH: Good evening. My name

         15  is Rosie Kavanah. I am 12 years old, I am in the

         16  seventh grade, and I am not a parent with children

         17  in the New York City school system.

         18                 But anyway, the social promotion

         19  issue is something to which I have given much

         20  thought lately. The only flaw I see is that we're

         21  starting certain aspects of the program far too

         22  late. Perhaps if children in first or second grade

         23  were tested, as well as third graders, and those who

         24  could not read were required to attend summer or

         25  weekend programs, there would be less third graders
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          2  who needed to be held back anyway.

          3                 Now, I realize that you cannot

          4  possibly hold back an entire class of students

          5  because they can't read, so I don't think that the

          6  first or second graders should actually be held back

          7  because of lack of reading skills. I simply think

          8  that more should be done to put these skills in

          9  place earlier so that the skills will have grown by

         10  the time these students reach the third grade test.

         11  Other than that, the program seems perfect to me.

         12  Thank you.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I'm sorry,

         14  and what was your name again?

         15                 ROSIE KAVANAH: My name is Rosie

         16  Kavanah.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And you're a

         18  second graders at what school?

         19                 ROSIE KAVANAH: Louis Armstrong Middle

         20  School, IS 227Q.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Q, that's

         22  Queens?

         23                 ROSIE KAVANAH: Queens, yes.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay, thank

         25  you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you.

          3                 MS. KAVANAH: I have the privilege of

          4  being her mother. Hi. I'm Deb Kavanah. We've heard

          5  from so many experts today and all of them have

          6  repeated a lot of the same rhetoric, but the fact

          7  remains that our children can't read.

          8                 I'd like to address this to Ms.

          9  Lopez. I'm only a parent, but I've known about this

         10  issue for several weeks and, quite frankly, I resent

         11  you using this issue as a personal soap box, and

         12  that's been pretty apparent all day today. That is

         13  my opinion. That's all I can give you.

         14                 I've been a mother with children in

         15  various school systems continuously for almost 25

         16  years. My oldest child will be 30 in August, my

         17  youngest is currently in the seventh grade. My

         18  children have been in private schools, Montessori

         19  School, virtual interactive schools, home schools,

         20  and most of the time in the public school system.

         21                 I feel that I have a considerable

         22  amount of experience, all of the best and the worst

         23  of what education has to offer, and yet even with

         24  all of this experience, I can't understand the

         25  current reaction to this issue.
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          2                 How can we even consider promoting a

          3  child to the fourth grade who cannot read? They can

          4  only fall further and further behind. Not all

          5  interventions are guaranteed to succeed, but doing

          6  nothing is guaranteed to fail.

          7                 Reading is, without a doubt, the

          8  single most important subject in our schools today.

          9  To address Councilman Recchia's point, even math

         10  requires reading a problem before you can solve it.

         11                 Children who can't read can't pass

         12  the SATs, can't go on to college, and can't go on to

         13  support themselves in the future.

         14                 Ten years ago there were very few job

         15  alternatives for those who couldn't read.

         16  Unfortunately, even then they involve phrases like

         17  regular or unleaded, paper or plastic, and do you

         18  want fries with that? Today we pump our own gas.

         19  We've all seen the self-checkout counters in the

         20  supermarkets, and McDonald's stock is falling every

         21  day.

         22                 Don't get me wrong, when I go into

         23  McDonalds, I want someone to be behind the counter,

         24  I just don't want it to be one of my children.

         25  Reading really is the cornerstone of any future
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          2  success, and those who can read well know that.

          3  Those who can't read well, know it even better. And,

          4  yet, parents are protesting this issue? One really

          5  has to look beneath the surface and wonder why.

          6                 Are they worried about breaking up

          7  friendships, as one child is promoted while another

          8  is not?

          9                 Children move and change schools

         10  every day, it's just not important enough to

         11  handicap your child for.

         12                 The only other reason I could see is

         13  their own egos. If you're a parent and you're

         14  embarrassed that your child is being held behind,

         15  put a positive spin on it. Tell people that Jonny is

         16  in an enhanced learning program, or that Maria has

         17  been chosen to participate in an enriched reading

         18  environment.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I'm sorry. If

         20  you could wrap up because you're over the two

         21  minutes.

         22                 MS. KAVANAH: You know what? I've got

         23  about one more minute.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay.

         25                 MS. KAVANAH: Do whatever you have to
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          2  do to pacify your own ego, don't deny your child a

          3  chance at a successful future because of what you

          4  think others might say.

          5                 I believe that if our Chancellor

          6  stood up and said he was going to promote every

          7  child, whether they could read or not, then we'd

          8  have a reason to be angry. Then he would be failing,

          9  more than anyone else, the 70 percent of blacks and

         10  Hispanics in our system. But it seems to me that his

         11  program is the best thing to come to our school

         12  system in years. We need to do this for our children

         13  now so they can support themselves later. Our

         14  children are our future, we need to help them.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you.

         16                 MS. KAVANAH: Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Mr. Dixson.

         18                 MR. DIXSON: Yes, Julius Dixson. I

         19  have a daughter, she attends PS 363. It's also known

         20  as the Neighborhood School in the Lower East Side.

         21  Our school system is a governmental agency. I think

         22  people fail to -- they are looking at the school

         23  system as some other entity that's not governmental,

         24  and principals and superintendents are its

         25  officials. Our governing article that governs the
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          2  New York school system is Article 52-A of the

          3  Education Law. I just wanted to bring out a point

          4  about Section 8 of the Chancellor's Regulations

          5  A-501. It already provides for due process before

          6  that right of a child opportunity to be in the

          7  higher grade. It provides a right, at that point

          8  before that right is taken away from the child, and

          9  it does involve principal, teacher and parent. It

         10  needs to be worded better, because there's some

         11  ambiguity there, but the appeal process that the

         12  Chancellor is suggesting would only be furthering

         13  the due process procedure that comes natural in

         14  government.

         15                 Now, my daughter, she passed her

         16  third grade exams, both, she had attained 90 percent

         17  plus attendance, even went to summer school, passed,

         18  she still got retained.

         19                 So the real issue here is not -- you

         20  know, social promotion, what that, that's kind of

         21  like a layman's term, but social retention and

         22  social promotion is basically the same thing,

         23  basically unequal protection of the law, and

         24  principals and superintendents have been allowed to

         25  just wiggle, you know, the way the regulations are
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          2  set up now, they can sort of wiggle their way a

          3  little bit, and be abusive with their authority.

          4                 So, a child like my daughter who

          5  passed, almost got threes, the Mayor is only asking

          6  the children to get like an E. So, if you go for old

          7  school people, the grading system A, B, C, D, E, F,

          8  E just right above failure, he's just asking them

          9  bring them to an E, a little above an F, and people

         10  are fussing and complaining. And my daughter almost

         11  got like Bs, but still got retained. So, there's

         12  something wrong here. And as I speak, the Chancellor

         13  and I were in court. I sued basically the Board of

         14  Ed, and certain superintendents and so forth and

         15  basically what he's saying in court now is that what

         16  my daughter did wasn't enough, but now he's

         17  presenting to the public to say, well, that's all

         18  you have to do, is just pass the test. So, it's not

         19  his hypocrisy that I'm really advocating for, but

         20  it's the Mayor's wisdom. The Mayor, I believe, has

         21  investigated this thing and found out that there are

         22  high percentages of children in different schools

         23  failing the Citywide exams. They are coming to

         24  school late, or whatever, and he's saying that there

         25  is unequal protection here, there's abuse in our
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          2  school system. That's the real problem. You could

          3  sugarcoat it with other language, but basically it's

          4  the school system is not being run on equal terms,

          5  and that's contrary to our constitution and even

          6  education laws.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you.

          8  Council Member Jackson.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you,

         10  Madam Chair. And I know that it's -- Mabel, let me

         11  just say this to you, and I was a member of

         12  Community School Board 6, in which you went to

         13  school, and if you go and look at your elementary

         14  school diploma and your junior high school diploma,

         15  my signature appears there, which basically states I

         16  certify that you have met the requirements of

         17  graduation, and obviously you did not. So, I

         18  apologize to you, as the system has failed you, and

         19  I think that the Chancellor has indicated the system

         20  is failing the majority of our children.

         21                 So, I say that to you personally,

         22  because if we're going to give a certification that

         23  you've met the requirements, you should be able to

         24  meet the requirements.

         25                 MS. JEREZ: I just think I can't
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          2  believe I was always promoted because of my age. I

          3  mean, it's not my fault that I was born in June 7,

          4  1979, you know, but that was also one thing, and of

          5  course my reading and --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And I think

          7  you were here when I basically asked a question, it

          8  appears as though as a system we're not testing our

          9  children early enough to determine whether or not

         10  they had a situation that we must address.

         11                 MS. JEREZ: Exactly.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And I raise

         13  the issue of dyslexia.

         14                 MS. JEREZ: I just found out that I

         15  was diagnosed with dyslexia last summer, and that's

         16  because I was influenced by an episode of the Cosby

         17  show when Theo came out, and I said, well, oh my

         18  God, I have the same thing. So, that's why I pushed

         19  myself to go get tested, and consequently enough,

         20  I've got the results and I definitely have it, but

         21  it's not as critical, because I continue my

         22  education. I don't know what a vacation is, because

         23  I've been all year long schooling, that's 'cause I

         24  choose to since the first grade. Like I said, I'm

         25  graduating from undergrad for law, and law school is
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          2  around the corner.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I'm curious,

          4  Mr. Dixson, you said that your daughter reached a

          5  certain level, and it appears as though she was

          6  above the level one or two but she was retained. Was

          7  she retained because she did not achieve high enough

          8  in the reading exam?

          9                 MR. DIXSON: She almost got threes on

         10  both her exams.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: So there were

         12  other reasons besides the reading exam why she was

         13  retained?

         14                 MR. DIXSON: Well, obviously, you

         15  know, this is a case where the principal, you know,

         16  it's a matter of, you know, retaliation, against my

         17  --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And that's I

         19  guess part of the lawsuit that you brought?

         20                 MR. DIXSON: Right. But I think that

         21  that happens, you know, throughout the City. I mean,

         22  this is a problem that is sort of like not brought

         23  out.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay. I was

         25  just curious because, you know, when we're
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          2  discussing this reading as a one exam to retain

          3  children, you threw me a curve ball, I was fuzzy,

          4  that I thought it was concerning her reading exam.

          5                 MR. DIXSON: She got almost threes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Right.

          7                 MR. DIXSON: And the proficiency

          8  levels all require you to get twos.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

         10                 And you know, young lady, you know it

         11  appears that you're on your way to success, and I

         12  think that you hit it right on the head, if you had

         13  a hammer and a nail you hit it right in the middle.

         14  You said that intervention early on, when kids are

         15  entering the school system, to determine where they

         16  are and what, you know, intervention services they

         17  need in order to bring them up, I think everyone

         18  agrees with that, and hopefully if that happens and

         19  the children reach the third grade, it shouldn't be

         20  a problem. Hopefully.

         21                 ROSIE KAVANAH: Well, thank you. I've

         22  been reading for as long as I can remember. I'm a

         23  book worm, and I can see how important it is.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Yes.

         25                 ROSIE KAVANAH: I can see how great an
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          2  effect it would have if I hadn't started reading as

          3  early as I did. Thanks to my wonderful mom.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Well, I want

          5  to thank all of you for coming in and giving

          6  testimony. As I said, you know, personally I have to

          7  vote on this and I wanted to hear from some people

          8  that were in favor of it, to hear what your logic

          9  and reasoning were. I disagree with you, though,

         10  that you say that -- I think that the people that

         11  gave testimony here today was based on not rhetoric

         12  but based on facts and research-based information,

         13  which for me are facts and not just rhetoric.

         14                 MS. KAVANAH: I appreciate that, but

         15  what we have to remember is a lot of people quoted

         16  the very same quotes from the very same studies and

         17  the very same statistics, and those statistics don't

         18  occur in a vacuum. And it's very possible that if 50

         19  percent of the students who repeated the grade did

         20  not succeed the following year, maybe there were

         21  other factors at work there, it doesn't mean that

         22  keeping them back caused them to fail. It only means

         23  that maybe we need to look deeper at how the study

         24  was done and what the statistics actually showed.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay, I
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          2  appreciate that.

          3                 Thank you very much.

          4                 MR. DIXSON: Can I submit sort of like

          5  a written testimony with solutions that I think --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Yes. I would

          7  encourage everyone who did not get an opportunity to

          8  testify, or those who did and have more to say on

          9  this topic, if you get to my office the testimony we

         10  will read it and we will distribute it to the rest

         11  of the Committee.

         12                 MR. DIXSON: How would that be sent?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: You can talk

         14  to my staff member afterwards.

         15                 We're going to bring this meeting to

         16  a conclusion. We've been here for approximately six

         17  hours straight. It's been a long evening, both for

         18  the Sergeant-At-Arms and Committee members. I want

         19  to express particularly my appreciation to Council

         20  Member Jackson and Council Member Lopez who are very

         21  passionate about these issues and were very diligent

         22  in sitting through this entire hearing.

         23                 Thank you very much. And, again, I

         24  would encourage anyone who didn't get a chance to

         25  testify to submit their testimony in writing.
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          2                 We're calling this Committee to a

          3  conclusion. Thank you.

          4                 (Hearing concluded at 9:00 p.m.)
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          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 3rd day of March 2004.
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